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1 Openingg Andd Prayer

Almighty God we humbly request that you bestow your blessings upon this Council, 
direct and prosper our deliberations to the advancement of your glory and to the 
betterment of the peoples of Cardinia Shire. Amen.

2 Acknowledgements

Cardinia Shire Council acknowledges that we are on the traditional land of the 
Bunurong and Wurundjeri people and pay our respects to their elders past, present 
and emerging.

3 Apologies

4 Ordinaryy Business

4.1 Financiall Reports

4.1.1 Adoption Of Budget 2023/24

4.1.1 Adoption of Budget 2023/24

Responsiblee GM: Debbie Tyson
Author: Scott Moore

Recommendation(s)
That Council, having completed the community engagement process in respect of the Budget 
2023/24 consistent with Council's Engagement Policy, including the review and consideration 
of community feedback and submissions at Councillor budget workshop on Monday 5 June 
2023, resolves as follows:

1. The Budget annexed to this resolution be adopted for the purposes of sections 91, 93 and 
94 of the Local Government Act 2020 and section 161 of the Local Government Act 
1989.

2. The declaration and levy of rates and charges for the 2023/24 financial year, contained 
within the Budget annexed to this resolution, be adopted for the purposes of section 94 of 
the Local Government Act 2020 and sections 157-158 and 161-163 of the Local 
Government Act 1989.

3. The Budget Fees & Charges Schedule be amended to include a cost for Annual Parking 
passes for Emerald Lake Park, as follows

Free for Cardinia Shire residents
$40 for non-Cardinia Shire residents.

Attachments
1. Budget 2023-24 [44.1.1.1 - 82 pages]
2. Budget 2023-24 Engagement Submissions Summary [44.1.1.2 - 3 pages]
3. Budget 2023-24 Engagement Creating Cardinia Report [44.1.1.3 - 22 pages]
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Executive Summary
To consider adoption of the Budget and declaration and levy of rates and charges for the 
2023/24 financial year contained within.

Background
The Proposed Budget 2023/24 has been developed through a comprehensive process of 
review and analysis, including six Councillor workshops and three Councillor briefings and 
consideration of community feedback received during the Creating Cardinia engagement 
process. 

It focuses on meeting the adopted Council Plan 2021-25 commitments by funding the delivery 
of the community’s service and infrastructure priorities and expectations in an efficient, 
effective and financially responsible way within the constraints of limited revenue sources and 
the rate cap.

The budget engagement process included Council community feedback and submissions on 
the draft budget received via the Creating Cardinia platform and by email over the period from 
5 May to 21 May 2023.

The budget was developed within a proposed 3.50% rate increase for 2023/24 (1.75% in 
2022/23) consistent with the Average Rate Cap determined by the Minister for Local 
Government in December 2022. This rate increase is well below current and projected 
inflation, service contract cost increases, staff enterprise agreement commitments and supply 
chain cost increases. The rate cap places sustained pressure on Council’s adjusted underlying 
result, which will be supported by accumulated surplus and cash reserves generated from 
positive financial performance by Council over the last several years, together with proposed 
new loan borrowings to assist council funding of a continuing extensive capital works program. 

The proposed budget for 2023/24 includes a total comprehensive surplus of $100.18 million, 
before adjusting for capital and other abnormal items.  After these adjustments, the adjusted 
underlying result is a deficit of $9.76 million, which is $3.78 million higher than the 2022/23 
forecast underlying deficit of $5.98 million. 

An average unit cost increase of 6.7% for the residential garbage service charge and 3.3% for 
the green waste service are proposed to subsidise increased waste and garbage contract 
costs of approximately 7.6% for 2023/24, together with a Victorian government landfill levy 
increase of approximately $3.37 per tonne (to $129.27). 

Council plans to supplement its cash flow with new loan borrowings of $30.0 million in 
2023/24 to fund a significant and progressive capital works program totalling $113.79 
million, including carry overs and excluding operating initiatives.

The ongoing challenge for Council is that approximately 79.4% of its adjusted underlying 
revenue is received via rates and charges, with the balance primarily consisting of government 
grants, fees and charges, and contributions from developers.  While Council has worked to 
reduce costs, the ability to continue to generate efficiencies and savings without impacting 
services, service levels and capital programs into the future will be challenging. The budget 
provides for a significant capital program to continue to support the local economy and job 
creation.

Value for money, capacity to pay and service accessibility remain guiding principles in this 
budget to keep rates and charges as affordable as possible, while delivering a wide range of 
valued services to our community within the State Government’s rate cap.
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The proposed budget is based on key principles, including: 
1. Achieving long term financial sustainability, while delivering on Council's strategic 

objectives as specified in the Council Plan.
2. Maintain key services at existing levels.
3. Effectively manage the Asset Renewal Gap.
4. Continue to manage serviceable debt.
5. Maintain cash reserves above minimum statutory levels.

As one of Victoria’s fastest growing municipalities, Cardinia Shire’s population is expected to 
grow approximately 40.75% from the 2023 population forecast of 129,896 to an estimated 
182,833 in 2041.  The number of dwellings in Cardinia Shire is forecast to grow by 
approximately 46.47% from 45,632 in 2023 to 66,837 in 2041. This growth reflects the 
unique qualities of the municipality and confidence in its future. It does, however, continue to 
place services, infrastructure, and resources under significant pressure particularly in a 
constrained rate cap environment.

The Proposed Budget 2023/24 will enable Council to continue to meet the challenges 
associated with this rapidly expanding population. A Capital Works program of $113.79 million 
for 2023/24 has been prepared to ensure residents across the shire have access to an 
expanding range of new recreational and leisure facilities and renewed and upgraded 
infrastructure. A detailed listing of these projects over four years is contained in Appendix A.

Highlights of the Capital Works program for 2022/24 are:
Princes Highway Intersections (Tivendale/Bayview) $17.9m
Sealing the Hills $16.3m
Connect Cardinia Stage 2 Road Sealing Program $10.0m
Land acquisitions $7.0m
Integrated Children's Facility (Brunt Road) $7.0m
Koo Wee Rup Bowls and Community Facility $5.4m
Integrated Children's Facility (Thewlis/Cardinia Road) $4.0m
Garfield Netball Pavilion Upgrades $3.6m
Officer District Masterplan - Civil Works $3.5m
Cardinia Youth Facility $2.5m
Upper Beaconsfield Recreation Reserve $1.4m
Pakenham Tennis Club Relocation (Club Room Renovation) $1.0m.

As Council continues to increase asset delivery across the shire, it is also increasing its focus 
to renew and upgrade existing assets, with $69.20 million committed to asset renewal and 
upgrades in 2023/24, including roads, bridges, footpaths, drains, buildings and plant. 
Council’s Asset Management plans assist to identify renewal requirements and to make 
informed investment in various asset classes to maintain their optimum condition.

The Proposed Budget 2023/24 has been designed to reflect Council’s commitment to make 
Cardinia Shire the best possible place to live, work and raise a family.

Policy Implications
Nil.

Relevance to Council Plan
Responsiblee leaders

5.2 Manage our finances responsibly and leave a positive legacy for future generations.
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Climate Emergency Consideration
Nil.

Consultation/Communication
The Proposed Budget was prepared in consultation with the Senior Leadership Team and all 
business unit managers.  Managers prepared operating and capital budgets based on service 
and capital works program needs, the prior year's Budget Plan and the adopted Financial Plan 
2021-31.  Financial implications of known changes were also taken into consideration. 

The draft budget was available for public feedback and all submissions were noted and 
presented with officer recommendations at a Councillor budget workshop in June. Any changes 
resolved from the workshop have been reflected in the budget document and figures updated. 

Financial and Resource Implications
The Budget outlines the financial resources available to Council for continuous operation and 
delivery of the Council Plan.

During the budget feedback process, Council received and considered a total of 103 
responses via the Creating Cardinia platform and 6 submissions via emails. The Budget 
document includes the following Councillor resolved amendments resulting from the budget 
engagement process:

Cora Lynn Reserve – Pavilion Design/Construct: Project has been brought forward from 
years 3 and 4 (2025-27) to years 2 and 3 (2024-2026). With modular construction to now 
be managed by Council, rather than local clubs, an additional $408,611 is allocated to 
cover these costs within the project.

McGregor Road Duplication Project: Project has been moved from year 2 (2024/25) to 
years 3 and 4 (2025-27).

Funding for a “Choose Tap” fountain at The Garfield Rec Reserve oval has been prioritised 
within current budget allocations.   

Council officers will organise members of the Parks Services Team and Citywide to inspect 
the Bunyip Oval and provide maintenance recommendations to the Recreation Reserve 
Committee, including providing a recommended annual maintenance schedule.

Council must prepare and adopt a budget for the forthcoming financial year and subsequent 
three years to fund the range of required services and programs for the community. Any 
subsequent material change that Council considers will be subject to community engagement 
as required by the communication and engagement policy and would require a revision to be 
made to the Budget 2023/24 document.

Conclusion
Working within the framework provided by the adopted Financial Plan 2021-31, this Budget 
outlines how resources will be allocated to deliver the initiatives, programs, services and 
capital works to the community as framed by the Council Plan for the 2023-27 period. It also 
outlines the associated arrangements for financing and servicing financial debt.

The budget has been influenced by the consultation process and is based on sound financial 
principles, prudent debt management, responsible asset management and ratepayer equity, 
value and affordability principles. 
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Having complied with the Local Government Act (LGA) provisions (LGA 1989 sections 157-158 
and 161-163; LGA 2020 sections 91, 93 and 94) and having considered the community 
engagement submissions received, Council is able to formally resolve on the Budget 2023/24 
and declaration and levy of rates and charges for the 2023/24 financial year contained 
therein.



Cardinia Shire Council 
Proposed Financial Plan for the period         

2021/22 to 2030/31
Annual Budget 
2023/24

June  2023

Cardinia Shire Council

Budget 2021-25
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Key initiatives and projects included in the budget include:

• Continue delivery of the federally funded ‘Sealing the Dandenong Ranges and Surrounds'
   road construction program and Princes Highway Intersection upgrades.

• Long-term strategic management of our water-sensitive urban design assets in accordance
   with Council’s strategic vision to cater for the community’s desired levels of service.  

• Coordinate health and wellbeing initiatives across the Shire in line with the priorities set in
   Cardinia Shire’s Liveability Plan 2017-29 .

• Implement the Road Development Program to seal strategic collector roads.

• Implement the Aspirational Energy Transition Plan including energy-saving retrofits and solar
   power for Council buildings.

• Implement the BioLinks Plan for future investment in conservation management works that
   protect threatened species (both flora and fauna) in a changing climate.

• Assist businesses and investors to create jobs by activating employment land, advocate for an
   airport in the South East region, and assist existing businesses to grow.

Mayor and CEO introduction

We are proud to present the Annual Cardinia Shire Council Budget for 2023/24, the third budget of this 
Council's 4-year term, and one that aligns with Cardinia’s Council Plan 2021–25  and Community Vision  to 
deliver on our community’s needs. The budget has been developed with a keen awareness and appreciation 
of the current cost of living pressures being experienced by our community. For this reason, Council has not 
applied to the Essential Services Commission (ESC) for a variation to the 3.50% rate cap.

To enable Cardinia Shire Council to continue to provide the community with quality services and 
infrastructure, we need to make some critical financial management decisions now that will safeguard our 
financial sustainability in the years to come. This involves managing the financial challenges facing our 
delivery of our community services and programs, and prioritising many competing capital infrastructure 
projects.

This budget focuses on operating efficiently and effectively in a financially responsible way. It meets 
community needs and delivers on the commitments in the adopted Council Plan 2021–25 .

Community feedback received in the Creating Cardinia budget engagement phase 1 process in 
November/December 2022 indicated a preference for greater spending on: constructing/maintaining roads, 
drains, bridges and footpaths; sports, recreation, parks and reserves; and new/upgraded building and 
facilities. There was also a preference for lower spending on arts and culture, environments and climate 
change, and multicultural and community support.

Council plans to commit $284.87 million in capital infrastructure (excluding operating initiatives) over the 
next 4 years, with a $113.79 million capital program (including $29.29 million carry-over from 2022/23) in the 
2023/24 financial year. Of the total capital works program for 2022/23, $69.20 million is dedicated for 
renewal and upgrade of our $2.3 billion worth of community assets. New loan borrowings of $30.0 million 
has been proposed in the budget in 2023/24 to assist in funding this significant capital investment.

Page 1 of 80
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Mayor and CEO introduction

This current budget cycle has involved discussions amongst the council staff, senior leadership team and 
councillors to build an informed budget. Consistent with Cardinia Shire Council's engagement principles to 
provide our community with the opportunity to influence the budget outcome, council engaged with the 
community at the beginning of this current budget cycle in November/December 2022 to re-affirm budget 
priorities from the previous cycle. 

Feedback from this engagement was incorporated in the draft budget and was available for public 
consultation from 5–21 May 2023. Community feedback and submissions received from this consultation 
process were considered by council in June and incorporated in the final budget where applicable.

Like all councils in Victoria, Cardinia Shire Council is facing significant financial sustainability challenges 
from rising cost pressures, highly restrictive rate capping and disappointing cost-shifting from other levels of 
government, along with increasing pressure and demand on our services and infrastructure from a growing 
population

Rate revenue is council’s largest source of funding, which is used to maintain and upgrade local roads, 
buildings, footpaths, cycle trails, parks, playgrounds, libraries and sporting facilities. This revenue also 
provides a broad range of council services, including waste management, maternal and child health, and 
youth services. Rate increases have been capped at 3.50% in line with the Victorian Government’s Fair Go 
Rates System.

We must address the fact that the costs of providing community services are increasing at a higher rate than 
the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and the Victorian Government’s rate cap, forcing us to further draw on our 
reserves and challenging our ability to provide these services.

The 2023/24 budget seeks to balance the redressing of financial challenges, prioritising existing services 
and infrastructure, and delivering a range of projects to help achieve our community’s vision. This will take 
time, and require difficult decision making and compromise. Nevertheless, council is taking several 
measures to address financial challenges and achieve financial sustainability, to ensure resources are 
evenly distributed between the current and future community. 

We are prioritising the continued provision of quality community services and programs and renewals and 
upgrades to existing assets and infrastructure over new investments.

This feedback was carefully considered and accommodated where possible. Spending on roads continues 
to be at a record high level with our road sealing programs which includes expenditure on drains and 
footpaths where appropriate. Capital investment in sporting facilities continues to be strong despite the 
affordability of these projects being a challenge. 

There is lower spending on the multicultural and community support service area in 2023/24. Arts and 
culture related expenditure in 2023/24 is budgeted to increase due to non-controllable
and non-discretionary labour and materials cost directly impacted by inflationary cost pressures. 

Operating expenditure on environment has been reduced marginally by spreading the work out over a longer 
time period. However, the exception is capital expenditure on environment and climate change, where 
expenditure is needing to be increased due to compliance, health and safety requirements and urgent land 
stabilisation works.

Page 2 of 80
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Mayor and CEO introduction

Carol Jeffs
Chief Executive Officer 

Council is committed to serving the community's best interests and recognises that focused effort is 
necessary for us to remain financially sustainable in the long term.

Preparation of a long-term financial sustainability strategy and plan will soon begin, together with a business 
transformation initiative to improve how council interacts and services the community more effectively and 
efficiently.

A healthy, long-term financial position will ensure council can consistently deliver services and infrastructure 
to current and future residents, address significant issues as they arise, and meet the community’s emerging 
needs.

Mayor

Council has worked hard to develop a budget that provides value and affordability in meeting the 
community’s service priorities and expectations, and delivering on the infrastructure the community has 
indicated you need. We have done this by working within the constraints of limited revenue sources and the 
rate cap. 

We look forward to forward to discussing the budget with the community and hearing your feedback.

Cr. Tammy Radford

Council has taken a balanced approach in this budget to provide quality, cost-effective and accessible 
services to our community, while delivering an important and significant forward-thinking capital works 
program to support the jobs, economy and needs of our fast-growing shire now and in the future.

Value for money, capacity to pay and service accessibility remain guiding principles in this budget to keep 
rates and charges as affordable as possible, while delivering a wide range of valued services to our 
community within the State Government’s rate cap. 

Our focus remains on the delivery of essential services our community has told us it needs and expects. 
These include roads, rubbish and recycling, maternal and children’s services, library services, planning and 
engineering services, sporting ovals, street-sweeping, and community supports from school crossings to 
senior citizens centres. 

The budget details the financial and non-financial resources required to continue to deliver these services 
over the next 4 years within the rate cap. It also includes details of the proposed capital expenditure 
allocations to provide improved and renewed infrastructure, buildings, reserves, leisure spaces, footpaths, 
roads and drains. 

As an interface council, our growth requires continued heavy reliance on external grant and contributions 
funding to support servicing the community's needs, and advocacy to attract more services, infrastructure 
and investment into our community. Importantly, council’s commitment to sealing unsealed roads, and the 
improved maintenance of unsealed roads, will continue throughout this budget period. There is also 
increased focus on council's renewal of existing assets informed by our Asset Management Plans.

Page 3 of 80
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Executive Summary

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000

Total Income 221,360 263,663
Total Expenditure 150,683 163,486
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 70,677 100,177
Adjusted underlying surplus/(deficit) (5,982) (9,756)
Total Cash Balance - including Term Deposits 147,879 161,758

Capital Works Program 64,878 113,789
Funding the Capital Works Programs:

Grants 20,060 47,663
Contributions 11,517 0
Council cash 33,301 17,919
Borrowings 0 30,000

$'000 %
1.  We empower our communities to be healthy, connected and resilient. 51,230 31.33%
2.  We support the creation of liveable spaces and places. 23,112 14.14%
3.  We value our natural assets and support our biodiversity to thrive. 25,089 15.35%
4.  We support our productive land and employment land to grow local industries. 1,146 0.70%
5.  We are responsible leaders. 62,909 38.48%

Overall, operating expenditure budgeted for 2023/24 has increased by 8.5% from the 2022/23 forecast actual.  This includes an 
increase in employee costs of 10.5% ($5.2m) and materials and services expense of 9.5% ($6.1m).

Over the coming years we will continue our work to ensure our financial sustainability in a rate capped environment. Key statistical 
information is provided below comparing 2022/23 Forecast Actual to 2023/24 Budget.

Budgeted expenditure by strategic objective
2023-24
Budget

Council has prepared a Budget that aligns with Cardinia's Council Plan 2021-25  and Community Vision  to deliver on what our 
community needs while managing significant ongoing financial challenges and prioritising long term financial sustainability. It seeks 
to maintain services and improve infrastructure that are valued by our community all within the confines of the Victorian 
Government's rate cap.

The Budget is guided by the Financial Management Principles in the Local Government Act 2020 , which require monitoring and 
management of financial risks, including those that arise from broader economic circumstances. The Act also requires Council to 
ensure that both ongoing financial viability and the provision of services for future generations is important when considering financial 
matters.

Council is deeply committed to serving the best interests of the community and recognises that consistent effort will be required to 
ensure that we remain financially sustainable and make the most effective use of community funds.

Council's financial sustainability and ability to provide for our community in the future has been identified as a key strategic risk for 
Cardinia Shire. Under the Act, Council has a responsibility to take action to limit the impacts of known future financial risks wherever 
possible. In addition, we have limited unrestricted cash and reserves as a result of an extensive capital works program, trust funds 
and deposits, and interest on borrowings. An immature rates base, heavy reliance on external capital funding, and increasing 
community service demands of a growing population means limited funds available to pay for roads, footpaths, parks and 
recreational facilities other open space assets and to repay newly proposed borrowings.

Page 4 of 80
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Executive Summary
1. Rates and Charges

2. Financial Position

Total revenue from all rates and charges for 2023/24 is proposed to increase by $7.20m or 6.5% over 2022/23 to $118.48m, which 
incorporates an average general rate increase of 3.50% in 2023/24, projected to decrease to 2.25% by 2026/27.

The financial position is expected to improve with net assets (net worth) to increase by $100.18m to $2.39b during 2023/24. Working 
capital is an indicator of council's ability to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due (being current assets

a decline of $16.12m during 2022/23 and an improvement projected during the period of the budget.

less current liabilities). Represented on the graph above, there appears there will be a $2.51m increase in working capital during 
2022/23. However, this is due to the inclusion of the $29.29m in cash forecast to be held at the end of 2022/23 to complete capital 
works that will be carried forward into the 2023/24 year. If adjusted for this timing difference, working capital would show

This increase will fund continued delivery of ongoing services to the community, including essential services such as roads, rubbish 
and recycling, maternal and children’s services, library services, planning and engineering services, economic development, local 
artists, sporting ovals, parks management, infrastructure asset management, street-sweeping and community supports including 
school crossings and senior citizens centres.  

The 3.50% average general rate increase is in line with the Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) that caps rates increases by Victorian 
councils. Council has not elected to apply to the Essential Services Commission (ESC) for a variation. The rate cap increase for the 
2022/23 year was 1.75%.

Refer to Section 4.1.1 for further Rates and Charges details.

It is important to note, the actual rate increases experienced by individual ratepayers may differ from the 3.50% increase due to 
revaluations. Rate increases are impacted by the average rate increase (3.50%) and the property valuation increases (or decreases) 
of individual properties relative to the average across the municipality. If your property increased in value by more than the average 
for the Shire, your rates will increase by more than 3.50%. If your property value increased by less than the average, your rates will 
increase by less than 3.50% and may in fact reduce from the previous year.

This includes 2023/24 Budget general rates revenue of $94.92m ($5.33m or 6.0% increase), supplementary rates revenue of $1.30m 
($200k or 0.1% decrease), cultural and recreational rates revenue of $73k ($12k or 14.1% decrease). It also includes cost recovery-
based waste management service charge revenue of $21.78m, being a $2.22m, or 11.3%, increase from an average service rate 
increase per rateable property of $26.00pa ($0.50 per week) or 5.7%pa.
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Executive Summary
3. Operating Result

4. Services

Generating sufficient levels of surpluses is critical to fund our capital works and other programs in the future. There is a risk that 
current and future surpluses may not generate sufficient cash flows to fund capital work programs and repay debt.

•  Employee costs $5.2m
•  Materials and services $6.1m.

The expected operating result for the 2023/24 year is a surplus of $100.2m, which is an increase of $29.5m from 2022/23. This is 
mainly due to increase in the following:

•  Rates and charges $7.2m
•  Grants - capital $27.6m
•  Development levies - monetary and Contributions - non-monetary $5.7m

The chart below shows how much is allocated to each broad service area for every $100 that Council spends.

The net cost of services delivered to the community in the 2023/24 year is expected to be $12.37m, which shows an increase of 
$3.82m over the forecast cost for 2022/23.

Council will continue to work with the community over the coming years to align community
priorities and expectations with Council’s service delivery model. This needs to be set within a financially sustainable framework. 
Further detail in relation to the cost of Council’s services can be found in section 2 of this document.
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Executive Summary
5. Financial Sustainability

Adjusted Underlying Result

•  Review and prioritise our capital works program to determine the optimal capital investment that is affordable; and
•  Determine any surplus assets that can be decommissioned or rationalised.
•  Identify business improvement and transformation opportunities.

The budget has been prepared for the four year period ending 30 June 2027. It is set within the long-term financial plan, which 
assists Council to adopt a budget within a longer term financial framework. The key objective of the Financial Plan is to maintain 
financial sustainability in the medium to long term, while still achieving the Council’s strategic objectives.

The adjusted underlying result is the surplus/deficit for the year adjusted for capital grants and contributions. This is a measure of 
financial sustainability, and it shows some improvement over the term of the Budget however, is significantly below the Victorian 
Auditor-General's (VAGO) preferred target.

The adjusted underlying deficit is projected to peak in 2024/25 and begin reducing thereafter. The above projection highlights the 
highly restrictive nature of the rate cap and the adverse impact of it continually being set below CPI and well below service contract 
terms. Cost shifting from other levels of government contributes to continued losses, thereby increasing Council's reliance on it cash 
reserves, external funding and increased debt to maintain services and invest in capital works. While a deficit remains, Council will 
wholly rely on external capital grants, capital contributions and developer levies revenue to fund the significant capital works program.

Council needs to continue to work with the community to ensure we are efficient in managing costs, and:
•  Review and prioritise the services that we provide in the context of a growing population;

As Council continues to improve community facilities, the $4.06m works on crown land assets in 2023/24 contribute significantly to 
Council's adjusted underlying deficit. In response to the ongoing growth in service demand and infrastructure development, an 
increase in staffing is also provided in the budget in 2023/24.

The budgeted adjusted underlying result for the 2023/24 year is a deficit of $9.76m, which is $3.77m higher than the 2022/23 forecast 
deficit. The deficit is mainly a result of Council's response to the growing community needs, supporting council infrastructure and 
supporting local communities.

•  Determine the level of service that can be afforded and advocate to other levels of government to supplement the cost of
   delivery;
•  Determine which assets are required to undertake the prioritised services;
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Executive Summary

Cash and investments

6.  Capital Works

Cash and investments are expected to increase by $13.88m during the year to $161.76m as at 30 June 2024. It is important to note 
the forecast cash balance at 30 June 2023 includes $29.29m held for completion of capital works carried forward into 2023/24 and 
unspent grants of $6.00m.

Council has limited unrestricted cash and cash levels have been subsidised by borrowings. Unrestricted cash is defined as cash not 
tied to a statutory reserve, specific purpose grants or allocated to capital works expenditure carried forward from the previous year.

Council must maintain a minimum of approximately $75.83m to $106.82m in cash and investments to meet restricted liabilities such 
as Developer Contributions, trusts funds, capital carried forward from previous year, unspent grants and the like.

Increasing the levels of unrestricted cash is critical to ensure long-term financial sustainability if Council is to continue to deliver the 
services and programs expected by the community. It is also important that community assets are maintained so that the cost does 
not become a burden for future ratepayers and for council to remain financially viable.

Council must also maintain a reasonable amount of cash and investments to meet the requirements of Council business and ensure 
timely payment of all liabilities. Council also hold funds for employee provisions and reserves to ensure all reserves can be accessed 
at any time to fund the purpose of the reserve. The open space reserve is an example of funds received from developers set aside 
for future investment in open spaces within the shire.

The budgeted capital works program for 2023/24 totals $113.79m (2023-27, $284.87m), including $29.29m carryover from 2023/24, 
compared to $64.88m forecast for 2022/23. The program is funded by Council cash of $17.92m (2023-27, $102.13m),
grants and contributions of $47.66m (2023-27, $96.24m) and $18.21m (2023-27, $55.00m) respectively, and $30.00m of borrowings 
(2023-27, $31.50m).

Over the budget period, Council is investing heavily in improving the services we provide. Approximately 69% will be towards asset 
renewal and upgrade and 31% to expansion to cater for our growing population.  

Another critical measure of financial sustainability is the level of unrestricted cash. The higher the level of unrestricted cash the more 
funding available to pay for roads, footpaths, parks and other open space assets and to repay borrowings.
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Executive Summary

The budget supports Council's ongoing commitment to provide the community with key infrastructure and facilities, with some of the 
key projects for 2023/24 as follows:

• Princes Highway Intersections (Tivendale/Bayview) - $17.9m
• Sealing the Hills - $16.3m
• Connect Cardinia Stage 2 Road Sealing Program - $10.0m
• Land acquisitions - $7.0m
• Integrated Children's Facility (Brunt Road) - $7.0m
• Koo Wee Rup Bowls and Community Facility - $5.4m
• Integrated Children's Facility (Thewlis/Cardinia Road) - $4.0m
• Officer District Masterplan - Civil Works $3.5m
• Garfield Netball Pavilion Upgrades - $3.6m
• Cardinia Youth Facility - $2.5m
• Upper Beaconsfield Recreation Reserve - $1.4m
• Pakenham Tennis Club Relocation (Club Room Renovation) - $1.0m.

As Council continues to increase asset delivery across the shire, it is also increasing its focus to renew and upgrade existing assets, 
with some of the main programs for 2023/24 listed below. Council has recently developed Asset Management plans to identify its 
renewal requirements and make informed investment in various asset classes to maintain their optimum condition:

Included in the budget for 2023/24 is $79.6m for infrastructure works (recreation, leisure and community facilities, roads, drains, 
footpaths and parks, open space and streetscapes), $30.4m for property (land and buildings) and $3.8m for plant and equipment.

The Statement of Capital Works can be found in Section 3, with further details in Section 4.5 Capital Works Program 2023/24  and in 
Section 4.6 Summary of Planned Capital Works 2024-27.  

A detailed project listing of the budgeted projects for 2023-27 appears in Appendix A.

• Roads resurfacing, resheeting and road pavement renewals - $7.7m
• Garfield North Cannibal Creek Reserve Building upgrade - $2.2m
• Recreation reserve resurfacing and lighting upgrades - $1.6m
• Pakenham Main Street Revitalisation - $1.4m
• Worrell Reserve Masterplan Implementation (Skate Park) - $1.3m
• Buildings Renewal Program - $1.1m
• Bridges Renewal Program - $1.0m
• Pathway renewal, resheeting, expansion - $1.3m
• Water Sensitive Urban Design assets Renewal Program - $0.5m.

The following graph indicates the capital expenditure (including carry-overs from 2022/23) by asset classification for 2023/24.
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Executive Summary
7.  Borrowing

8.  Budget Influences

External Influences

Councils have limited sources of revenue to deliver on community needs with funding derived from: (a) Rates and charges; 
(b) Grants and contributions; (c) User fees and charges; and (d) Statutory fees and fines.
Rates are the most significant revenue source for Council and make up approximately 64 per cent of annual recurrent operating  
income. The ability for Council to levy rates is controlled by the Government’s ‘Fair Go Rating System’ which provides that the 
Minister for Local Government will set an annual cap above which rates cannot be increased without the permission of the 
Essential Services Commission.

Since its inception, the ‘Fair Go Rates System’ has challenged all Victorian councils long-term financial sustainability and it 
continues to restrict local governments ability to raise revenue to maintain service delivery levels and invest in community assets.

The financial sustainability of Cardinia Shire continues to be challenged by increasing community demand for services, population 
growth and rising costs associated with maintenance and renewal of ageing infrastructure.

Although Council commits to serving the best interests of the community and is driven to provide community value whilst remaining 
financially sustainable, the following influences during the 2023-27 Budget period will significantly adversely impact Council's 
operating result, cashflow and financial position. This will require a drawing down on accumulated cash reserves built up over many 
years and an increase in loan borrowings to fund a continuing extensive capital works program.

• Rate Capping:  The Victorian State Government continues to apply a cap on rate increases. The cap for 2023/24 has been 
   set at 3.5%, which is far below the 7.8%pa CPI for December 2022 and 7.0%pa for March 2023, and is in disregard of the
   Essential Services Commission recommendation to match the rate cap to the CPI. The overall financial impact of the lower
   rate environment has led Council to review it services and capital works program and to source alternative funding. 

   Neither the 3.5% rate cap or CPI for 2023/24 accurately reflect increases in costs faced by local councils, including
   Cardinia, because they have a significantly different composition of expenditure compared to households. Key council
   expenditures (wages, construction, utilities, etc.) required to provide council services and deliver infrastructure projects have
   been increasing faster than the CPI. It is inadequate to meet inflationary pressures on service delivery and capital works
   costs, service contract cost increases, staff enterprise agreement commitments and material, and labour supply chain
   disruption induced cost increases.

The balance of Council's existing loan borrowings drawn for a range of capital works projects over the period 2007-14 are forecast to 
be $16.1m by 30 June 2023 and expected to be settled by the end of 2029/30.

Council usually considers loan funding as a final option when sources of funds are required. While it is not always an optimum 
solution, because of the interest costs involved, it does have benefits. It matches the consumption of the asset with the future 
generations of the community using the asset.

In order to be able to meet the significant infrastructure needs of a growing shire, Council now needs to increase its level of 
borrowings by $30.0m in 2023/24 over a 15-year term to fund a number of capital works projects. These include most notably the 
Road Sealing Program (Connect Cardinia), Brunt Rd road works, Recreation Reserve lighting and power upgrade, Cardinia Youth 
Facility Building, Garfield Netball pavilion upgrade, and Koo Wee Rup Bowls & Community Facility.

• Population growth of approximately 4% pa will continue to place significant stress on Council's resources.
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Executive Summary

• Public infrastructure maintenance:  Councils across Australia raise approximately 3% of the total taxation collected by
   all levels of Government in Australia.  In addition, councils are entrusted with the maintenance of more than 30% of all
   Australian public assets including roads, bridges, parks, footpaths and public buildings.  This means that a large proportion of
  Council's income must be allocated to the maintenance and replacement of these valuable public assets in order to ensure
  the quality of public infrastructure is maintained at satisfactory levels.

• Enterprise Agreement (EA) – Council successfully negotiated the 2021 enterprise agreement (EA). The impacts of the EA
   have been included in current and future budgets

• New Superannuation Guarantee: The compulsory Superannuation Guarantee increases to 11% from 1 July 2023,
   further increasing to 12% by 1 July 2025.

• Supplementary Rates:  Supplementary rates are additional rates received after the budget is adopted each year, for the
   part of the year when a property value increases in value (e.g. due to improvements made or change in land class), or new
   residents become assessable. Importantly, supplementary rates recognises that new residents require services on the day
   they move into the shire and Council is committed to providing these. Supplementary rates income is based on
   historical and forecast data and is set at anticipated levels. Supplementary rates income become part of the general rates in
   the following year.

• Development Contributions:  The rate of growth, flow and timing of development contributions income depends on land
   sales and the desire of developers to construct new developments within the municipality. There is great uncertainty in both
   value and cashflow timing between Cardinia's receipt of development contributions income and associated capital
   infrastructure investment by Council.

• Capital Grant Funding – Council is heavily reliant on capital grants, for which opportunities arise continually and council is
   proactive in seeking grant support for its projects and services. An estimate for unconfirmed grants is included in the budget.

• Cost pressures due to shortage of supply: Significant shortages in the supply of materials and labour caused by the 
   Victorian Government's Big Build Program and the war in the Ukraine. This is resulting in contract costs escalating above
   initial capital investment estimates, particularly for capital projects. This is increasing project risk exposure and forcing
   council to reassess project scopes, delivery timeframes and funding sources. These challenges are ongoing and will require
   council to manage effectively to avoid compromising delivery costs and timeframes.

'• Natural Disasters:  The timing and impact of these events are unknown and unfortunately the regularity is increasing as a
    result of climate change.  Whilst Council undertakes significant prevention and recovery measures, these events have a
    significant impact on the Shire's community, businesses and economy and Council's human and financial resources.  
    The most recent of these events were the severe storm damages in October 2021 and 2022 storm and flood events. Council
    continues to invest in Climate strategy projects and has an increased focus for generations to come.

• Cost Shifting:  This occurs where Local Government provides a service to the community on behalf of the State or Federal
   Government.  Over time the funds received by local governments do not increase in line with real cost increases.  Examples
   include library services, maternal & child health services, planning and building services, where the level of funding received
   by Council from the State Government increasingly does not reflect the real cost of providing the service to the community.
   Consequently, Council needs to find additional fund sources for these services than ever before. Council continues to play a
   significant role in developing and maintaining crown land reserves for the benefit and enjoyment of the community and
   consequently has exposure to infrastructure owned by and is the responsibility of other State authorities.

• Financial Assistance Grants – The largest source of government operating funding to Council is through the annual Victorian
   Local Government Grants Commission allocation. The overall state allocation is determined by the Federal Financial
   Assistance Grant.
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Executive Summary

Internal Influences

9.  Rounding
Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the budget have been entered in whole dollars and cents then rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars. Total figures in the financial statements and accompanying notes and schedules reflect the true budgeted amount and may
differ slightly when rounded figures are manually added due to rounding.

- New Local Government Act 2020  requirement for Asset Management Planning, resulting in more accurate but increased
  costs for asset maintenance and renewal expenditure.
- Increased costs driven by Council's risk associated with Community Asset Committees and the management of reserve
  surrounds.
- The value of developer contributed assets and completed capital works, together with an increase in the value of existing
  assets, are significantly increasing depreciation and maintenance expenditure.

As well as external influences, there are internal influences expected to impact the 2023-27 Budget.  These include:
- Continued demands on Council resources for the renewal of existing assets; 

• Waste disposal costs:  The Environment Protection Agency (EPA) regulation has a sustained impact on Council with
   regards to compliance with existing and past landfills sites. Waste disposal costs are also impacted by industry changes
   such as levies and negotiation of contracts (eg: recycling sorting and acceptance).
   
  The financial cost of waste and recycling services has risen dramatically. The State Government’s circular economy plan, 
  "Recycling Victoria: A New Economy", includes positive measures to reduce waste and stimulate the local recycling industry
  but this comes at a cost. In accordance with the Plan, Council must provide a standardised kerbside service which includes a
  fourth bin for food and garden organic (FOGO) by 2030.

  The rising costs to provide existing and mandated waste services to the community are also due to several factors, including:
  (a) Market volatility due to limited players in processing and remanufacturing as well as end markets for the recycle product;
  (b) yearly % increase of logistic contracts due to increased fuel and supply chain costs;
  (c) increased landfill levy (90% over the last 3 years); and
  (d) any increase in service levels, additional services and/or innovation in embedding circular principles.

  These costs are recovered through the garbage charge to rate payers as listed in Section 5.
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1.1.1  Legislative planning and accountability framework

1.1.2  Key planning considerations

1. Link to the Council Plan

This section describes how the Budget links to the achievement of the Community Vision and Council Plan
within an overall integrated planning and reporting framework. This framework guides the Council in
identifying community needs and aspirations over the long term (Community Vision and Financial Plan),
medium term (Council Plan, Workforce Plan, and Revenue and Rating Plan) and short term (Budget) and
then holding itself accountable (Annual Report).

The Budget is a rolling four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that Council
requires to achieve the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan. The diagram below depicts the
integrated planning and reporting framework that applies to local government in Victoria. At each stage of
the integrated planning and reporting framework there are opportunities for community and stakeholder
input. This is important to ensure transparency and accountability to both residents and ratepayers. 

Source: Department of Jobs, Precinct and Regions

Service level planning
Although councils have a legal obligation to provide some services - such as animal management, local
roads, food safety and statutory planning - most council services are not legally mandated, including some
services closely associated with councils, such as libraries, building permits and sporting facilities.
Further, over time, the needs and expectations of communities can change. 

Therefore councils need to have robust processes for service planning and review to ensure all services
continue to provide value for money and are in line with community expectations. In doing so, councils
should engage with communities to determine how to prioritise resources and balance service provision
against other responsibilities such as asset maintenance and capital works.  
Community consultation needs to be in line with a council's adopted Community Engagement Policy.
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1. Link to the Council Plan

1.2  Our purpose
0

4.  We support our productive land 
and employment land to grow 
local industries.

Our rich supply of productive land, employment land, distance to
markets, and education opportunities enhance Cardinia Shire as south
east Melbourne's jobs capital. We work closely with farmers,
businesses and industry to enhance our shire as a place to invest in the
long-term, attract new industries, innovations, skill development and
local job creation.

5.  We are responsible leaders. We practise good governance, meet recognised standards of
excellence and ensure future generations benefit from our decisions.
We make informed and responsive decisions that balance our current
and future community's needs.

1.  We empower our communities 
to be healthy, connected and 
resilient.

We work together to support everyone to be healthy, active and
connected. Individuals feel included, safe and are valued for who they
are. We have zero tolerance for all forms of discrimination. Our
community services and facilities meet the diverse needs of our
communities.

2.  We support the creation of 
liveable spaces and places.

Cardinia Shire is a great place to live, work and play. How we plan and
grow creates places that enhance our community's health and
wellbeing and protects what we love.

3.  We value our natural assets 
and support our biodiversity to 
thrive.

We place a high value on our natural assets and biodiversity. We take
action to help our natural assets and biodiversity thrive and build their
resilience to climate change and natural hazards. We enhance green
spaces and habitat links, support our communities to live sustainably,
and champion sustainable development and waste management
practices.

Strategic Objective Description

Our Values
Underpinning Council's Human Resources Strategy, our values framework considers how staff work as 
individuals, across the organisation, and with the local community.

The framework also supports Council's vision with the five key values:
   Teamwork
   Respect
   Accountability
   Communication
   Customer focus

Each of these values includes four key behaviours to demonstrate and call to account the way staff behave 
each day at work.

1.3  Strategic Objectives

The Council delivers activities and initiatives under 67 major service area categories. Each contributes to
the achievement of the Council's Vision as set out in the Council Plan. Council has identified five Strategic
Objective Areas for 2021-25, which are an integral part of achieving the Council Plan. The Annual Budget
converts these activities and initiatives into financial terms to ensure that there are sufficient resources for
their achievement.  The following table lists the Strategic Objectives as described in the Council Plan.

Our Vision
The unique identity of our urban, hills and rural areas is strengthened. We meet the challenges we face
together as a community. How we respond balances the needs of our people, businesses, our productive
land and natural environments.
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 2020-21  2021-22  2022-23 
Actual Forecast  Budget 
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 241 598 600
Expenses 1,173 1,641 1,810

Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(932) (1,043) (1,210)

2. Services and service performance indicators
This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the 2023-24 year and
how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the Council Plan. It also describes several
initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key areas of Council’s operations. Council is required by
legislation to identify initiatives and service performance outcome indicators in the Budget and report against them in
their Annual Report to support transparency and accountability. The relationship between these accountability
requirements in the Council Plan, the Budget and the Annual Report is shown below.

Source: Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions

Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the budget have been entered in whole dollars and cents then rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars. Total figures in the financial statements and accompanying notes and schedules reflect the 
true budgeted amount and may differ slightly when rounded figures are manually added due to rounding.

2.1  Strategic Objective 1: We empower our communities to be healthy, connected and 
resilient.

We work together to support everyone to be healthy, active and connected. Individuals feel included, safe and are
valued for who they are. We have zero tolerance for all forms of discrimination. Our community services and facilities
meet the diverse needs of our communities.

Arts and Creative 
Industries

Provide the Cardinia community with a high
quality venue for community, civic, cultural,
social, business, and entertainment events and
services. Attract regional use of the venue and
its services and experiences. Contribute to the
cultural development of the Shire.  

Services

Services Service Objective
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2. Services and service performance indicators
Income 694 813 736
Expenses 1,763 2,351 2,767
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,069) (1,538) (2,031)

Income 256 170 140
Expenses 1,369 1,654 1,534

Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,113) (1,484) (1,394)

Income 2,077 2,287 2,510
Expenses 3,544 3,781 4,369
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,467) (1,494) (1,859)

Income 125 127 86
Expenses 1,067 1,103 1,147
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(942) (976) (1,061)

Income 476 525 470
Expenses 1,196 1,271 1,235
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(720) (746) (765)

Connected 
Communities

Provide opportunities for residents to
meaningfully participate in decision making
processes that affect their community, support
individuals and communities through the
provision of resources and fostering of
partnerships between individuals and within
communities, and assist with the development
of strong and resilient communities that have
the ability to identify and meet the communities’
needs, achieve self-reliance, contribute to
solutions and support their own advocacy
efforts.

Compliance 
Services

Compliance Services was formed with the
bringing together of the following areas: Local
Laws, Health, and Planning Enforcement.
Services provide to the community include
animal management, enforcement of Local
Laws, management of school crossing,
immunisation for adults and children through
public sessions and school programs,
investigation of complaints about situations
which can affect the health and wellbeing of the
public and work with food premises business
owners providing advice on food safety.

Community 
Infrastructure and 
Service Planning

Provide support and resources for children's
services in the municipality and advocate on
their behalf, support the inclusion of children
with additional needs and culturally and
linguistically diverse backgrounds in
mainstream children's services, assist with the
future planning of children's services in
Cardinia, and advocate for the provision of
infrastructure with government departments. To
implement externally funded projects, including
Best Start.

Family and 
Community 
Services 
Management

To provide leadership and community
partnerships that create, sustain and enhance
connected, inclusive and engaged communities
that value diversity and healthy lifestyles. To
manage and support community services
business unit in the effective and efficient
delivery of programs across the municipality. To
provide evidenced based best practice in
community services delivery in Cardinia.

Health To minimise environmental problems within the
community and as far as practicable to ensure
food safety within the community.
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2. Services and service performance indicators
Income 31 87 81
Expenses 216 312 316
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(185) (225) (235)

Income 0 732 0
Expenses 2,428 3,644 2,409
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(2,428) (2,912) (2,409)

Income 2,476 2,514 2,663
Expenses 3,754 4,432 4,717
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,278) (1,918) (2,054)

Income 530 131 128
Expenses 1,745 1,638 1,650
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,215) (1,507) (1,522)

Income 111 126 105
Expenses 997 1,059 1,158

Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(886) (933) (1,053)

1

2

3
4

5
6

7

Implement and monitor the Safer Communities Strategy.

Maternal and Child 
Health

Promote healthy outcomes for children from
birth to school age and their families, by
providing a comprehensive and focused
approach to managing physical, emotional and-
or social factors affecting them in their
community.

Library

Infectious Diseases 
Control

To increase the community's immunity to
preventable infectious diseases and to increase
the rate of immunisation against vaccine
preventable diseases.

Community Safety 
and Inclusion

To work in collaboration with relevant agencies
to continuously improve the Municipal
Emergency Management Plan. To facilitate
planning to ensure Cardinia Shire Council
remains at the forefront of Emergency
Management. Develop Council's capacity and
capability to undertake its mandated
Emergency Management roles and
responsibilities.

Initiatives

Develop the next phase of the Together We Can initiative, with an increased focus on gender equality and financial 
literacy.

Council's Library program services the
Pakenham and Emerald Libraries, and provides
for a mobile library service to other townships
within the Shire.

Youth Services Provide quality services, events and programs
for young people and their families. Seek the
opinions of Cardinia's young people in relation
to personal and community issues and
aspirations. Encourage community leadership
and volunteer initiatives that strengthen youth
support networks and individuals.

Review and update the Safer Communities Strategy to incorporate Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design 
(CPTED).

Support the delivery of an annual calendar of events and programs that celebrate our diverse community, its arts and 
culture.
Implement the endorsed Liveability Plan Action Agenda 2021-25.
Continue to drive the Services for Success initiative to attract health and social services including mental health 
services.
Advocate for funding to construct a multicultural centre in Cardinia Shire.
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2. Services and service performance indicators

Participation

Participation

Participation

Health and 
safety

Health and 
safety

 2020-21  2021-22  2022-23 
Actual Forecast  Budget 
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 320 343 375
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(320) (343) (375)

Maternal and Child 
Health

Participation in the 
MCH service.  
(Percentage of 
children enrolled who 
participate in the MCH 
service)

2.2  Strategic Objective 2: We support the creation of liveable spaces and places.

Participation in the 
MCH service by 
Aboriginal children.  
(Percentage of 
Aboriginal children 
enrolled who 
participate in the MCH 
service)

[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the MCH service 
at least once (in the financial year) / Number of Aboriginal 
children enrolled in the MCH service] x100

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Libraries Library membership  
(Percentage of the 
population that are 
registered library 

 members)

[Number of registered library members / Population] x100

Maternal and Child 
Health

Animal 
Management

[Number of children who attend the MCH service at least 
once (in the financial year) / Number of children enrolled in 
the MCH service] x100

Animal management 
prosecutions.  
(Percentage of animal 
management 
prosecutions which are 
successful)

Number of successful animal management prosecutions / 
Total number of animal management prosecutions

Food safety Critical and major non-
compliance outcome 
notifications.  
(Percentage of critical 
and major non-
compliance outcome 
notifications that are 
followed up by 
Council)

[Number of critical non-compliance outcome notifications and 
major non-compliance outcome notifications about a food 
premises followed up / Number of critical non-compliance 
outcome notifications and major non-compliance outcome 
notifications about food premises] x100

Provide co-ordinated and strategic leadership to 
the Active Communities business unit, including
co-ordination of strategy development in each
area of operation, and ensure effective
management and operation of the business
unit.

Active Communities 
Management

Cardinia Shire is a great place to live, work and play. How we plan and grow creates places that enhance our
community's health and wellbeing and protects what we love.

Service area

Services

Service Objective
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2. Services and service performance indicators
Income 474 44 36
Expenses 1,916 2,000 1,829
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,442) (1,956) (1,793)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 1,060 983 1,063
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,060) (983) (1,063)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 192 298 552
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(192) (298) (552)

Income 195 100 135
Expenses 5,360 5,375 5,840
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(5,165) (5,275) (5,705)

Income 5,330 3,516 0
Expenses 13,318 4,342 6,712
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(7,988) (826) (6,712)

Income 479 692 586
Expenses 2,996 2,838 3,356
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(2,517) (2,146) (2,770)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 106 134 142
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(106) (134) (142)

Income 436 109 110
Expenses 1,503 1,301 1,363
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,067) (1,192) (1,253)

Income 1,332 1,757 2,235
Expenses 1,865 1,861 2,660
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(533) (104) (425)

Building 
Management

To administer and enforce building legislation
within the Shire.

Expenditure on projects which is recorded as
an expense in Council's financial statements,
and not recorded as an asset.

Community 
Recreation

Maximise opportunities for local residents to
participate in recreation by ensuring people with
special needs are included in the planning and
delivery of community recreation facilities and
services, supporting reserve committees of
management in managing and improving
facilities, supporting sport-recreation clubs to
provide-improve recreational opportunities, and
promote healthy lifestyles and participation in
sport and recreation activities.

To ensure that council's strategic and corporate
objectives in relation to assets and
infrastructure are effectively implemented.

Bridges To maintain the bridge network in order to
provide the safe travel of vehicles and
pedestrians. To enable the preservation of the
network at an acceptable standard.

Aquatic and 
Recreation Facilities

Develop and maintain high quality aquatic and
dry recreation venues to encourage high level
of participation at all facilities, and work in
partnership with service providers to ensure the
provision of high quality, well managed facilities
and services.

Capital Works, 
Community Capital 
Works Grants and 
Priority Works

Asset Management

Community 
Infrastructure

To effectively manage council's community
infrastructure, as well as open space and traffic
related technical services.

Community 
Infrastructure 
Delivery 
Management

To effectively manage the areas of major roads
projects and community infrastructure.

Development To ensure that council's strategic and corporate
objectives in relation to assets and
infrastructure are effectively implemented.
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2. Services and service performance indicators
Income 684 539 571
Expenses 983 999 1,116
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(299) (460) (545)

Income 162 483 2,287
Expenses 0 0 0
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

162 483 2,287

Income 9 0 0
Expenses 2,156 2,579 2,739
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(2,147) (2,579) (2,739)

Income 133 169 171
Expenses 127 111 180
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

6 58 (9)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 158 162 183
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(158) (162) (183)

Income 139 135 135
Expenses (1,110) (1,245) (6,865)
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

1,249 1,380 7,000

Income 49 1 1
Expenses 759 705 646
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(710) (704) (645)

Income 120 7 0
Expenses 641 2,013 2,074
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(521) (2,006) (2,074)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 156 237 476
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(156) (237) (476)

Income 239 572 369
Expenses 219 1,478 879
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

20 (906) (510)

Development 
Services

To administer and enforce the aims and
objectives of the Cardinia Planning Scheme. 

Drainage 
Maintenance

To maintain the drainage infrastructure in order
to protect both the road asset and private
property and ensure a safe road network in all
weather conditions.

Prepare and implement Precinct Structure
Plans, Infrastructure Contributions Plans and
Urban Design Frameworks.  

Growth Area 
Planning and 
Subdivisions

Fleet and Workshop Maintain a plant fleet in an efficient manner,
whilst minimising Council's costs, to deliver the
standards agreed to by Council. NB - this is an
internally generated revenue. Throughout each
program's expenses, is the offsetting fleet
expenditure.

Emerald Lake Park Support the value of the park to the community
of Cardinia and Victoria by effectively managing
the park's commercial and recreational visitor
services, coordinating the park's marketing and
promotion, increasing park usage, optimising
park revenues, and attracting funding for park
improvements.

Infrastructure 
Services 
Management

To ensure that council's strategic and corporate
objectives in relation to assets and
infrastructure are effectively implemented.

Major Roads 
Projects

Deliver major roads capital projects, including
Sealing the Hills project.

Footpaths and 
Street Furniture - 
Operations

To maintain the street furniture, footpaths and
shared path network while ensuring safety and
accessibility to residents and visitors. 

Emerald Lake Park - 
Maintenance and 
Operations

To provide a safe, enjoyable environment for
users of the park, while improving facilities and
service levels and reducing ratepayer subsidy.

Developer 
Contribution Plans

To record the operating income and
expenditure of Developer Contribution Plans
(DCPs), which is primarily interest earned on
investments.
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2. Services and service performance indicators
Income 1,890 0 0
Expenses 3,552 1,972 1,579
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,662) (1,972) (1,579)

Income 131 0 0
Expenses 9,060 10,615 12,054
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(8,929) (10,615) (12,054)

Income 5 10 11
Expenses 441 592 648
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(436) (582) (637)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 354 243 206
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(354) (243) (206)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 414 459 593
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(414) (459) (593)

Income 298 261 261
Expenses 84 167 170
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

214 94 91

Income 1 2 0
Expenses 1,288 1,399 1,493
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,287) (1,397) (1,493)

Income 1,572 1,710 1,790
Expenses 1,463 2,768 3,070
Surplus / 109 (1,058) (1,280)

Income 11 43 26
Expenses 1,826 1,335 1,628
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,815) (1,292) (1,602)

Income 2,288 2,565 2,674
Expenses 3,220 4,212 4,469
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(932) (1,647) (1,795)

Parks Planning Development of strategic direction and
activation of Council's passive reserves and
open spaces.

Recreation Planning Provide assets and infrastructure that improve
the quality of life and are sustainable, and
ensure young people of the Shire are provided
with access to a range of support services, and
social, cultural, and recreational opportunities.
Provide access to affordable housing for the
aged and disabled.

To maintain the sealed road network in order to
provide safe travel for vehicles and pedestrians
and to enable the preservation of the network at 
an acceptable standard.

Statutory Planning To assess planning permit applications against
the Cardinia Planning Scheme to maintain and
facilitate orderly development consistent with
both local and state policies.

Strategic Planning

Rental Properties

Operations 
Management

To efficiently and effectively manage Cardinia
Council's operational activities whilst ensuring
compliance with the road management act and
other relevant legislation.

Sealed Roads

Develop and maintain a sound planning policy
framework to provide for the sustainable
development of the natural and built
environment in the Shire.

Unsealed Roads To maintain the unsealed road network in order
to provide safe travel of vehicles - pedestrians
and to enable the preservation of the network at 
an acceptable standard.

Parks and Gardens 
Operations

Plan for (and provide advice) to Council on long-
term community outcomes and the various land
use planning, policy, advocacy, funding and
partnerships that may be required to deliver
those outcomes as they relate to Council’s
priority precincts.

Maintain Council's parks, wet lands, garden
beds, street and road-side trees and
playgrounds to an aesthetically pleasing and
safe standard to enable maximum utilisation by
the community.

Future Communities
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2. Services and service performance indicators

8

9

10

11
12
13

14
15
16

17
18
19
20
21

Indicator
Utilisation

Service 
standard

Condition

Aquatic Facilities Utilisation of aquatic 
facilities.  (Number of 
visits to aquatic 
facilities per head of 
population)

Number of visits to aquatic facilities / Population

Statutory planning Planning applications 
decided within 
required timeframes 
(percentage of regular 
and VicSmart planning 
application decisions 
made within legislated 

 timeframes)

[Number of planning application decisions made within 60 
days for regular permits and 10 days for VicSmart permits / 
Number of planning application decisions made] x100

Develop a municipal-wide community infrastructure plan, and include relevant projects in the 10-year capital program.

Progress Pakenham town centre streetscape upgrades.
Commence Pakenham town centre streetscape upgrades.

Advocate to the State and Federal Governments for increased investment for all transport modes, including road 
safety treatments.

Develop and upgrade shared pathways and walking tracks across the shire.

Service Performance Computation

Plan and deliver accessible and inclusive recreation and community facilities.

Initiatives

Advocate for increased public transport services, frequency and multi-modal connectivity within the shire and greater 
south east region.
Plan and deliver infrastructure upgrades to our road network to meet the needs of the current and future population.

Complete Pakenham town centre streetscape upgrades.

Design Pakenham town centre streetscape upgrades.
Review and update Council's Road Safety Plan.

Develop a feasibility plan for the Cardinia Life facility with a range of future options for aquatics and indoor sports.
Develop an Open Space Strategy and Recreation/Sports Plan for Cardinia.

Roads Sealed local roads 
below the intervention 
level (percentage of 
sealed local roads that 
are below the renewal 
intervention level set 
by Council and not 
requiring renewal)

[Number of kilometres of sealed local roads below the 
renewal intervention level set by Council / Kilometres of 

 sealed local roads] x100

Work with the Victorian Government and relevant stakeholders to encourage sustainable supply of social and 
affordable housing across the shire.

Service Performance Outcome Indicators
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2. Services and service performance indicators

 2020-21  2021-22  2022-23 
Actual Forecast  Budget 
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 352 405 545
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(352) (405) (545)

Income 62 25 47
Expenses 314 259 265
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(252) (234) (218)

Income 33 246 106
Expenses 471 526 748
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(438) (280) (642)

Income 59 0 0
Expenses 983 1,104 1,408
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(924) (1,104) (1,408)

Income 14,124 15,886 17,707
Expenses 14,842 16,003 18,000
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(718) (117) (293)

Income 3,347 3,674 4,375
Expenses 3,048 3,266 3,813
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

299 408 562

Income 41 30 30
Expenses 375 284 310
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(334) (254) (280)

Cleansing To ensure that parks, reserves and roads are
maintained free of litter and to maintain public
conveniences in a hygienic condition.

Services Service Objective

2.3  Strategic Objective 3: We value our natural assets and support our biodiversity to 
thrive.

We place a high value on our natural assets and biodiversity. We take action to help our natural assets and biodiversity
thrive and build their resilience to climate change and natural hazards. We enhance green spaces and habitat links,
support our communities to live sustainably, and champion sustainable development and waste management practices.

Services

Domestic Waste 
Water

To ensure the efficient and effective collection,
removal and disposal of waste within the
Municipality. To provide services that
encourage diversion of waste from landfill and
resource recovery.

To ensure that domestic water is disposed of in
accordance with the State Environment
Protection Policy, Environment Protection Act
and Cardinia Council policy.

General Garbage 
Charge

Weed Management To manage current weed populations in an
effective manner across the Shire's open space
and road reserve network, with a long term aim
to reach eradication.

To deliver efficient and cost effective waste
disposal to the community.

Green Waste

Facilitate the on-going maintenance of natural
and cultural resources in the Shire.

Environment 
Management

To facilitate sound environmental management
of natural and cultural resources within the
Cardinia shire. To lead Council and the
community towards an environmentally
sustainable future.

Environment 
Maintenance and 
Programs
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2. Services and service performance indicators

22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29

Indicator

Waste 
diversion

 2020-21  2021-22  2022-23 
Actual Forecast  Budget 
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 431 0 0
Expenses 1,155 1,014 1,146
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(724) (1,014) (1,146)

Service Objective

Initiatives

Implement initiatives in the Biodiversity Conservation Strategy.

Waste management Kerbside collection 
waste diverted from 
landfill.  (Percentage 
of garbage, 
recyclables and green 
organics collected 
from kerbside bins that 
is diverted from 
landfill)

[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected from 
kerbside bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables and green 
organics collected from kerbside bins] x100

Computation

Implement initiatives in the Integrated Water Management Plan.

Develop an Environmentally Sustainable Design Policy.
Incorporate the Environmentally Sustainable Design Policy into the planning scheme.
Provide the community with tools to assist in the management of natural threats and emergencies.

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Develop the next five-year action plan for the Waste and Resource Recovery Strategy.
Implement the five-year action plan for the Waste and Resource Recovery Strategy.
Implement initiatives in the Aspirational Energy Strategy.

Our rich supply of productive land, employment land, distance to markets, and education opportunities enhance Cardinia
Shire as south east Melbourne's jobs capital. We work closely with farmers, businesses and industry to enhance our
shire as a place to invest in the long-term, attract new industries, innovations, skill development and local job creation.

Services

Services

2.4  Strategic Objective 4: We support our productive land and employment land to 
grow local industries.

Economic 
Development

Increase local employment opportunity,
economic prosperity, and community amenity
through encouragement and support for
sustainable business development and
sustainable new investment.

Service Performance 
Measure
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2. Services and service performance indicators

30
31
32
33

34
35
36
37
38
39

 2020-21  2021-22  2022-23 
Actual Forecast  Budget 
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 554 523 589
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(554) (523) (589)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 1,436 1,593 1,841

Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,436) (1,593) (1,841)

Income 88,826 91,961 97,255
Expenses 29,541 32,311 35,473
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

59,285 59,650 61,782

Income 2 0 0
Expenses 1,954 2,231 3,460
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,952) (2,231) (3,460)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 1,134 1,312 1,389
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,134) (1,312) (1,389)

Develop and deliver initiatives within the Economic Development Strategy, including the visitor economy and tourism.

Facilitate investment in our townships to support businesses and vibrant communities.
Advocate for the growth of local education opportunities that improve skills and employment pathways.
Implement the Cardinia Community Food Strategy and Action Plan.
Develop a Business Innovation Strategy.

Initiatives

Advocate for a South East Melbourne Airport.

Actively protect key heritage sites within the shire.

Advocate for the development of green wedge management plans.

Corporate 
Management

Provide leadership and direction to Council staff
to ensure Council's vision and Council plans
and decisions are achieved.  

Customer Service Provide customer service that is responsive to
residents and is solution focused.

Chief Executive 
Officer

Capture all income and expenditure specifically
relating to the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Assistant.

Communications

Develop an Investment Attraction Plan for Cardinia Shire employment precincts.

Implement the Business Innovation Strategy.

Facilitate effective communication between
Cardinia Council, the community and other
stakeholders.

Corporate 
Financials and 
Rates and Revenue 
Services

2.5  Strategic Objective 5: We practise responsible leadership.

We practise good governance, meet recognised standards of excellence and ensure future generations benefit from our
decisions. We are accountable and make informed and responsive decisions that balance our current and future
community's needs.

Services

Services Service Objective

Manage the financial aspects of asset sales
and also depreciation, being the value of wear
and tear of Council's non-currents assets over
their useful life. Manage Cardinia's rateable
properties and provide a responsive, solution
focused service to rate queries.
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2. Services and service performance indicators
Income 1,028 185 55
Expenses 2,380 197 55
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,352) (12) 0

Income 13,305 12,213 12,592
Expenses 4,079 5,157 4,988
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

9,226 7,056 7,604

Income 111 1 21
Expenses 696 896 1,081
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(585) (895) (1,060)

Income 10 0 0
Expenses 1,845 2,367 3,349
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,835) (2,367) (3,349)

Income 1 0 0
Expenses 4,681 5,745 6,095
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(4,680) (5,745) (6,095)

Income 1 5 0
Expenses 1,001 1,097 1,132
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(1,000) (1,092) (1,132)

Income 16 15 13
Expenses 2,049 2,231 2,641
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(2,033) (2,216) (2,628)

Income 0 0 0
Expenses 640 739 816
Surplus / 
(Deficit)

(640) (739) (816)

Risk, Health and 
Safety

Information 
Services

Provide the technological support to Council
business units to improve their efficiency in
delivery of Council services. Ensure Council's
permanent and temporary corporate
information is properly classified and stored to
enable ease of access by staff, and to minimise
Council's risk in the event of any litigation or
fire.

Mayor and 
Councillors

Effectively resource the operations of the
elected Council, including an allocation for the
cost of Council elections every four years.

Finance 
Management and 
Purchasing

Ensure balanced budget outcomes and prudent
management of debt and asset management,
for a sustainable financial environment
recognising inter-generational responsibility.
Ensure councils procurement is managed in a
sustainable manner to achieve the best
outcome for Cardinia Shire.

Performance & 
Improvement and 
Customer & Service 
Improvement

Provide consistent integrated business planning
processes ensuring actions align to the key
directions of Council, monitor the effectiveness
of these plans and associated service delivery
through corporate performance and business
activity monitoring, and build a culture of
innovation through a continued focus on
analysis, improvement and change
implementation.

Minimise Council's exposure to risk and ensure
Council staff have received the appropriate
training and are operating in a safe workplace.

Governance & 
Property and 
Property & 
Valuation

Promote Council activities in a positive way,
develop policy as required, and monitor
compliance with legislative requirements.
Manage the Council’s property portfolio and to
ensure that the revaluation processes are
conducted efficiently.

HR & Payroll and 
Learning & 
Organisation 
Development

Provide services that are responsive to
organisational needs, ensure legislative
compliance, and support the development of a
competent, flexible, and focused workforce
committed to our shared values.

Emergency Events 
and Pandemic 
Response & 
Emergency 
Management

Capture all income and expenditure relating to
Emergency Events (floods, bushfires) and the
COVID-19 pandemic.
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2. Services and service performance indicators

40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47

Indicator

Consultation 
and 
engagement

Net (Cost) Expenditure  Revenue 
Revenue

$’000 $’000 $’000

(39,832) 51,230 11,398
(15,593) 23,112 7,519
(2,824) 25,089 22,265

(1,146) 1,146 0

47,026 62,909 109,935
(12,369) 163,486 151,117

2,613
(9,756)

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Service Performance 
Measure Computation

Governance Satisfaction with 
Council decisions.  
(Community 
satisfaction rating out 
of 100 with how 
Council has performed 
in making decisions in 
the interest of the 
community)

Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with the 
performance of Council in making decisions in the interest of 
the community

Implement the strategy aimed at alternative revenue streams.

Review the 10-year Financial Plan to further drive efficiency and cost control.

Initiatives

Implement the Community Engagement Policy, exceeding legislative requirements for community engagement.
Publicly report on Council decisions made and their implementation to demonstrate transparent decision making.
Develop a long-term financial plan that ensures financial sustainability.

Publicly report the organisation’s performance on a quarterly basis, including customer service outcomes.
Implement the Cardinia Shire Advocacy Plan and work with strategic partners on shared advocacy initiatives.

Develop a strategy aimed at alternative revenue streams.

Total
add back: Recurrent capital grants
Adjusted underlying surplus/(deficit)

2.6 Reconciliation with adjusted underlying result

1.  We empower our communities to be healthy, connected and resilient.
2.  We support the creation of liveable spaces and places.
3.  We value our natural assets and support our biodiversity to thrive.
4.  We support our productive land and employment land to grow local
     industries.
5.  We practise responsible leadership.
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Comprehensive Income Statement
Balance Sheet
Statement of Changes in Equity
Statement of Cash Flows
Statement of Capital Works
Statement of Human Resources

3.1  Comprehensive Income Statement
For the four years ending 30 June 2027

Forecast

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income / Revenue
Rates and charges 4.1.1 111,282 118,484 125,986 134,009 145,341
Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 5,693 6,463 6,626 6,782 6,965
User fees 4.1.3 1,898 2,532 2,596 2,690 2,788
Grants - operating 4.1.4 19,498 18,512 18,155 18,454 19,299
Grants - capital 4.1.4 20,060 47,663 25,965 24,718 24,773
Contributions - monetary 4.1.5 320 209 211 214 217
Capital contributions - monetary 4.1.5 3 3 3 3 3
Development levies - monetary 4.1.5 21,095 25,067 25,164 26,562 26,771
Contributions - non-monetary 4.1.5 38,070 39,812 39,048 40,014 40,408
Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 4.1.6 - - - - -

Other income 4.1.7 3,440 4,918 5,098 5,471 6,333
Total income / revenue 221,360 263,663 248,854 258,917 272,898

Expenses
Employee costs 4.1.8 49,839 55,086 55,884 56,535 57,250
Materials and services 4.1.9 64,698 70,831 74,085 77,513 85,131
Depreciation 4.1.11 30,806 33,350 38,232 39,911 42,249
Amortisation - intangible assets 4.1.12 100 214 224 234 244
Amortisation - right of use assets 4.1.13 60 60 60 60 60
Bad and doubtful debts - allowance for 
impairment losses 4.1.10 159 189 193 198 203

Borrowing costs 4.1.14 1,137 1,064 2,365 2,165 2,036
Finance costs - leases 4.1.14 158 143 127 110 93
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 4.1.6 - - - - -

Share of net loss of associates 1,446 - - - -
Other expenses 4.1.15 1,734 2,00 2,069 2,544 2,642
Total expenses 150,683 163,486 173,785 179,815 190,453

Total comprehensive result 70,677 100,177 75,069 79,102 82,445
less: Capital income & other abnormals (79,228) (112,546) (90,181) (91,297) (91,955)
add back: Recurrent capital grants 2,569 2,613 2,665 2,718 2,773
Adjusted underlying result (5,982) (9,756) (12,447) (9,477) (6,737)

3. Financial Statements
This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human Resources. The budget
information for the year 2023/24 has been supplemented with projections to 2026/27.

This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 and the
Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 .

Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the budget have been entered in whole dollars and cents then rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars. Total figures in the financial statements and accompanying notes and schedules reflect the true budgeted 
amount and may differ slightly when rounded figures are manually added due to rounding.

Budget Projections
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3. Financial Statements

3.2  Balance Sheet
For the four years ending 30 June 2027

Forecast
Actual

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 36,379 50,258 35,734 58,069 87,554
Trade and other receivables 26,778 30,295 31,062 31,857 33,744
Other financial assets 111,500 111,500 111,500 111,500 111,500
Inventories 38 38 38 38 38
Prepayments 1,094 1,094 1,094 1,094 1,094
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 283 283 283 283 283
Other assets 9,023 9,023 9,224 9,224 9,224
Total current assets 4.2.1 185,095 202,491 188,935 212,065 243,437

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 1,904 1,904 1,904 1,904 1,904
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2,222,153 2,341,740 2,408,573 2,455,992 2,509,847
Right of use assets 4.2.4 4,320 3,714 3,109 2,503 1,898
Intangible assets 285 285 285 285 285
Total non-current assets 4.2.1 2,228,662 2,347,643 2,413,871 2,460,684 2,513,934
Total assets 2,413,757 2,550,134 2,602,806 2,672,749 2,757,371

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 51,830 73,848 56,311 50,205 56,609
Trust funds and deposits 11,880 11,880 11,880 11,880 11,880
Unearned income/revenue 13,800 0 0 0 0
Provisions 9,904 10,052 10,196 10,345 10,500
Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 728 2,391 3,964 4,198 3,870
Lease liabilities 4.2.4 286 532 548 548 566
Total current liabilities 4.2.2 88,428 98,703 82,899 77,176 83,425

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 9,657 9,656 9,657 9,657 9,657
Provisions 1,367 1,401 1,436 1,490 1,538
Interest bearing liabilities 4.2.3 15,433 41,379 35,841 32,910 29,367
Lease liabilities 4.2.4 4,509 4,455 3,364 2,805 2,228
Total non-current liabilities 4.2.2 30,966 56,891 50,298 46,862 42,790
Total liabilities 119,394 155,594 133,197 124,038 126,215
Net assets 2,294,363 2,394,540 2,469,609 2,548,711 2,631,156

Equity
Accumulated Surplus 1,280,217 1,374,002 1,439,168 1,498,485 1,567,041
Reserves 1,014,146 1,020,538 1,030,441 1,050,226 1,064,115
Total equity 2,294,363 2,394,540 2,469,609 2,548,711 2,631,156

Budget Projections
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3. Financial Statements

3.3  Statement of Changes in Equity

For the four years ending 30 June 2027

Total Accumulated 
Surplus

Revaluation 
Reserve

Other 
Reserves

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2023 Forecast Actual
Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,223,686 1,221,202 933,964 68,520
Surplus/(deficit) for the year         70,677         70,677                -                  - 
Transfer from reserves                 -           11,707                -   (11,707)
Transfer to reserves                 -   (23,369) 0 23,369
Balance at end of the financial year 2,294,363 1,280,217 933,964 80,182

2024 Budget
Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,294,363 1,280,217 933,964 80,182
Surplus/(deficit) for the year       100,177 100,177                -                  - 
Transfer from reserves 4.3.1                 -   22,668                -   (22,668)
Transfer to reserves 4.3.1                 -   (29,060)                -   29,060
Balance at end of the financial year 4.3.2 2,394,540 1,374,002 933,964 86,574

2025
Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,394,540 1,374,002 933,964 86,574
Surplus/(deficit) for the year         75,069         75,069                -                  - 
Transfer from reserves                 -           19,355                -   (19,355)
Transfer to reserves                 -   (29,258)                -   29,258
Balance at end of the financial year 2,469,609 1,439,168 933,964 96,477

2026
Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,469,609 1,439,168 933,964 96,477
Surplus/(deficit) for the year         79,102         79,102                -                  - 
Transfer from reserves                 -           11,156                -   (11,156)
Transfer to reserves                 -   (30,941)                -   30,941
Balance at end of the financial year 2,548,711 1,498,485 933,964 116,262

2027
Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,548,711 1,498,485 933,964 116,262
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 82,445 82,445                -                  - 
Transfer from reserves                 -   18,028                -   (18,028)
Transfer to reserves                 -   (31,917)                -          31,917 
Balance at end of the financial year 2,631,156 1,567,041 933,964 130,151
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3. Financial Statements

3.4  Statement of Cash Flows

For the four years ending 30 June 2027

Forecast
Actual

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

Cash flows from operating activities
Rates and charges 110,063 116,955 125,604 133,636 143,924
Statutory fees and fines 5,693 6,463 6,626 6,782 6,965
User fees 5,371 543 2,011 2,268 2,318
Grants - operating 19,498 18,512 18,155 18,454 19,299
Grants - capital 6,360 33,863 25,965 24,718 24,773
Contributions - monetary 320 209 211 214 217
Capital contributions - monetary 3 3 3 3 3
Development levies - monetary 21,095 25,067 25,164 26,562 26,771
Interest received 1,883 3,287 3,408 3,718 4,511
Trust funds and deposits taken/repaid 1,414 - - - -
Other receipts 1,557 1,631 1,689 1,753 1,821
Employee costs (49,674) (54,905) (55,705) (56,331) (57,047)
Materials and services (41,438) (51,004) (93,885) (86,361) (81,572)
Net cash provided by operating activities 4.4.1 82,146 100,625 59,248 75,417 91,985

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment (64,878) (113,789) (66,692) (48,000) (56,391)

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 450 450 450 450 450

Net cash used in investing activities 4.4.2 (64,428) (113,339) (66,242) (47,550) (55,941)

Cash flows from financing activities 
Finance costs (1,137) (1,064) (2,365) (2,165) (2,036)
Proceeds from borrowings - 30,000 - 1,500 -
Repayment of borrowings (728) (2,391) (3,964) (4,198) (3,870)
Interest paid - lease liabilities (158) (143) (127) (110) (93)
Repayment of lease liabilities (272) 191 (1,074) (559) (559)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing 
activities 4.4.3 (2,296) 26,593 (7,530) (5,532) (6,559)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash 
equivalents 15,422 13,879 (14,524) 22,335 29,485

Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 20,957 36,379 50,258 35,734 58,069

Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 36,379 50,258 35,734 58,069 87,554

Budget Projections
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3. Financial Statements

3.5  Statement of Capital Works

For the four years ending 30 June 2026

Forecast
Actual

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property
Land 7,773 7,000 6,500 6,500 6,500
Buildings 11,721 23,353 5,568 11,801 9,697
Total Property 19,494 30,353 12,068 18,301 16,197

Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 2,675 2,900 3,039 2,851 2,773
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 124 390 117 119 133
Computers and telecommunications 2,284 531 541 552 563
Total plant and equipment 5,083 3,821 3,698 3,522 3,469

Infrastructure
Roads 26,778 58,958 33,630 16,645 20,309
Bridges 400 1,041 1,041 772 772
Footpaths and cycleways 1,888 1,371 2,144 2,254 2,640
Drainage 500 1,180 1,081 1,107 1,078
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 6,148 13,249 10,763 1,772 9,015
Parks, open space and streetscapes 3,559 3,428 1,876 3,123 2,486
Off street car parks 810 65 137 142 150
Other infrastructure 218 323 254 362 276
Total infrastructure 40,301 79,616 50,927 26,177 36,726
Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 64,878 113,789 66,693 48,000 56,392

Represented by:
New asset expenditure 0 0 0 213 271
Asset renewal expenditure 19,373 23,464 20,895 21,612 21,550
Asset upgrade expenditure 18,736 45,740 21,748 18,856 23,020
Asset expansion expenditure 26,768 44,585 24,051 7,320 11,551
Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 64,878 113,789 66,693 48,000 56,392

Funding sources represented by:
Grants 20,060 47,663 22,115 13,019 13,446
Contributions 11,517 18,207 16,894 6,459 13,443
Council cash 33,301 17,919 27,685 27,023 29,504
Borrowings 0 30,000 0 1,500 0
Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 64,878 113,789 66,693 48,000 56,393

Budget Projections
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3. Financial Statements

3.6  Statement of Human Resources
For the four years ending 30 June 2026

Forecast
Actual

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff expenditure
Employee costs - operating 47,513 57,403 58,462 58,890 59,454
Employee costs - capital 2,327 0 0 0 0
Total staff expenditure 49,839 57,403 58,462 58,890 59,454

Staff numbers FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE
Employees 485.3 521.3 521.3 521.3 521.3
Total staff numbers 485.3 521.3 521.3 521.3 521.3

Group 2023/24 Full Time Part Time Casual Temporary

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
CEO              563              563 -                  -   - 
Customer, People and Performance           9,844           7,867           1,753 - 224
Governance, Facilities and Economy         12,801         10,727           1,710             259             105 
Infrastructure and Environment         17,533         15,226              402 20          1,885 
Liveable Communities         16,662         12,068           3,915 69             611 
Total permanent, casual and temporary staff         57,403         46,451           7,780             348          2,824 
Other staff -   
Total expenditure         57,403 

Reconciliation to 3.1 Comprehensive Income Statement
Total expenditure as above         57,403 
Fringe Benefits Tax, overtime, trainees, uniform 
and impact from salary capitalisation (2,317)

Employee costs per Income Statement         55,086 

Division 2022/23 Full Time Part Time Casual Temporary
EFT EFT EFT EFT EFT

CEO 2.0 2.0 -                  -   - 
Customer, People and Performance             92.0             70.0             19.0 - 3.0
Governance, Facilities and Economy           110.4             87.0             19.7              2.8              1.0 
Infrastructure and Environment           174.4           150.5 4.3              0.2            19.4 
Liveable Communities           142.5           102.0             33.6              0.7              6.2 
Total permanent, casual and temporary staff           521.3           411.5             76.6              3.7            29.6 
Other staff -   
Total EFT           521.3 

Budget Projections

Budget
Comprises

Permanent

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of Council is included
below:

Budget
Comprises

Permanent

Page 33 of 80

SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 26 JUNE 2023 ATTACHMENT 4.1.1.1

Special Council Meeting 26 June 2023 44



3. Financial Statements

For the four years ended 30 June 2027
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
CEO

563 575 585 595
Women 563 575 585 595
Men 0 0 0 0
Persons of self-described gender -               -               -               -               

Total CEO 563 575 585 595
Customer, People & Performance 

7,867 8,014 8,240 8,430
Women 4,832 4,921 5,066 5,181
Men 3,035 3,093 3,174 3,249
Persons of self-described gender -               -               -               -               

1,753 1,816 1,865 1,913
Women 1,538 1,592 1,634 1,674
Men 215 224 231 239
Persons of self-described gender -               -               -               -               

9,620 9,830 10,105 10,343
Governance Facilities & Economy

10,727 11,132 11,449 11,728
Women 5,879 6,119 6,304 6,465
Men 4,848 5,013 5,145 5,263
Persons of self-described gender -               -               -               -               

1,710 1,764 1,807 1,846
Women 1,188 1,228 1,259 1,289
Men 522 536 548 557
Persons of self-described gender -               -               -               -               

12,437 12,896 13,256 13,574
Infrastructure & Environment

15,226 15,787 16,180 16,505
Women 3,973 4,160 4,287 4,377
Men 11,253 11,627 11,893 12,128
Persons of self-described gender -               -               -               -               

402 417 385 393
Women 307 318 305 311
Men 95 99 80 82
Persons of self-described gender -               -               -               -               

15,628 16,204 16,565 16,898
Liveable Communities

12,068 12,301 12,587 12,753
Women 9,458 9,687 9,951 10,115
Men 2,610 2,614 2,636 2,638
Persons of self-described gender -               -               -               -               

3,915 4,028 4,128 4,216
Women 3,551 3,645 3,727 3,801
Men 364 383 401 415
Persons of self-described gender -               -               -               -               

15,982 16,329 16,714 16,969
Casuals, temporary and other expenditure 3,172 2,629 1,664 1,076
Capitalised labour costs

57,403 58,463 58,890 59,454Total staff expenditure

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Infrastructure & Environment

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Liveable Communities

Total Governance Facilities & Economy

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Customer, People & Performance 

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Permanent - Full time

Summary of Planned Human Resources Expenditure
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3. Financial Statements

For the four years ended 30 June 2027
Summary of Planned Human Resources Expenditure

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
FTE FTE FTE FTE

CEO
2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0

Women 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Men 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Persons of self-described gender - - - -

2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Customer, People & Performance 

70.0 70.0 70.0 70.0
Women 44.5 44.5 44.5 44.5
Men 25.5 25.5 25.5 25.5
Persons of self-described gender - - - -

19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0
Women 16.5 16.5 16.5 16.5
Men 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5
Persons of self-described gender - - - -

89.0 89.0 89.0 89.0
Governance Facilities & Economy

87.0 87.0 87.0 87.0
Women 49.5 49.5 49.5 49.5
Men 37.5 37.5 37.5 37.5
Persons of self-described gender - - - -

19.7 19.7 19.7 19.7
Women 14.2 14.2 14.2 14.2
Men 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Persons of self-described gender - - - -

106.7 106.7 106.7 106.7
Infrastructure & Environment

150.5 150.5 150.5 150.5
Women 35.0 35.0 35.0 35.0
Men 115.5 115.5 115.5 115.5
Persons of self-described gender - - - -

4.3 4.3 4.3 4.3
Women 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.3
Men 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Persons of self-described gender - - - -

154.8 154.8 154.8 154.8
Liveable Communities

102.0 102.0 102.0 102.0
Women 79.2 79.2 79.2 79.2
Men 22.8 22.8 22.8 22.8
Persons of self-described gender - - - -

33.6 33.6 33.6 33.6
Women 30.1 30.1 30.1 30.1
Men 3.6 3.6 3.6 3.6
Persons of self-described gender - - - -

135.6 135.6 135.6 135.6
Casuals and temporary staff 33.3 33.3 33.3 33.3
Capitalised labour - - - -

521.3 521.3 521.3 521.3Total staff numbers

Total Liveable Communities

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Governance Facilities & Economy

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Infrastructure & Environment

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Customer, People & Performance 

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Permanent - Full time

Total CEO
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4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement
4.1.1 Rates and charges

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

General rates * 89,577 94,916 5,339 6.0%
Waste management charge 19,560 21,778 2,218 11.3%
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments 1,305 1,300 (5) (0.4%)
Cultural and recreational 75 73 (2) (2.7%)
Interest on rates and charges 775 417 (358) (46.2%)
COVID-19 rates rebate (10) 0 10 0.0%
Total rates and charges 111,282 118,484 7,202 6.5%

4. Notes to the financial statements 

The garbage charge for 2023/24 is budgeted to increase by $21.80 (or 6.7%) from $326.80 to $348.60.  
The charge for the optional green waste service is budgeted to increase by $4.20 (or 3.3%) from $129.00 to $133.20.

This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements.

Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the budget have been entered in whole dollars and cents then rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars. Total figures in the financial statements and accompanying notes and schedules reflect the true budgeted 
amount and may differ slightly when rounded figures are manually added due to rounding.

Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s budget.

As per the Local Government Act 2020 , Council is required to have a Revenue and Rating Plan which is a four year plan for 
how Council will generate income to deliver the Council Plan, program and services and capital works commitments over a 
four-year period.  

In developing the Budget, rates and charges were identified as an important source of revenue. Planning for future rate 
increases has therefore been an important component of the financial planning process. The Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) 
sets out the maximum amount councils may increase rates in a year. For 2023-24 the FGRS cap has been set at 3.50%. The 
cap applies to both general rates and municipal charges and is calculated on the basis of council’s average rates and 
charges.  

The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to Council's other sources of 
income and the planned expenditure on services and works to be undertaken for the community.

To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure program, the average general 
rate will increase by 3.50% in line with the rate cap. 

This will raise total rates and charges for 2023/24 of $118.484m, which also includes interest on rates and charges, compared 
to a forecast of $111.282m in 2022/23.

4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income Statement is as follows:

Change

* This item is subject to the rate cap established under the FGRS.
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4. Notes to the financial statements

Budget Budget
2022/23 2023/24 Change

$/CIV $/CIV %
Base Rate          0.0022640       0.0020833 (8.0%)
Farm Land          0.0016980       0.0015625 (8.0%)
Urban Residential          0.0024220       0.0022287 (8.0%)
Urban Vacant Land          0.0051850       0.0047712 (8.0%)
Urban Commercial and Industrial          0.0032830       0.0030210 (8.0%)
Urban Farm Land          0.0019240       0.0017704 (8.0%)
Rate concession for cultural and recreational land 25% 25% 0.0%

Budget Annualised Budget
2022/23 Rates Levied 2023/24

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 %
Base Rate 30,756             31,214         33,670 2,456 7.9%
Farm Land 3,314 3,357           3,908 551 16.4%
Urban Residential 43,921             45,008         42,603 (2,405) (5.3%)
Urban Vacant Land 4,850 4,956           4,991 34 0.7%
Urban Commercial and Industrial 5,350 5,836           7,008 1,172 20.1%
Urban Farm Land 1,391 1,337           2,735 1,398 104.6%
Cultural and Recreational Land 85 75 73 (2) (2.9%)
Total amount to be raised by general rates 
(incl Cultural & Recreational Land) 89,667             91,784         94,989        3,204 3.5%

Budget Budget
2022/23 2023/24
Number Number Number %

Base Rate 17,010             17,202 192 1.1%
Farm Land 1,131 1,137 6 0.5%
Urban Residential 28,207             29,036 829 2.9%
Urban Vacant Land 1,690 1,773 83 4.9%
Urban Commercial and Industrial 1,569 1,693 124 7.9%
Urban Farm Land 48 44 (4) (8.3%)
Cultural and Recreational Land 6 5 (1) (16.7%)
Total number of assessments 49,661             50,890           1,229 2.5%

4.1.1(e) The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV).

4.1.1(b)  The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act for each type or class of land 
compared with the previous financial year

4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, and the estimated 
total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land Change

Type or class of land

Type or class of land Change

4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of assessments, compared 
with the previous financial year
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4. Notes to the financial statements

Budget Budget
2022/23 2023/24

$'000 $'000 $'000 %
Base Rate         13,585,673      16,161,990 2,576,317 19.0%
Farm Land           1,951,590        2,501,160 549,570 28.2%
Urban Residential         18,133,235      19,115,650 982,415 5.4%
Urban Vacant Land              935,390        1,046,010 110,620 11.8%
Urban Commercial and Industrial           1,629,753        2,319,878 690,125 42.3%
Urban Farm Land              722,780        1,544,895 822,115 113.7%
Cultural and Recreational Land 44,120             46,925 2,805 6.4%
Total value of land         37,002,541      42,736,508    5,733,967 15.5%

4.1.1(g) The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act is $Nil per rateable property (2022/23: $Nil).

4.1.1(h) The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges is $Nil (2022/23: $Nil).

Per Rateable 
Property

Per Rateable 
Property

Budget Budget
2022/23 2023/24

 $  $  $ %
Garbage Charge 326.80             348.60 21.80 6.7%
Green Waste Charge 129.00             133.20 4.20 3.3%
Total 455.80             481.80 26.00 5.7%

Budget Budget
2022/23 2023/24

$'000 $'000 $'000 %
Garbage Charge 15,886             17,402 1,516 9.5%
Green Waste Charge 3,674 4,375 702 19.1%
Total 19,560             21,778 2,218 11.3%

Budget Budget
2022/23 2023/24

$'000 $'000 $'000 %
General Rates 89,667             94,989 5,322 5.9%
Garbage Charge 15,886             17,402 1,516 9.5%
Green Waste Charge 3,774 4,375 601 15.9%
Total Rates and charges              109,327           116,766 7,439 6.8%

Change

4.1.1(i) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of the Act compared 
with the previous financial year

4.1.1(j)  The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the estimated total amount to be 
raised by service rates and charges, compared with the previous financial year

4.1.1(k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous financial year.

Type or class of land Change

 Type of Charge

4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land, compared with the 
previous financial year

Excludes interest on rates and charges and COVID-19 rates rebate.

Change

 Type of Charge Change
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4. Notes to the financial statements
4.1.1(l) Fair Go Rates System Compliance

2022/23 2023/24
 $         88,041  $     91,709 
            49,655         50,885 
 $           1,773  $       1,802 

1.75% 3.50%
 $           1,804  $       1,865 
 $         89,582  $     94,919 

 $         89,582  $     94,916 
 $           1,500  $       1,300 
 $ 85  $            73 
 $         91,167  $     96,289 

The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals)
Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa
Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa.

Rates to be levied

Budget Budget
2022/23 2023/24

cents/$CIV cents/$CIV
Base Rate 0.22640 0.20833
Farm Land 0.16980 0.15625
Urban Residential 0.24220 0.22287
Urban Vacant Land 0.51850 0.47712
Urban Commercial and Industrial 0.32830 0.30210
Urban Farm Land 0.19240 0.17704
Cultural and Recreational Land 25% 25%

Base Rate

- used for retirement village units; or
- any land that is not in the Urban Growth Corridor and is not defined as Farm Land.

Maximum General Rates Revenue ($'000)

Budgeted General Rates Revenue ($'000)

Prior year annualised rates ($'000)  *

Base Rate land is any rateable land which has the characteristics outlined below and does not have the characteristics of any 
other specified rate:

To ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, statutory, service provision and community services 
obligations and to ensure that the differential rate in the dollar declared for defined Base Rate land properties is fair and 
equitable, having regard to the cost and the level of benefits derived from provision of Council services. 

Objective:

Cardinia Shire Council is required to comply with the State Government’s Fair Go Rates System (FGRS).  The table below 
details the budget assumptions consistent with the requirements of the Fair Go Rates System.

4.1.1(m) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges.

There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges. 
However, the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected by:

Council considers that each differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of council functions.
Details of the objectives of each differential rate, the types of classes of land, which are subject to each differential rate and
the uses of each differential rate, are set out below.

Budgeted number of rateable properties

The rate and amount of rates payable in relation to land in each category of differential are:

Type or class of land

Budgeted Total Rates Revenue ($'000)

The making of supplementary valuations

4.1.1(n) Differential rates 

Budgeted Supplementary Rates Revenue ($'000)
Budgeted Cultural and Recreational Land Rates Revenue ($'000)

Budgeted Base Average Rate
Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government)
Maximum Allowable Capped Average Rate

* Excludes Cultural and Recreational Land
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4. Notes to the financial statements
Use and Level of Rate:

- Retirement villages wherever located within the municipal district;
- Properties other than retirement villages outside the Urban Growth Corridor of the municipal district

Farm Land 

That is used by a business:

Objective:

Use and Level of Rate:

Types of Buildings:

The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps referred to in the relevant
Planning Scheme.

All buildings which are already constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the financial year.

Planning Scheme Zoning:

- That has a significant and substantial commercial purpose of character;
- That seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from its activities on the land; and

- used primarily for primary producing purposes from its activities on the land; used primarily for grazing (including
agistment), dairying, pig-farming, poultry farming, fish farming, tree farming, bee keeping, viticulture, horticulture, fruit
growing or the growing of crops of any kind or for any combination of those activities; and

- That is making a profit from its activities on the land, or that has a reasonable prospect of making a profit from its activities
on the land if it continues to operate in the way that it is operating.

To ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, statutory, service provision and community services 
obligations and to ensure that the differential rate in the dollar declared for defined Farm land properties is fair and equitable, 
having regard to the cost and the level of benefits derived from provision of Council services with considerations to maintain 
agriculture as a major industry in the municipal district, to facilitate the longevity of the farm sector and achieve a balance 
between providing for municipal growth and retaining the important agricultural economic base. 

The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget adopted by Council. The
level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 

All buildings which are already constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the financial year.

Any land outside the Urban Growth Corridor which is “Farm Land” within the meaning of Section 2(1) of the Valuation of Land 
- Farm Land means any rateable land that is 2 or more hectares in area;

75% of the Base Rate

Geographic Location:
Outside the Urban Growth Corridor of the municipal district.

Use of Land:
Farm Land use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning Scheme Zoning:

Types of Buildings:

100% of the Base Rate. 

Geographic Location:
Rateable land in the geographic areas outlined below:

Use of Land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget adopted by Council. The
level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 

The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps referred to in the relevant
Planning Scheme. 
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4. Notes to the financial statements 
Urban Residential

Use and Level of Rate:

Urban Vacant Land

The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps referred to in the relevant 
Planning Scheme.

Use of Land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning Scheme Zoning:

Types of Buildings:

- which is located within the Urban Growth Corridor; and

Within the Urban Growth Corridor or the municipal district.

Use and Level of Rate:

229% of the Base Rate

Geographic Location:

Urban Vacant Land is any rateable land:
- on which no dwelling or other building designed or adapted for occupation is constructed;

- does not have the characteristics of Urban Commercial and Industrial Land.

Objective:

The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps referred to in the relevant
Planning Scheme.

All buildings which are already constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the financial year.

The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget adopted by Council. The 
level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 

To ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, statutory, service provision and community services 
obligations and to ensure that the differential rate in the dollar declared for defined Urban Vacant land properties is fair and 
equitable, having regard to the cost and the level of benefits derived from provision of Council services and to encourage 
development of residential land in the Urban Growth Corridor.

107% of Base Rate

Geographic Location:
Within the Urban Growth Corridor of the municipal district.

Urban Residential land is any rateable land which is in the Urban Growth Corridor and does not have the characteristics of 
Urban Farm land, Urban Vacant Land, or Urban Commercial and Industrial Land and is not used for retirement village units. 

To ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, statutory, service provision and community services
obligations and to ensure that the differential rate in the dollar declared for defined Urban Rate land properties is fair and
equitable, having regard to the cost and the level of benefits derived from provision of Council services with consideration
given to the greater and easier access properties in the Urban Growth Corridor have to services and infrastructure.

The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget adopted by Council. The
level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Objective:

Use of Land:
Any land in the urban growth corridor zoned as Residential or Urban Growth under the relevant Planning Scheme. 

Planning Scheme Zoning:
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4. Notes to the financial statements
Urban Commercial and Industrial Land

Urban Farm Land 

That is used by a business:
- That has a significant and substantial commercial purpose of character;
- That seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from its activities on the land; and
- That is making a profit from its activities on the land, or that has a reasonable prospect of making a profit from its activities
on the land if it continues to operate in the way that it is operating.

145% of the Base Rate

Geographic Location:

Urban Commercial and Industrial Land is any rateable land, which is:
- In the Urban Growth Corridor; and

Objective:

- Used primarily for carrying out the manufacture or production of, or trade in goods or services (including tourist facilities and
in the case of a business providing accommodation for tourists, is prescribed accommodation under the Public Health and
Wellbeing Act (Vic) 2008; or
- Unoccupied building erected which is zoned Commercial or Industrial under the relevant Cardinia Shire Council Planning
Scheme; or
- Unoccupied land which is zoned Commercial or Industrial under the relevant Cardinia Shire Council Planning Scheme.

To ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, statutory, service provision and community services 
obligations and to ensure that the differential rate in the dollar declared for defined Urban Commercial and Industrial Rate 
land properties is fair and equitable, having regard to the cost and the level of benefits derived from provision of Council 
services.

The commercial businesses of Cardinia Shire Council benefit from ongoing investment by Council in services and 
infrastructure. Council also notes the tax deductibility of Council rates for commercial properties which is not available to the 
residential sector, and the income generating capability of commercial based properties. 

The Commercial differential rate is applied to recognise the additional demands placed on public infrastructure due to 
commerce attracting non-residents to the shire, the higher demands of commercial and industrial properties on the natural 
environment and to promote the economic development objectives for the Cardinia Shire Council as outlined in the Council 
Plan. These objectives include an ongoing investment to create a vibrant economy and includes the maintenance and 
improvement of tourism infrastructure. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure, development and provision of 
health and community services and the general provision of support services and promotion of business in the municipality. 

The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget adopted by Council. The
level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 

Types of Buildings:

Any land within the Urban Growth Corridor which is “Farm Land” within the meaning of Section 2(1) of the 
Valuation of Land Act 1960 .

a) Farm Land means any rateable land that is 2 or more hectares in area;

Within the Urban Growth Corridor of the municipal district.

Use of Land:
Any commercial or industrial use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning Scheme Zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps referred to in the relevant 
Planning Scheme.

All buildings which are already constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the financial year. 

b) used primarily for primary producing purposes from its activities on the land; used primarily for grazing (including
agistment), dairying, pig-farming, poultry farming, fish farming, tree farming, bee keeping, viticulture, horticulture, fruit
growing or the growing of crops of any kind or for any combination of those activities; and

Use and Level of Rate:
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4. Notes to the financial statements
Objective:

Use and Level of Rate:

All buildings which are already constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the financial year.

Farm Land use permitted under the relevant Cardinia Shire Council Planning Scheme.

Planning Scheme Zoning:

Types of Buildings:

85% of the Base Rate

Geographic Location:
Within the Urban Growth Corridor of the municipal district.

Use of Land:

To ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, statutory, service provision and community services 
obligations and to ensure that the differential rate in the dollar declared for defined Farm land properties is fair and equitable, 
having regard to the cost and the level of benefits derived from provision of Council services with considerations to encourage 
commerce, to maintain agriculture as a major industry in the municipal district, to facilitate the longevity of the farm sector and 
achieve a balance between providing for municipal growth and retaining the important agricultural economic base.

The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget adopted by Council. The
level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 

The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps referred to in the relevant
Cardinia Shire Council Planning Scheme.
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4. Notes to the financial statements
4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Infringements and costs 475 497 22 4.5%
Statutory registration fees 1,257 1,389 132 10.5%
Town planning fees 2,996 3,521 525 17.5%
Land information certificates 96 160 64 66.7%
Permits 869 896 27 3.1%
Total statutory fees and fines 5,693 6,463 770 13.5%

4.1.3 User fees

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Leisure centre and recreation 760 1,195 435 57.2%
Child care/children's programs 504 544 40 8.0%
Parking 70 70 - -
Registration and other permits 555 720 165 29.8%
Other fees and charges 9 3 (6) (64.9%)
Total user fees 1,898 2,532 634 33.4%

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

User fees relate mainly to the recovery of service delivery costs through the charging of fees to users of Council’s
services. These include income from Community Asset Committees, the use of leisure, entertainment and other
community facilities. One of three pricing strategies is applied to determine the level of budgeted user charges;
Market price; Full cost recovery price; or Subsidised price. 

Revenue from user fees is projected to increase by $634k or 33.4% over 2022/23 levels. The main area
contributing to this increase is leisure centres and recreation, which includes Community Asset Committees and
event revenue and room and equipment hire revenue at Cardinia Cultural Centre.

Statutory fees and fines relate mainly to fees and fines levied in accordance with legislation and include animal
registrations, Health Act registrations and parking fines. Increases in statutory fees and fines are made in
accordance with legislative requirements and are not set by Council. 

Revenue from statutory fees and fines are forecast to increase by $770k or 13.5% over 2022/23 levels. Most of
this is attributable to increased town planning fees, which includes development, landscape development and
building services fees.

Change
Increase/(Decrease)
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4. Notes to the financial statements

4.1.4 Grants

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants 29,950             50,888 20,938 69.9%
State funded grants 9,608             15,287 5,679 59.1%
Total Grants 39,558             66,175 26,617 67.3%

(a) Operating Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Victoria Grants Commission 13,474             13,855 381 2.8%
Recurrent - State Government

Best Start program 124 127 2 2.0%
Community health 232 130 (102) (43.8%)
Community Safety 170 103 (67) (39.6%)
Environment and heritage 183 116 (67) (36.6%)
Families and children 553 557 4 0.7%
Maternal and child health 1,986 2,013 27 1.4%
Recreation 80 - (80) (100.0%)
School crossing supervisors 584 604 20 3.5%
Total recurrent grants 17,385             17,505 119 0.7%

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government 
Local infrastructure 195 55 (140) (71.8%)

Non-recurrent - State Government 
Environment and Heritage 83 305 222 267.8%
Families & Children 15 118 103 673.0%
Library 732 - (732) (100.0%)
Recreation 580 - (580) (100.0%)
Local Infrastructure 508 529 21 4.1%
Total non-recurrent grants 2,113               1,007 (1,106) (52.3%)

Total operating grants 19,498             18,512 (987) (5.1%)

(b) Capital Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Victoria Grants Commission 878 922 43 4.9%
Roads to Recovery 1,691               1,691 - -
Total recurrent grants 2,569               2,613 43 1.7%

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government 
Local infrastructure 13,712             32,283 18,570 135.4%
Recreation - 2,083 2,083 100.0%

Non-recurrent - State Government
Local infrastructure 2,562 4,092 1,530 59.7%
Recreation 1,217 6,593 5,376 441.8%

Total non-recurrent grants 17,491             45,051 27,560 157.6%
Total capital grants 20,060             47,663 27,603 137.6%

Total Grants 39,558             66,175 26,617 67.3%

Grants are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s annual budget.

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Operating grants include all monies received from State and Federal Government sources for the purposes of
funding the delivery of Council’s services to ratepayers. Overall, the level of operating grants is expected to
decrease by 5.1% or $987k over 2022/23.
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4. Notes to the financial statements
4.1.4 Grants (Cont'd)

4.1.5 Contributions
Forecast

Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Monetary 21,418             25,279 3,861 18.0%
Non-monetary 38,070             39,812 1,742 4.6%
Total contributions 59,489             65,091 5,603 9.4%

4.1.6 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Forecast

Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Net proceeds received by Council 450 (450) (900) (200.0%)
Written down value of assets disposed (450) 450 900 (200.0%)
Net gain/(loss) on disposal - - - -

4.1.7 Other income
Forecast

Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Interest 1,883 3,287 1,405 74.6%
Cost recoveries 595 780 184 31.0%
Other rent 515 489 (26) (5.1%)
Other 447 363 (85) (18.9%)
Total other income 3,440 4,918 1,478 43.0%

Revenue from contributions is projected to increase by $5.603m or 9.4% compared to 2022/23. This is primarily
due to an increase in the value of monetary developer levies.

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Other income relates to a range of items such as cost recoveries, rent/lease income and other miscellaneous
income items, and also includes interest revenue on investments, including DCP investments.

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment relates to income received by Council
form the sale of assets, in particular land and plant, and the recognition of the written down value of assets
disposed.
For both the 2022/23 forecast and 2023/24 budget, proceeds from the sale of plant are expected to equal their
written down value.

Other income is budgeted to increase by $1.478m or 43.0% from 2022/23, primarily due to an increase in interest
income, due to higher interest rates, and in cost recovery income.

Contributions relate to monies paid by non-government third parties for the purpose of funding the delivery of
Council's services to ratepayers.

Due to the implementation of AASB1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities from 1 July 2019, grant income is
recognised on the fulfilment of performance obligation on the funding agreement rather than cash receipt.
Therefore, some grant cash payments would be deferred to be recognised as income across financial years until
Council achieves the project milestones.

Capital grants include all monies received from State and Federal Government sources for the purposes of
funding the capital works program. Budgeted capital grants are expected to increase by $27.603m compared to
the 2022/23 forecast.  In total, $47.663m of capital grants are budgeted.

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

The more significant budgeted capital grants for 2023/24 are $14.0m for the Sealing the Hills program, $7.4m for
Princes Hwy intersections construction, $3.7m for Brunt Road Integrated Children's Facility, $3.3m for Koo Wee
Rup Bowls & Community Facility and a total of $2.6m from Roads to Recovery and Victoria Grants Commission
for local roads.

The major variances relate to non-recurrent funding for the library service being redirected to the new service 
provider and for capital works projects for which expenditure cannot be capitalised and is all recognised in 
2022/23 but not 2023/24.  
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4. Notes to the financial statements

4.1.8 Employee costs

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Wages and salaries 44,034 48,320 4,286 9.7%
WorkCover 800 91 11 1 . %
Superannuation 4,518 5,377 859 19.0%
Fringe benefits tax 444 433 (12) (2.6%)
Other 43 45 2 3.6%
Total employee costs 49,839             55,086 5,247 10.5%

4.1.9 Materials and services
Forecast

Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Contract payments
- Waste and Garbage contracts 17,441 18,760 1,318 7.6%
- Parks and Gardens contracts 5,122 6,320 1,198 23.4%
- Library contract 2,282 2,340 58 2.5%
- Other contracts 8,314 8,532 218 2.6%

Building maintenance 288 335 47 16.4%
General maintenance 2,960 3,300 340 11.5%
Utilities 2,447 2,529 83 3.4%
Office administration 154 180 26 16.9%
Information technology 2,359 2,603 244 10.4%
Insurance 1,322 1,682 361 27.3%
Consultants 1,895 1,806 (89) (4.7%)
Materials and services 18,247 19,906 1,659 9.1%
Contractors and temporary staff 330 1,222 893 271.0%
Legal and professional 1,538 1,316 (222) (14.4%)
Total materials and services 64,698 70,831 6,133 9.5%

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of Council is
included in Section 3.6 (Statement of Human Resources) and Summary of Planned Human Resources
Expenditure.

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Materials and services include the purchases of consumables, contractor payments for the provision of services,
and utility costs. Materials and services are forecast to increase by $6.133m or 9.5% compared to 2022/23.

Contracts are forecast to increase by $2.792m or 8.4% over 2022/23. The main contracts contributing to this
increase are the waste and garbage contracts, primarily as a result of an increase in the volume of services and
disposal costs, which have been offset by an increase in garbage charge income.

This is as a result of a general CPI and service contract price increases well in excess of the rate cap,
maintenance increase driven by new facilities coming online and service growth for an increasing population.

Materials and services expenditure is budgeted to increase by $1.659m or 9.1% over 2022/23, mainly due to
recognition of capital works project expenditure which is unable to be capitalised as Council assets, most of which
is in relation to non-Council owned property such as Crown land.

Employee costs include all labour related expenditure such as wages and salaries and on-costs such as
allowances, leave entitlements, employer superannuation, and work cover premiums. It also includes Fringe
Benefits Tax (FBT).
Employee costs overall are expected to increase by $5.247m or 10.5% compared to 2022/23. This increase is
primarily due to a combination of:

Full year effect of new staff appointed during 2022/23,
New staff appointments in 2023/24,
Staff increment movements,
Superannuation Guarantee Levy increase from 10.5% in 2022/23 to 11% in 2023/24.

Change
Increase/Decrease
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4. Notes to the financial statements
4.1.10 Bad & doubtful debts

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Local laws 128 158 30 23.4%
Other 31 31 -   -
Total Bad & Doubtful debts 159 189 30 18.8%

4.1.11 Depreciation

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Property 7,300 7,586 286 3.9%
Plant & equipment 2,001 2,088 87 4.4%
Infrastructure 21,505             23,676 2,171 10.1%
Total depreciation 30,806             33,350 2,544 8.3%

4.1.12 Amortisation - Intangible assets 

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Intangible assets 100 214 114 114.2%
Total amortisation - intangible assets 100 214 114 114.2%

4.1.13 Amortisation - Right of use assets
Forecast

Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Right of use assets 60  60  - -
Total amortisation - right of use assets 60  60  - -

4.1.14 Borrowing costs
Forecast

Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Interest - borrowings 930 816 (114) (12.3%)
Interest - right of use asset 145 145 - -
Bank charges 220 246 26 11.7%
Total Borrowing costs 1,296               1,207 (88) (6.8%)

Borrowing costs relate to interest charged by financial institutions on funds borrowed, interest on right of use
assets, and bank charges.
Borrowing costs are budgeted to decrease by $88k or 6.8% from 2022/23. Interest on loans are budgeted to
increase due to the interest on new loans totalling $30.0m being drawn down in late 2023/24 to part fund the
capital works program.

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Bad and doubtful debts are projected to increase by $30k or 18.8% from 2022/23 mainly due to higher local laws
bad and doubtful debts.

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Depreciation is an accounting measure which attempts to allocate the value of an asset over its useful life for
Council’s property, plant and equipment including infrastructure assets such as roads, bridges, footpaths, and
drains.
The increase of $2.544m or 8.3% over 2022/23 is mainly due to an increase in the value of Council's infrastructure
assets from significant developer contributed assets, completed capital works projects and an increase in the
valuation of existing assets.

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Change
Increase/(Decrease)
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4. Notes to the financial statements
4.1.15 Other expenses

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Auditors' remuneration - VAGO 88 101 13 14.7%
Auditors' remuneration - internal 88 101 13 14.7%
Councillors' allowances 445 460 15 3.4%
Other expenses 1,113 1,34  22 20. %
Total other expenses 1,734               2,00  26 15.5%

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year 16,889 16,161 43,770 39,806 37,108
Amount budgeted to be borrowed - 30,000 0 1,500             - 
Amount budgeted to be redeemed (728) (2,391) (3,964) (4,198) (3,870)
Amount of borrowings as at 30 June 16,161 43,770 39,806 37,108 33,238

Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Other expenses relate to a range of unclassified items including audit fees, rent and lease expenditure,
government fees & charges and other miscellaneous expenditure items.
Other expenses in total are budgeted to increase by $26 k or 15.5% from 2022/23.

4.2 Balance Sheet
4.2.1 Assets
Current assets are those assets which are able to be converted to cash within twelve months. These current
assets are forecast to increase by $17.396m during 2023/24, mainly due to an increase in cash and cash
equivalents of $13.878m as detailed in 3.4 Statement of Cash Flows.
Conversely, non-current assets are those assets that are not expected to be converted to cash within twelve
months. Non-current assets are expected to increase by $118.981m during the 2023/24 year, mainly in property,
infrastructure, plant and equipment due to the addition of new assets from completed projects and the recognition
of contributed assets.

4.2.2 Liabilities
Current liabilities are those obligations Council must pay within the next year. These liabilities are budgeted to
increase by $10.275m, mainly due to an increases in trade and other payables (creditors).
Non-current liabilities (obligations Council must pay beyond the next year) are expected to increase by $25.925m.
This is mainly attributable an increase in interest-bearing liabilities, with new loans in late 2023/24 to partly fund
capital works being greater than the repayment of existing loans.

4.2.3 Borrowings
The table below shows information on borrowings specifically required by the Regulations. 

Projections
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4. Notes to the financial statements
4.2.4 Leases by category

Forecast
Actual Budget

2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000

Right-of-use assets
Property & Vehicles 4,320 3,714
Total right-of-use assets 4,320 3,714
Lease Liabilities
Current lease liabilities
Property & Vehicles 286 532
Total current lease liabilities 286 532
Non-current lease liabilities
Property & Vehicles 4,509 4,455
Total non-current lease liabilities 4,509 4,455
Total Lease Liabilities 4,795 4,987

4.3 Statement of Changes in Equity
4.3.1 Reserves

4.3.2 Equity

4.4 Statement of Cash Flows
4.4.1 Net cash flows provided by/used in operating activities

4.4.2 Net cash flows provided by/used in investing activities

4.4.3 Net cash flows provided by/used in financing activities
Financing activities refer to cash generated or used in the financing of Council functions and includes borrowings
from financial institutions.  These activities also include repayment of the principal and interest components of loan 
repayments for the year.
Net cash inflow from financing activities is forecast to increase by $28.889m mainly as a result of the draw down 
of the budgeted new loans totalling $30.0m.

Transfers from reserves is the movement of developer infrastructure levies collected in previous years to partly 
fund the Developer Contribution Plan (DCP) projects in the current year capital works program.  Transfer to 
reserves is the movement of developer levies collected this financial year to reserves to fund DCP projects in 

Total equity always equals net assets and is made up of the following components:
Asset revaluation reserve which represents the difference between the previously recorded value of

    assets and their current valuations.
Other reserves, which are funds that Council wishes to separately identify as being set aside to meet

    a specific purpose in the future and to which there is no existing liability. These amounts are
    transferred from the Accumulated Surplus of the Council to be separately disclosed.

Accumulated surplus which is the value of all net assets less Reserves that have accumulated over
    time. 

Operating activities refer to the cash generated or used in the normal service delivery functions of Council.

As a result of the introduction of AASB 16 Leases , right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been recognised
as outlined in the table below.

Where the interest rate applicable to a lease is not expressed in the lease agreement, Council applies the average
incremental borrowing rate in the calculation of lease liabilities. Generally, Council uses an appropriate
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Net cash inflow of operating activities is forecast to increase by $18.479m from 2022/23 primarily due to increases 
in cash inflows for capital grants, rates and charges, and development levies, partly offset by increased cash 
outflows for materials and services and employee benefits.

Investing activities refer to cash generated or used in the enhancement or creation of infrastructure and other
assets. These activities also include the acquisition and sale of other assets such as vehicles, property,
equipment, etc.

Net cash outflow of investing activities is expected to increase by $48.910m due to an increase in payments for 
the capital works program, partly offset by an increase in proceeds from sale of investments.
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6.1 Fees and Charges Schedule

4% Adopted Proposed
2022-23 2023-24

Fee              
Classification

Pricing Method
(Non Statutory Fees only)

GST 
Applicable

$
(inc GST if applicable)

$
(incl GST if 
applicable)

$
Incr/(Decr)

%
Incr/(Decr)

Liveable Communities
Active and Connected Communities
Community Recreation
Community Recreation
Council Managed Recreation Reserves - Casual hire rates

Corporate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 83.00 86.00 3.00 3.6%
Non Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 65.00 67.00 2.00 3.1%
Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 54.00 56.00 2.00 3.7%
Non Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 37.00 38.00 1.00 2.7%
Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 28.00 29.00 1.00 3.6%

James Bathe Recreation Reserve
Ovals (Seasonal use 6 months, summer and winter) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,498.00              1,550.00              52.00 3.5%
Netball courts (2)  - full year Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 695.00 719.00 24.00 3.5%
Netball courts (2) - seasonal use (6 months) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 348.00 360.00 12.00 3.4%
Public event bookings (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 149.00 154.00 5.00 3.4%
Pavilion Community Space (no kitchen)

- Commercial Rate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 32.00 33.00 1.00 3.1%
- Community Group - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 21.00 22.00 1.00 4.8%

Pavilion Community Space (with kitchen)
-  Commercial Rate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 42.00 43.00 1.00 2.4%
-  Community Group - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 21.00 28.00 7.00 33.3%

Public market space hire (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) - per annum Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes          210.00 217.00 7.00 3.3%

Don Jackson Recreation Reserve
Oval (Seasonal use 6 months, summer and winter) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,498.00              1,550.00              52.00 3.5%
Public event bookings (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 149.00 154.00 5.00 3.4%
Public market space hire (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) - per annum Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes          210.00 217.00 7.00 3.3%

Heatherbrae Recreation Reserve
Oval (Seasonal use 6 months, summer and winter) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,498.00              1,550.00              52.00 3.5%
Netball courts (2)  - full year Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 695.00 719.00 24.00 3.5%
Public event bookings (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 149.00 154.00 5.00 3.4%
Pavilion Community Space (no kitchen)

- Commercial Rate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 32.00 33.00 1.00 3.1%
- Community Group - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 21.00 22.00 1.00 4.8%

Pavilion Community Space (with kitchen)
-  Commercial Rate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 42.00 43.00 1.00 2.4%
-  Community Group - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 21.00 28.00 7.00 33.3%

Public market space hire (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) - per annum Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes          210.00 217.00 7.00 3.3%

IYU Recreation Reserve
IYU Recreation Reserve - Northern / Junior Turf Soccer Pitches (Seasonal use 6 
months, summer and winter)

Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,003.00              1,053.00              50.00 5.0%

IYU Recreation Reserve - Southern / Senior Turf Soccer Pitch (Seasonal use 6 
months, summer and winter)

Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 750.00 788.00 38.00 5.1%

Pavilion Community Space (no kitchen)
- Commercial Rate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 32.00 33.00 1.00 3.1%
- Community Group - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 21.00 22.00 1.00 4.8%

Pavilion Community Space (with kitchen)
- Commercial Rate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 42.00 43.00 1.00 2.4%
- Community Group - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 21.00 28.00 7.00 33.3%

Synthetic Soccer Pitch - Full Pitch, no lights
Corporate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 83.00 86.00 3.00 3.6%
Non Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 65.00 67.00 2.00 3.1%
Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 54.00 56.00 2.00 3.7%
Non Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 37.00 38.00 1.00 2.7%
Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 28.00 29.00 1.00 3.6%

Synthetic Soccer Pitch - Full Pitch, with lights
Corporate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 100.00 104.00 4.00 4.0%
Non Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 83.00 86.00 3.00 3.6%
Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 72.00 75.00 3.00 4.2%
Non Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 48.00 50.00 2.00 4.2%
Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 37.00 38.00 1.00 2.7%

Synthetic Soccer Pitch - Half Pitch, no lights
Corporate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 65.00 67.00 2.00 3.1%
Non Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 48.00 50.00 2.00 4.2%
Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 37.00 38.00 1.00 2.7%
Non Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 28.00 29.00 1.00 3.6%
Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 20.00 21.00 1.00 5.0%

Synthetic Soccer Pitch - Half Pitch, with lights
Corporate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 78.00 81.00 3.00 3.8%
Non Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 60.00 62.00 2.00 3.3%
Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 48.00 50.00 2.00 4.2%
Non Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 37.00 38.00 1.00 2.7%
Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 26.00 27.00 1.00 3.8%

Synthetic Soccer Pitch - Quarter Pitch, no lights
Corporate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 45.00 47.00 2.00 4.4%
Non Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 37.00 38.00 1.00 2.7%
Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 26.00 27.00 1.00 3.8%
Non Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 20.00 21.00 1.00 5.0%
Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 15.00 16.00 1.00 6.7%

Synthetic Soccer Pitch - Quarter Pitch, with lights
Corporate - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 54.00 56.00 2.00 3.7%
Non Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 44.00 46.00 2.00 4.5%
Cardinia based Sporting Clubs - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 33.00 34.00 1.00 3.0%
Non Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 26.00 27.00 1.00 3.8%
Cardinia Schools - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 20.00 21.00 1.00 5.0%

Lakeside Recreation Reserve
Oval (Seasonal use 6 months, summer and winter) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,498.00              1,550.00              52.00 3.5%
Public event bookings (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 149.00 154.00 5.00 3.4%
Public market space hire (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) - per annum Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 210.00 217.00 7.00 3.3%

This schedule presents the fees and charges of a statutory/non-statutory nature which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2023/24.
Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's policy or legislation.

2022/23 to 2023/24
Change
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4% Adopted Proposed
2022-23 2023-24

Fee              
Classification

Pricing Method
(Non Statutory Fees only)

GST 
Applicable

$
(inc GST if applicable)

$
(incl GST if 
applicable)

$
Incr/(Decr)

%
Incr/(Decr)

2022/23 to 2023/24
Change

Nar Nar Goon Recreation Reserve
Oval (Seasonal use 6 months, summer and winter) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,498.00              1,550.00              52.00 3.5%
Netball Courts (full year) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,390.00              1,439.00              49.00 3.5%
Tennis Courts (full year) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,045.00              1,082.00              37.00 3.5%
Netball Courts (Seasonal use 6 months, summer and winter) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 695.00 719.00 24.00 3.5%
Public event bookings (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 149.00 154.00 5.00 3.4%
Public market space hire (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) - per annum Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 210.00 217.00 7.00 3.3%

O'Neil Road Recreation Reserve
Oval (Seasonal use 6 months, summer and winter) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,498.00              1,550.00              52.00 3.5%
Public event bookings (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 149.00 154.00 5.00 3.4%
Public market space hire (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) - per annum Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 210.00 217.00 7.00 3.3%

Toomuc Recreation Reserve
Oval (Seasonal use 6 months, summer and winter) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,498.00              1,550.00              52.00 3.5%
Baseball diamonds (2) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,066.00              1,103.00              37.00 3.5%
Netball courts (2)  - full year Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 695.00 719.00 24.00 3.5%
Netball courts (2) - seasonal use Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 348.00 360.00 12.00 3.4%
Public market space hire (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 149.00 154.00 5.00 3.4%
Public event bookings (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) - per annum Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 210.00 217.00 7.00 3.3%

Personal trainers on all Passive and Active Reserves
Winter Apr 1 to Sep 30

Up to 5 sessions Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 150.00 155.00 5.00 3.3%
6 – 10 sessions Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 250.00 259.00 9.00 3.6%

Summer Oct 1 to Mar 31 - 
Up to 5 sessions Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 250.00 259.00 9.00 3.6%
6 – 10 sessions Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 350.00 362.00 12.00 3.4%

Annual (must be renewed by 30 June each year) - 
Up to 5 sessions Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 350.00 362.00 12.00 3.4%
6-10 sessions Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 550.00 569.00 19.00 3.5%

Holm Park Road Recreation Reserve Community Room
Ovals (Seasonal use 6 months, summer and winter) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,498.00              1,550.00              52.00 3.5%
Netball courts (4) - full year Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,390.00              1,439.00              49.00 3.5%
Public event bookings (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 149.00 154.00 5.00 3.4%
Pavilion Community Room Non Statutory Fee

-  Non-Community  Group - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 29.00 30.00 1.00 3.4%
-  Community Group - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 15.00 20.00 5.00 33.3%

Public market space hire (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) - per annum Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes          210.00 217.00 7.00 3.3%

Connected Communities
Community Bus

Community Bus hire fees Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price No 8.40 9.00 0.60 7.1%
Community Bus hire - COVID Cleaning costs Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 55.00 57.00 2.00 3.6%
Community Bus hire - COVID Cleaning costs (Weekend) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 110.00 114.00 4.00 3.6%

Community Halls

Bonds
Bond (low risk) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 500.00 500.00 - -
Bond (med to high risk) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,000.00              1,000.00              - -

Standard Hire Fees per hour - peak 
Level one space  - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes N/A 15.00 - -
Level two space - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes N/A 20.00 - -
Level three space  - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes N/A 30.00 - -
Level four space - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes N/A 50.00 - -
Level five space - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes N/A 65.00 - -
Level six space - per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes N/A 85.00 - -
20% subsidy will be given to hall offpeak time hire.
40% subsidy will be applied to the weekday or weekend standard rate for events that 
provide community benefit.

Emerald Lake Park
Emerald Lake Park

Amphitheatre Hire - Bunerong Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 247.00 256.00 9.00 3.6%
Amphitheatre Hire - Carl Stemp Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 132.00 137.00 5.00 3.8%
Amphitheatre Hire - Gus Ryberg Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 330.00 342.00 12.00 3.6%
Amphitheatre Hire - The Gums Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 132.00 137.00 5.00 3.8%
Lakeside Meeting Room Community Group (4 hours) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 163.00 169.00 6.00 3.7%
Lakeside Meeting Room Community Group (8 hours) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 294.00 304.00 10.00 3.4%
Lakeside Meeting Room Standard (4 hours) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 192.00 200.00 8.00 4.2%
Lakeside Meeting Room Standard (8 hours) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 333.00 345.00 12.00 3.6%
Parking - hourly Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 2.00 2.00 - -
Parking - all day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 6.00 8.00 2.00 33.3%
Shelter Hire - Boatshed Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 150.00 155.00 5.00 3.3%
Shelter Hire - Lakeside Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 150.00 155.00 5.00 3.3%
Shelter Hire - Poolside Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 150.00 155.00 5.00 3.3%
Weddings Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 525.00 545.00 20.00 3.8%

Parks Planning
Passive Reserves

Public event bookings (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 209.00 215.00 6.00 2.9%
Public market space hire (only for commercial or for-profit organisations) - per annum Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 200.00 207.00 7.00 3.5%

Community and Family Services
Youth Services
My Place youth facility

Casual Room Hire - Activity Room Full Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 128.00 132.00 4.00 3.1%
Casual Room Hire - Activity Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 64.00 66.00 2.00 3.1%
Casual Room Hire - Consulting Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 88.00 91.00 3.00 3.4%
Casual Room Hire - Consulting Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 47.00 49.00 2.00 4.3%
Casual Room Hire - Meeting Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 116.00 120.00 4.00 3.4%
Regular Room Hire - Activity Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 82.00 85.00 3.00 3.7%
Regular Room Hire - Activity Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 41.00 42.00 1.00 2.4%
Regular Room Hire - Consulting Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 52.00 54.00 2.00 3.8%
Regular Room Hire - Consulting Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 29.00 30.00 1.00 3.4%
Regular Room Hire - Meeting Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 70.00 72.00 2.00 2.9%
Regular Room Hire - Meeting Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 36.00 37.00 1.00 2.8%
Note - Half Day - up to and including 4 hours,  Day - 4 to 8 hours Non Statutory Fee N/A
Regular Rates - 6 or more consecutive bookings Non Statutory Fee N/A
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4% Adopted Proposed
2022-23 2023-24

Fee              
Classification

Pricing Method
(Non Statutory Fees only)

GST 
Applicable

$
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The Point
Full Day Casual Rate Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 146.00 151.00 5.00 3.4%
Full Day Regular Rate Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 105.00 109.00 4.00 3.8%
Half day Casual Rate Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 73.00 76.00 3.00 4.1%
Half Day Regular Rate Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 52.00 54.00 2.00 3.8%

Cardinia Youth Hub
Casual Room Hire - Activity/Program Room Full Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 128.00 132.00 4.00 3.1%
Casual Room Hire - Activity/Program Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 64.00 66.00 2.00 3.1%
Casual Room Hire - Consulting/Counselling Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 88.00 91.00 3.00 3.4%
Casual Room Hire - Consulting/Counselling Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 47.00 49.00 2.00 4.3%
Casual Room Hire - Meeting/Training Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 116.00 120.00 4.00 3.4%
Recording Booth- External Hire - Hourly Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 27.50 28.00 0.50 1.8%
Regular Room Hire - Activity/Program Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 82.00 85.00 3.00 3.7%
Regular Room Hire - Activity/Program Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 41.00 42.00 1.00 2.4%
Regular Room Hire - Consulting/Counselling Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 52.00 54.00 2.00 3.8%
Regular Room Hire - Consulting/Counselling Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 29.00 30.00 1.00 3.4%
Regular Room Hire - Meeting/Training Room Full Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 70.00 72.00 2.00 2.9%
Regular Room Hire - Meeting/Training Room Half Day Rate Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 36.00 37.00 1.00 2.8%

Future Communities
Community Infrastructure and Service Planning
Central Enrolments

Kindergarten Central Enrolment Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price No 30.00 31.00 1.00 3.3%

Pakenham Springs Child and Family Centre
Hollins Child and Family Centre
Henry Family Child and Family Centre
Arena Child and Family Centre
Andrews Community Kindergarten
Lakeside Childrens Centre
Bridgewood Primary School & Integrated Child & Family Centre
Pakenham Hills Parentzone Facility
Rix Road Integrated Child Centre
Timbertop Integrated Child Centre
Family Centres and Children's Centres -  Community groups

Community room full day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 48.00 50.00 2.00 4.2%
Committee Room full day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 36.00 37.00 1.00 2.8%
Activity room (half room) full day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 36.00 37.00 1.00 2.8%
Community room half day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 24.00 25.00 1.00 4.2%
Committee room half day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 18.00 19.00 1.00 5.6%
Activity room (half room) half day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 18.00 19.00 1.00 5.6%

Family Centres and Children's Centres -  Not for profit
Community room full day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 84.00 87.00 3.00 3.6%
Committee room full day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 71.00 73.00 2.00 2.8%
Activity room (half room) full day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 71.00 73.00 2.00 2.8%
Consult room full day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 71.00 73.00 2.00 2.8%
Community Room half day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 42.00 43.00 1.00 2.4%
Committee Room half day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 36.00 37.00 1.00 2.8%
Activity room (half room) half day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 36.00 37.00 1.00 2.8%
Consult room half day Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 36.00 37.00 1.00 2.8%

Family Centres and Children's Centres - Private/for profit
Community room full day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 167.00 173.00 6.00 3.6%
Committee room full day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 142.00 147.00 5.00 3.5%
Activity room (half room) full day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 142.00 147.00 5.00 3.5%
Consult room full day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 142.00 147.00 5.00 3.5%
Community room half day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 84.00 87.00 3.00 3.6%
Committee room half day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 71.00 73.00 2.00 2.8%
Activity room (half room) half day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 71.00 73.00 2.00 2.8%
Consult room - half day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 71.00 73.00 2.00 2.8%

Planning and Design
Statutory Planning
Statutory Planning
Statutory Fees

For a declaration by the Council as to whether a matter specified on a permit to be 
carried out to the "satisfaction of the Council" has in fact been completed:-

Statutory Fee No 306.70 306.70 - -

Application for Permit

An application to develop land or to use and develop land for a single dwelling per lot 
or to undertake development ancillary to the use of the land for a single dwelling per lot 
if the estimated cost of development included in the application is:

Less than $10,000 Statutory Fee No 202.90 202.90 - -
$10,000 - $100,000 Statutory Fee No 638.80 638.80 - -
$100,000 - $500,000 Statutory Fee No 1,307.60              1,307.60              - -
$500,000 - $1,000,000 Statutory Fee No 1,412.80              1,412.80              - -
$1,000,000 - $2,000,000 Statutory Fee No 1,518.00              1,518.00              - -

VicSmart application:
Less than $10,000 Statutory Fee No 202.90 202.90 - -
More than $10,000 Statutory Fee No 435.90 435.90 - -

To subdivide or consolidate land:
To develop land (other than a class 2, 3, 7 or 8 or a permit to subdivide or consolidate  
land) if the estimated cost of development is:

Less than $100,000 Statutory Fee No 1,080.40              1,080.40              - -

To develop land (other than a class 4, 5, or 8 or a permit to subdivide or consolidate  
land) if the estimated cost of development is:

$100,000  - $1,000,000 Statutory Fee No 1,456.70              1,456.70              - -

To develop land (other than a class 4, 5, or 8 or a permit to subdivide or consolidate  
land) if the estimated cost of development is:

$1,000,001 - $5,000,000 Statutory Fee No 3,213.20              3,213.20              - -

To develop land (other than a class 8 or a permit to subdivide or consolidate  land) if 
the estimated cost of development is:

$5,000,000 - $15,000,000 Statutory Fee No 8,189.80              8,189.80              - -
$15,000,000 - $50,000,000 Statutory Fee No 24,151.10            24,151.10            - -
more than $50,000,000 Statutory Fee No 54,282.40            54,282.40            - -

Applications for Amendments to Permits No

An application to amend a permit to use the land if that amendment is to change the 
use for which the land may be used.

Statutory Fee No 1,337.70              1,337.70              - -
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An application to amend a permit (other than a permit to develop land or to use and 
develop land for a single dwelling per lot or to undertake development ancillary to the 
use of the land for a single dwelling per lot) - (a) to change the statement of what the 
permit allows; or (b) to change any or all of the conditions which apply to the permit; 
or (c) in any way not otherwise provided for in this regulation.

Statutory Fee No 1,337.70              1,337.70              - -

An application to amend a permit (other than a permit to subdivide land) to - (a) 
develop land for a single dwelling per lot; or (b) use and develop land for a single 
dwelling per lot; or (c) undertake development ancillary to the use of the land for a 
single dwelling per lot - if the estimated cost of any additional development to be 
permitted by the amendment is:

$10,000 or less Statutory Fee No 202.90 202.90 - -
>$10,000 - $100,000 Statutory Fee No 638.80 638.80 - -
>$100,000 - $500,000 Statutory Fee No 1,307.60              1,307.60              - -
>$500,000 - $2,000,000 Statutory Fee No 1,412.80              1,412.80              - -

An application to amend a permit originally assessed in accordance with VicSmart if 
the estimated cost of any additional development to be permitted by the amendment 
is:

$10,000 or less Statutory Fee No 202.90 202.90 - -
>$10,000 Statutory Fee No 435.90 435.90 - -

An application to amend a permit originally assessed in accordance with VicSmart to 
subdivide or consolidate land

Statutory Fee No 202.90 202.90 - -

Certificates of compliance Statutory Fee No 330.70 330.70 - -
Amendment of plans prior to certification Statutory Fee No 104.60 104.60 - -
Amendment of plans after certification Statutory Fee No 132.40 132.40 - -
An application to amend a permit to develop land, other than - (a) a permit to 
undertake development ancillary to the use of the land for a single dwelling per lot 
where the total estimated cost of the development originally permitted and the 
additional development to be permitted by the amendment is not more than 
$100,000; or (b) a permit to subdivide land; (c) or a permit originally assessed in 
accordance with VicSmart - if the estimated cost of any additional development to be 
permitted by the amendment is not more than $100,000 or less.

Statutory Fee No 1,080.40              1,080.40              - -

An application (other than a Class 4, Class 5 or Class 8 application or a permit to 
subdivide or consolidate land) to amend a permit if the estimated cost of any 
additional development to be permitted by the amendment is more than $100,000 
and not more than $1,000,000.

Statutory Fee No 1,456.70              1,456.70              - -

An application (other than a Clause 8 application or a permit to subdivide or 
consolidate land) to amend a permit if the estimated cost of any additional 
development to be permitted by the amendment is more than $5,000,000.

Statutory Fee No 3,213.20              3,213.20              - -

An application to amend a permit to - (a) subdivide an existing building; or (b) 
subdivide land into 2 or more lots (other than a Class 9 or Class 16 permit); or (3) 
effect a realignment of a common boundary between lots or to consolidate 2 or more 
lots (other than a Clause 9 permit).

Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -

An application to amend a permit to subdivide land (other than Clause 9, Class 16, 
Class 17 and Class 18) - per 100 lots created

Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -

An application to amend a permit to - (a) create, vary or remove a restriction within 
the meaning of the Subdivision Act 1988; or (b) create or remove a right of way; or 
(c) create, vary or remove an easement other than a right of way; or (d) vary or 
remove a condition in the nature of an easement (other than right of way) in a Crown 
grant.

Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -

Plan of subdivision (certification) Statutory Fee No 177.40 177.40 - -

Non-Statutory Fees
Planning Enquiries Non Statutory Fee Market price No 190.00 - (190.00) (100.0%)
Pre-Application Advice (Basic) Non Statutory Fee Market price No - - - -
Pre-Application Advice (Intermediate) Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 256.00 256.00 100.0%
Pre-Application Advice (Advanced) Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 550.00 550.00 100.0%
Planning Enquiries Non Statutory Fee Market price No 190.00 228.00 38.00 20.0%
Provide a copy of an endorsed plan Non Statutory Fee Market price No 170.00 204.00 34.00 20.0%
Extension of time to planning permit Non Statutory Fee Market price No 290.00 348.00 58.00 20.0%
Secondary Consent (VicSmart) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 202.90 243.00 40.10 19.8%

Secondary Consent Non Statutory Fee Market price No 560.00 672.00 112.00 20.0%
Advertising Fee (up to 10 notices) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 113.00 136.00 23.00 20.4%

Advertising Fee (11 to 20 notices) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 213.00 256.00 43.00 20.2%

Advertising Fee (over 21 notices) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 263.00 316.00 53.00 20.2%

Planning Certificate (Priority) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 69.00 83.00 14.00 20.3%
Additional sign Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 55.00 66.00 11.00 20.0%

Sign (one) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 235.00 282.00 47.00 20.0%
Section 173 Agreement Administration Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 300.00 360.00 60.00 20.0%
To Councils Satisfaction Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 180.00 216.00 36.00 20.0%
Reinspection Fee Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 300.00 360.00 60.00 20.0%

Growth Area Planning and Subdivisions
Growth Area Planning
Planning Scheme Amendment Stage 1

Planning Scheme Amendment Stage 1 Statutory Fee No 3,096.66              3,096.66              - -

Planning Scheme Amendment Stage 2
(i) up to and including 10 submissions which seek a change to an amendment and 
where necessary referring the submissions to a panel; or 

Statutory Fee No 15,347.82            15,347.82            - -

(ii) 11 to (and including) 20 submissions which seek a change to an amendment 
and where necessary referring the submissions to a panel; or

Statutory Fee No 30,665.59            30,665.59            - -

(iii)    Submissions that exceed 20 submissions which seek a change to an 
amendment, and where necessary referring the submissions to a panel; and 

Statutory Fee No 40,992.70            40,992.70            - -

b) providing assistance to a panel in accordance with section 158 of the Act; and Statutory Fee No 488.52 488.52 - -

c) making a submission to a panel appointed under Part 8 of the Act at a hearing 
referred to in section 24(b) of the Act; and

Statutory Fee No -

d) considering the panel's report in accordance with section 27 of the Act; and Statutory Fee No -

e) after considering submissions and the panel's report, abandoning the 
amendment.

Statutory Fee No -
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Planning Scheme Amendment Stage 3
Planning Scheme Amendment Stage 3 Statutory Fee No 488.52                 488.52                 - -

Planning Scheme Amendment Stage 4 -
Planning Scheme Amendment Stage 4 Statutory Fee No 488.52                 488.52                 - -

Planning Enforcement
Applications for Permits

An application for use only. Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -
An application to subdivide an existing building. Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -
An application to subdivide land into two lots Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -
To effect a realignment of a common boundary between lots or to consolidate two or 
more lots

Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -

An application to subdivide land - per 100 lots Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              -
An application to remove a restriction (within the meaning of the Subdivision Act 
1988) over land if the land has been used or developed for more than 2 years before 
the date of the applications in a manner which would have been lawful under the 
Planning and Environment Act 1987 but for the existence of the restriction.

Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -

An application to create, vary or remove a restriction within the meaning of the 
Subdivision Act 1988; or to create or remove a right of way

Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -

To create, vary or remove an easement other than a right of way; or to vary or 
remove a condition in the nature of an easement other than a right of way in a Crown 
grant

Statutory Fee No 1,240.70              1,240.70              - -

Governance, Facilities and Economy
Arts, Advocacy and Economy
Arts and Creative Industries
Cardinia Cultural Centre
Staff Recovery -

Technicians Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 60.00                   60.00                   - -
Ushers Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 45.00                   45.00                   - -

Ticketing fees
Ticket set Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 202.00                 202.00                 - -
Subsequent ticket sets Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 101.00                 101.00                 - -
Standard Booking fee Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 3.00                     3.00                     - -
Comp Ticket Booking fee Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 2.00                     2.00                     - -
Administration levy 3.5% on all EFTPOS and CC sales administered at Centre Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes

Amphitheatre
Amphitheatre hire Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 249.00                 258.00                 9.00 3.6%
3 Phase power - provision thereof Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 209.00                 216.00                 7.00 3.3%

CCC Theatre
Stage extension Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 524.00                 545.00                 21.00 4.0%
Orchestra Pit Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 359.00                 375.00                 16.00 4.5%
Main Auditorium (one performance, Max 8 hour hire) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 1,100.00              1,100.00              - -
Additional Performance - Same Day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 550.00                 550.00                 - -
Per hour charge Main Auditorium - over 8 hours per hour Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes -                       160.00                 160.00 100%
Rehearsal per hour between 8:30am - 11pm - No staff included (bookings over 8 
hours charged at additional main auditorium rate) *Min 5 hours, rate only available on 
separate date to main auditorium hire.

Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes -                       100.00                 100.00 100.0%

Lighting plot per hour between 8:30am - 11pm - No staff included *Min 2 hours, rate 
only available on separate date to main auditorium hire.

Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes -                       100.00                 100.00 100.0%

Dark Tenancy - per day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes -                       200.00                 200.00 100.0%
White light rehearsal per hour (includes 1 tech) - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 214.00                 -                       (214.00) (100.0%)

CCC Lakeview/Dance Room
Artists' Studios (Combined Room) 

8 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 525.00                 540.00                 15.00 2.9%
4 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 350.00                 360.00                 10.00 2.9%
Overflow - Studios/Lakeview Extra Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 120.00                 125.00                 5.00 4.2%
Overflow - Lakeview Room Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 270.00                 279.00                 9.00 3.3%

Lakeview Large Room
8 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 900.00                 930.00                 30.00 3.3%
4 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 600.00                 620.00                 20.00 3.3%

Lakeview Room
8 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 570.00                 585.00                 15.00 2.6%
4 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 380.00                 390.00                 10.00 2.6%

Lakeview Extra Room
8 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 525.00                 540.00                 15.00 2.9%
4 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 350.00                 360.00                 10.00 2.9%

Waterfront Room
8 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 315.00                 325.00                 10.00 3.2%
4 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 210.00                 215.00                 5.00 2.4%

Boardroom
8 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 165.00                 170.00                 5.00 3.0%
4 hours - Standard Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 110.00                 115.00                 5.00 4.5%

Governance
Governance and Property
Governance
Community Liability Insurance

Community Liability Insurance - for groups/individuals using Council facilities Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes 26.00                   27.00                   1.00 3.8%
Statutory fees applicable under FOI

Application Fee Statutory Fee No 30.10                   30.10                   - -
Photocopy charge Statutory Fee No 0.20                     0.20                     - -
Search Charge per hour or part thereof Statutory Fee No 22.22                   22.22                   - -
Supervision Charge $22.22 per hour charged per quarter hour Statutory Fee No 22.22                   22.22                   - -

Regulatory Services
Compliance Services
Animal Control
Statutory Fines

Animal-related fines Statutory Fine No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

Page 66 of 80

SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 26 JUNE 2023 ATTACHMENT 4.1.1.1

Special Council Meeting 26 June 2023 77



4% Adopted Proposed
2022-23 2023-24

Fee              
Classification

Pricing Method
(Non Statutory Fees only)

GST 
Applicable

$
(inc GST if applicable)

$
(incl GST if 
applicable)

$
Incr/(Decr)

%
Incr/(Decr)

2022/23 to 2023/24
Change

Non-Statutory Fees
Animal Register inspection fees Non Statutory Fee Market price No 42.00 43.00 1.00 2.4%
Animal Release Fee - Cat (as per contract) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 500.00 260.00 (240.00) (48.0%)
Animal Release Fee - Dog (as per contract) Non Statutory Fee Cost Recovery Price Yes 500.00 175.00 (325.00) (65.0%)
Permit - Animals - Excess numbers permit Non Statutory Fee Market price No 88.00 91.00 3.00 3.4%
Permit - Animals – application to Fence off nature strip for grazing Non Statutory Fee Market price No 184.00 190.00 6.00 3.3%
Permit - Animals – application to graze on nature strips Non Statutory Fee Market price No 184.00 190.00 6.00 3.3%
Bonds/deposits on anti barking collars, cat traps, and possum traps Non Statutory Fee Market price No 155.00 160.00 5.00 3.2%
Cat registration Non Statutory Fee No 138.00 143.00 5.00 3.6%
Daily Impound (Court hold only) as per contract (per day) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 45.00 47.75 2.75 6.1%
Dog registration of Dangerous / Restricted / Menacing Breed Non Statutory Fee Market price No 272.00 300.00 28.00 10.3%
Dog registration Non Statutory Fee Market price No 138.00 160.00 22.00 15.9%
Domestic animal businesses - Licence to operate breeding establishment Non Statutory Fee Market price No 549.00 568.00 19.00 3.5%
Dog registration - Member Canine Assoc (unsterilized) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 45.00 52.00 7.00 15.6%
Reduced registration Fee Cat - (microchipped, sterilised, 10 years of age plus) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 45.00 52.00 7.00 15.6%
Reduced registration fee Dog - (microchipped, sterilised, 10 years of age plus, 
working dog)

Non Statutory Fee Market price No 45.00 52.00 7.00 15.6%

Reduced registration Fee Sterilised Cat - Pensioner Non Statutory Fee Market price No 25.00 26.00 1.00 4.0%
Reduced registration fee Sterilised Dog - Pensioner Non Statutory Fee Market price No 25.00 26.00 1.00 4.0%
Reduced registration fee Unsterilized Cat - Pensioner Non Statutory Fee Market price No 70.00 80.00 10.00 14.3%
Reduced registration fee Unsterilized Dog - Pensioner Non Statutory Fee Market price No 70.00 80.00 10.00 14.3%
Livestock Impound fee (small and large animals) Non Statutory Fee market price No  Fees as charged 

by contractor 
 Fees as charged 

by contractor 
Livestock Sustenance large animal (cattle, horses) Non Statutory Fee market price No 16.00 17.00 1.00 6.3%
Livestock impound labour fee (business hours / out-of-business hours) as per officer 
hourly rate (per hour)

Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 44.00 46.00 2.00 4.5%

Livestock Sustenance small animal (pig, sheep) Non Statutory Fee market price No 13.00 13.00 - -
Stock Transportation as per contract Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes  Fees as charged 

by contractor 
 Fees as charged 

by contractor 
Surrender of animal Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 155.00 155.00 - -

Local Laws
Statutory Fines

Local Law Fines Statutory Fine No  As per CSC Local 
Laws 

 As per CSC Local 
Laws 

Parking Fines Statutory Fine No  As per CSC Local 
Laws 

 As per CSC Local 
Laws 

General Local Laws Fines Statutory Fine No  As per CSC Local 
Laws 

 As per CSC Local 
Laws 

Non-Statutory Fees
Abandoned Vehicle Release (as per contract) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes  As per contract  As per contract 
Permit Advertising Signs - A Frames Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%
Permit Advertising Signs - Real Estate Auction Boards (3 months) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 236.00 244.00 8.00 3.4%
Permit Advertising Signs, Flags overhanging roads-3 metres (3 months) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 236.00 244.00 8.00 3.4%
Permit Caravan/Motorhome Storage/Occupation Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%
Permit Charity bins Non Statutory Fee Market price No 79.00 82.00 3.00 3.8%
Commercial Bins Business use eg. restaurants, businesses in CBD per month Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%

Permit Community Temporary Advertising Signage Non Statutory Fee Market price 21.00 22.00 1.00 4.8%
Provide print copies of any local laws Non Statutory Fee Market price No 32.00 20.00 (12.00) (37.5%)
Permit - Footpath - Bali Flags Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%
Permit - Footpath - Display goods (per size) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%
Permit - Footpath - Table and Chairs - Fee per chair Non Statutory Fee Market price No 36.00 37.00 1.00 2.8%
Permit - Footpath - Table and Chairs - Fee per table Non Statutory Fee Market price No 57.00 59.00 2.00 3.5%
Permit - Footpath - Umbrella Non Statutory Fee Market price No 57.00 59.00 2.00 3.5%
Permit - Footpath - Windbreaker screen Non Statutory Fee Market price No 56.00 58.00 2.00 3.6%
Any other permit not otherwise mentioned Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%
Permit - Heavy Vehicle – on land under 0.8ha (2 acres) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%
Impounded Item Release Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 155.00 160.00 5.00 3.2%
Permit - Liquor - Consumption/Possession – within 500 metres of licensed premises Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%

Permit - Mobile Crane/Tower Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%
Permit - Real Estate Pointer Boards Non Statutory Fee Market price No 500.00 518.00 18.00 3.6%
Recreational Vehicles Non Statutory Fee Market price No 417.00 432.00 15.00 3.6%
Release of impounded recreational vehicle/monkey bike Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 358.00 371.00 13.00 3.6%
Permit - Roadside Trading (Highway Sites by Tender) - per day Non Statutory Fee Market price No 103.00 107.00 4.00 3.9%
Permit - roadside Trading (Highway Sites by Tender) - per year Non Statutory Fee Market price No 412.00 426.00 14.00 3.4%
Permit - Rubbish Containers - Skips Building Sites up to 3 months Non Statutory Fee Market price No 128.00 132.00 4.00 3.1%
Permit - Rubbish Containers - Skips residential 1- 7 days Non Statutory Fee Market price No 57.00 59.00 2.00 3.5%
Permit - Shipping container Non Statutory Fee Market price No 180.00 186.00 6.00 3.3%
Special Abandoned Vehicle Release as per contract (Heavy vehicles/Caravans) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes  As per terms of 

contract 
 As per terms of 

contract 
Permit - Street Stalls (inc. sausage sizzles) (No charge applicable to Community 
Groups) per day

Non Statutory Fee Market price No 56.00 58.00 2.00 3.6%

Vegetation/Firewood - removal/destruction per application Non Statutory Fee Market price No - - - -

Asset protection
Asset protection blanket bond Non Statutory Fee Market price No 10,500.00            10,500.00            - -
Asset protection bond Non Statutory Fee Market price No 1,150.00              1,190.00              40.00 3.5%
Asset Protection permit fee Non Statutory Fee Market price No 285.00 326.00 41.00 14.4%

Parking Enforcement
Parking fines Statutory Fine No  As per CSC Local 

Laws 
 As per CSC Local 

Laws 
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4% Adopted Proposed
2022-23 2023-24

Fee              
Classification

Pricing Method
(Non Statutory Fees only)

GST 
Applicable

$
(inc GST if applicable)

$
(incl GST if 
applicable)

$
Incr/(Decr)

%
Incr/(Decr)

2022/23 to 2023/24
Change

Development Services
Building Services
Statutory Fees

Note that Council charge the maximum statutory fee as set out in the Building 
Regulations 2006
Building Inspection Statutory Fee No 185.80 185.80 - -
Building Permit Lodgement (cost of building work $5,000 or more) Statutory Fee No 123.73 123.73 - -
Certificate of pool and spa barrier compliance lodgement Statutory Fee No 20.71 20.71 - -
Certificate of pool and spa barrier non-compliance Statutory Fee No 390.78 390.78 - -
Council Consent/Building over easement dispensation Statutory Fee No 294.76 294.76 - -
Council Consent/Land liable to flood/inundation dispensation Statutory Fee No 294.76 294.76 - -
Council Consent/Protection of the Public Statutory Fee No 299.12 299.12 - -
Council Consent/Siting dispensation Statutory Fee No 294.76 294.76 - -
Heritage/Demolition Consent (Section 29a) Statutory Fee No 86.48 86.48 - -
Property Information Request Statutory Fee No 47.91 47.91 - -
Community Infrastructure Levy - Cardinia Rd DCP Cell 1,2,3,5,6 Statutory Fee No 1,207.85              1,207.85              - -
Community Infrastructure Levy - Cardinia Rd DCP Cell 4 Statutory Fee No 687.15 687.15 - -
Community Infrastructure Levy - Officer Statutory Fee No 1,207.85              1,207.85              - -
Community Infrastructure Levy - Pakenham Statutory Fee No 687.15 687.15 - -

Professional services (Building surveyor) - per hour Statutory Fee No - 200.00 200.00 100.0%

Non-Statutory Fees
Occupancy Permits - Place of Public Entertainment (POPE) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 1,098.00              1,136.00              38.00 3.5%
Application to regularise non-compliant building

- Domestic building work/structure Non Statutory Fee Market price No 1,092.40 1,131.00              38.60 3.5%
- Commercial building work/structure Non Statutory Fee Market price No 1,600.00 1,656.00              56.00 3.5%

Temporary Public Structure Siting Non Statutory Fee Market price No 394.00 394.00 - -
Search fee - building permits, plans and documents Non Statutory Fee Market price No 27.00 27.00 - -
Retrieval and provision (PDF) of Plans Non Statutory Fee Market price No

- Domestic 92.50 96.00 3.50 3.8%
- Commercial 115.75 120.00 4.25 3.7%

Copy of Plans (printed copies) - in addition to retrieval Non Statutory Fee Market price No
- Domestic 10.25 11.00 0.75 7.3%
- Commercial 20.50 21.00 0.50 2.4%

Retrieval  and provision (PDF) of Documents Non Statutory Fee Market price No
- Domestic 92.50 96.00 3.50 3.8%
- Commercial 115.75 120.00 4.25 3.7%

Copy of Documents (printed copies) - in addition to retrieval Non Statutory Fee Market price No
- Domestic 10.25 11.00 0.75 7.3%
- Commercial 20.50 21.00 0.50 2.4%

Pool Registrations Fees
Pool/Spa registration fee Statutory Fee No 80.19 80.19 - -

Domestic Waste Water
Domestic Waste Water
Statutory Fees

Report and consent for septic tanks systems Statutory Fee Market price No 302.00 313.00 11.00 3.6%
Permit to construct/install/major alteration Statutory Fee Market price No   as per   As prescribed by 

State Government 
legislation 

- -

Permit for minor alteration Statutory Fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Construct, install or alter onsite wastewater management system (minimum fee, up to 
assessment of 8.2 hours) - Reg 196(1)(b)(2) 48.88 fee units

Statutory Fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Construct, install or alter onsite wastewater management system (additional fee per 
hour in excess of 8.2 hr assessment, up to 14.15 additional hours) Reg 196(1)(b)(2) - 
6.12 fee units per hour

Statutory Fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Construct, install or alter onsite wastewater management system (maximum fee 
135.43 fee units)

No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Minor alteration to onsite wastewater management system - Reg 196(1)(a)(3) (37.25 
fee units)

Statutory fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Transfer of permit - reg 197 (9.93 fee units) Statutory fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Amend a permit - reg 198) (10.38 fee units) Statutory fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Renew a permit - Reg 200 (8.31 fee units) Statutory fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Exemption - reg 199 - minimum fee for assessments up to 2.6 hrs - 14.67 fee units Statutory fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Exemption - reg 199 - fee per hour for assessment over 2.6 hrs - 5.94 fee units Statutory fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Exemption - reg 199 - maximum fee payable - 61.41 fee units Statutory fee Market price No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

- -

Statutory Fines
Infringements (Septic tanks) currently 5 penalty units as prescribed by State 
Government

Statutory Fine No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 
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4% Adopted Proposed
2022-23 2023-24

Fee              
Classification

Pricing Method
(Non Statutory Fees only)

GST 
Applicable

$
(inc GST if applicable)

$
(incl GST if 
applicable)

$
Incr/(Decr)

%
Incr/(Decr)

2022/23 to 2023/24
Change

Non-Statutory Fees
Reissue Septic permit Non Statutory Fee Market price No 77.00 80.00 3.00 3.9%
Septic Tank written advice Non Statutory Fee Market price No 77.00 80.00 3.00 3.9%

Emergency Management
Fire Prevention
Statutory Fines

Fail to Comply with a Notice (Fire Prevention Notice) Statutory Fine No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

Non-Statutory Fees
Health
Food Act
Statutory Fines

Infringements (Food Act 1984 and Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008) as 
prescribed by State Government

Statutory Fee No  As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

 As prescribed by 
State Government 

legislation 

Non-Statutory Fees
Food Act Registered Premises

Class 1  (includes one routine inspection and assessment of audit) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 600.00 - (600.00) (100.0%)
Class 2  (includes one routine inspection and compliance check) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 600.00 - (600.00) (100.0%)
Class 3  (home based business, low risk) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 210.00 - (210.00) -
Class 3  (includes one routine inspection) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 329.00 - (329.00) (100.0%)
Class 3 Minor Community Group (Food served 1 day a week and less than 100 
members)

Non Statutory Fee Market price No 131.00 - (131.00) (100.0%)

Audit fees - rate per hour. Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 95.00 - (95.00) (100.0%)
Fee for inspections pursuant to S.19 UA (per hour, Class 1, 2 and 3 premises) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 95.00 - (95.00) (100.0%)
* Registration fee each additional effective full-time employee greater than 5. Non Statutory Fee Market price No 31.00 - (31.00) (100.0%)
Maximum Fee (greater than 75 effective full time employees) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 2,647.00              - (2,647.00) (100.0%)
Class 1 and 2 (Temporary or mobile Food Premises) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 599.00 - (599.00) (100.0%)
Class 1 and 2 (Temporary or mobile Food Premises) Not for Profit organisation Non Statutory Fee Market price No 72.00 - (72.00) (100.0%)
Class 3 (Temporary or mobile Food Premises) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 330.00 - (330.00) (100.0%)
Class 3 (Temporary or mobile Food Premises) Not for Profit organisation Non Statutory Fee Market price No 46.00 - (46.00) (100.0%)
Class 3 - Vending machine Non Statutory Fee Market price No 330.00 - (330.00) (100.0%)
School canteen - Not for Profit Non Statutory Fee Market price No 131.00 - (131.00) (100.0%)
Class 1 Registration – New Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 1,005.00 1,005.00 100.0%
Class 1 Registration – Renewal Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 673.00 673.00 100.0%
Class 2 Registration – New Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 921.00 921.00 100.0%
Class 2 Registration – Renewal Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 617.00 617.00 100.0%
Class 2 Registration – Supermarket, large convenience, fast food or manufacture - 
new

Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 1,300.00 1,300.00 100.0%

Class 2 Registration – Supermarket, large convenience, fast food or manufacture – 
Renewal

Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 870.00 870.00 100.0%

Class 2 Registration – Mobile Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 384.00 384.00 100.0%
Class 3 Registration – New Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 532.00 532.00 100.0%
Class 3 Registration – Renewal Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 356.00 356.00 100.0%
Class 3 Registration – Mobile Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 220.00 220.00 100.0%
Class 3 - low risk home based business (registered prior to 30 June 2023) Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 220.00 220.00 100.0%
Class 3 - Minor Community Group (Food served 1 day a week and less than 100 
members, registered prior to 30 June 2023)

Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 140.00 140.00 100.0%

School canteen - Not for Profit, registered prior to 30 June 2023) Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 140.00 140.00 100.0%
Class 3A- ShortStay Accommodation Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 550.00 550.00 100.0%
Class 3A- Hot food processing Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 550.00 550.00 100.0%
Temporary Food Premises Registration (Class 2 & 3) – New Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 180.00 180.00 100.0%
Temporary Food Premises Registration (Class 2 & 3) – Renewal Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 90.00 90.00 100.0%
Registration of Temporary component against Fixed food premises Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 150.00 150.00 100.0%
Food Vending Machine Registration (Class 2 & 3) – New & Renewal Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 330.00 330.00 100.0%
Please note: all new registrations will be charged pro-rata per month depending after 
1st July. Also the next 12-month registration fee will be added to that (current period) 
pro-rata fee

Non Statutory Fee Market price No - - 100.0%

Failed sample result – 2nd and subsequent sampling Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 225.00 225.00 100.0%
Fee for inspections pursuant to s. 19UA (per hour, all classes) Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 123.00 123.00 100.0%
Professional services (Environmental Health Officer, per hour) Non Statutory Fee Market price No - 123.00 123.00 100.0%

PHWBA and Food Act premises
Food Act Premises Establishment and PHWBA Fee Non Statutory Fee Market price No  50% Annual Fee -   
Inspection requests from Solicitors or proposed proprietors Express 2 day Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 364.00 - (364.00) (100.0%)
Inspection requests from Solicitors or proposed proprietors Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 243.00 - (243.00) (100.0%)
Pre application Site Consultation (per hour) Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 95.00 - (95.00) (100.0%)
After 1st July the Registration Fee will be 50% of the annual fee (plus the 
establishment fee).

Non Statutory Fee Market price No 50% Annual Fee - 

After 1st Oct the Registration Fee will be 25% of the annual fee (plus the 
establishment fee)

Non Statutory Fee Market price No 25% Annual Fee - 

Health Act
Statutory Fees

Caravan Parks - per fee Statutory Fee No 14.81 14.81 -
Transfer of Caravan Park Registration  currently 5 fee units Statutory Fee No 75.16 75.16 - -
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4% Adopted Proposed
2022-23 2023-24

Fee              
Classification

Pricing Method
(Non Statutory Fees only)

GST 
Applicable

$
(inc GST if applicable)

$
(incl GST if 
applicable)

$
Incr/(Decr)

%
Incr/(Decr)

2022/23 to 2023/24
Change

Non-Statutory Fees
Prescribed accommodation - Registration renewal (4-10 persons) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 185.00                 -                       (185.00) (100.0%)
Prescribed accommodation - Registration renewal  (11-20 persons) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 279.00                 -                       (279.00) (100.0%)
Prescribed accommodation -  Registration renewal (21-30 persons) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 380.00                 -                       (380.00) (100.0%)
Prescribed accommodation - Registration renewal  (more than 30 persons) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 482.00                 -                       (482.00) (100.0%)
Ongoing Registration of low risk beauty premises Non Statutory Fee Market price No 338.00                 -                       (338.00) (100.0%)
Registration of public swimming pools/spas Non Statutory Fee Market price No 329.00                 -                       (329.00) (100.0%)
Registration of public swimming pools/spas - per each additional pool or spa Non Statutory Fee Market price No 125.00                 -                       (125.00) (100.0%)
Registration fee high risk beauty premises - Skin Penetration, tattooing, colonic 
irrigation.

Non Statutory Fee Market price No 252.00                 -                       (252.00) (100.0%)

Registration fee medium risk beauty premises - Beauty, waxing, threading, facials, 
nails, eyelash extensions, tinting,

Non Statutory Fee Market price No 236.00                 -                       (236.00) (100.0%)

Transfer of Registration (Health Act premises) Non Statutory Fee Market price No 50% Annual Fee -                       
Registration – New High Risk Premises Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       450.00                 450.00 100.0%
Registration – Renewal High Risk Premises Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       300.00                 300.00 100.0%
Registration – New Med Risk Premises Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       350.00                 350.00 100.0%
Registration – Renewal Med Risk Premises Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       250.00                 250.00 100.0%
Registration – One-off Hairdressers Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       399.00                 399.00 100.0%
Registration/Renewal of Rooming House (4-10 Persons) Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       344.00                 344.00 100.0%
Registration/Renewal of Rooming House (11-20 Persons) Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       418.00                 418.00 100.0%
Registration/Renewal of Rooming House (21-30 Persons) Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       500.00                 500.00 100.0%
Registration/Renewal of Rooming House (31-40 Persons) Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       700.00                 700.00 100.0%
Registration/Renewal of Rooming House (>40 Persons) Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       900.00                 900.00 100.0%
Registration/Renewal of Prescribed Accommodation (General) Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       580.00                 580.00 100.0%
Transfer of Health, Rooming House or Aquatic Facility registration (excluding one-off 
Hairdressers)

Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       315.00                 315.00 100.0%

Registration – New Application / Renewal Category 1 Aquatic facility Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       360.00                 360.00 100.0%
Registration - each additional pool or spa on the premises Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       140.00                 140.00 100.0%
Aquatic facility compliance inspection Non Statutory Fee Market price No -                       284.00                 284.00 100.0%

Customer, People and Performance
Finance
Finance Management
Finance Management

Credit card surcharge Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 0.59% to 0.80% 0.59% to 0.80%

Rates and Revenue Services
Rates and Property Services
Statutory Fees

Land information certificates (statutory fee) Statutory Fee No 27.80                   27.80                   - -

Non-Statutory Fees -
Copy of Rates Notice/Rates Search Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 12.00                   12.50                   0.50 4.2%

Information Services
Information Services
Information Services
Geographic Information System maps

Setup fee per map Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 60.00                   62.00                   2.00 3.3%
A0 (per map) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 67.00                   69.00                   2.00 3.0%
A1 (per map) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 46.00                   48.00                   2.00 4.3%
A2 (per map) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 30.00                   31.00                   1.00 3.3%
A3 Plotter (per map) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 21.00                   22.00                   1.00 4.8%

Plan printing charges (per copy)
SHIRE PLAN (AO) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 39.00                   40.00                   1.00 2.6%
A0 SIZE PLAN Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 25.00                   26.00                   1.00 4.0%
A1 SIZE PLAN Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 14.00                   14.00                   - -
PLAN OF SUBDIVISION (A3) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 5.00                     5.00                     - -
A4 PHOTOCOPIES Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 1.00                     1.00                     - -
Multiple Copies (10+) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 1.00                     1.00                     - -

Infrastructure and Environment
Community Infrastructure Delivery
Community Infrastructure
Engineering Services
Development

Drainage Levy Statutory Fee No   Set in 
accordance with 

Melbourne Water 
Area Drainage 

Levies 

  Set in 
accordance with 

Melbourne Water 
Area Drainage 

Levies 
Engineering Services

Application For Works Within Road Reserve Inspection Fee not on Road Statutory Fee No 88.04                   88.04                   - -
Application For Works Within Road Reserve Inspection Fee on Road Statutory Fee No 136.16                 136.16                 - -
Working Within Road Reserve Permit - works conducted on, or any part of, the 
roadway, shoulder, or pathway (minor works)

Statutory Fee No 144.36                 144.36                 - -

Working Within Road Reserve Permit - works not conducted on, or any part of, the 
roadway, shoulder, or pathway

Statutory Fee No 63.00                   63.00                   - -

Infrastructure Services
Development
Landscape Development
Statutory Fees

Landscape design checking Statutory Fee No  0.75% of 
estimated cost 

 0.75% of 
estimated cost 

- -

Supervision of private landscape works Statutory Fee No  2.5% of actual 
cost 

 2.5% of actual 
cost 

Non-Statutory Fees
Tree planting Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 425.00                 425.00                 - -

Development
Statutory Fees

Design checking Statutory Fee No  0.75% of 
estimated cost 

 0.75% of 
estimated cost 

- -

Supervision of private works Statutory Fee No  2.5% of actual 
cost 

 2.5% of actual 
cost 

- -

Street Occupation (Hoarding) Permit - Less than 100m2 - Per month Statutory Fee No 500.00                 $518
Street Occupation (Hoarding) Permit - 101m2 - 500m2 - Per month Statutory Fee No 750.00                 $776
Street Occupation (Hoarding) Permit - Over 500m2 - Per month Statutory Fee No 1,000.00              $1,035
Stormwater discharge points (LPD - legal point of discharge) Statutory Fee No  as per statutory 

fee 
 as per statutory 

fee 
- -
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%
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2022/23 to 2023/24
Change

Build over Easement Statutory Fee No  as per statutory 
fee 

 as per statutory 
fee 

- -

Non-Statutory Fees
Build Over Easement - S173 processing fee Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 540.00  559.00 19.00 3.5%

Drainage plan checking fees - 1 to 2 houses Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 150.00 155.00 5.00 -
Drainage plan checking fees - 3 to 10 houses Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 300.00 311.00 11.00 -
Drainage plan checking fees - 11-plus houses Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 500.00 518.00 18.00 -
Drainage plan checking fees - Industrial/Commercial Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 400.00 414.00 14.00 -
Drainage/stormwater inspection Non Statutory Fee Market price Yes 150.00 155.00 5.00 -

General Garbage Charge
Garbage Collection

Litter and Waste Amenity Charge Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 140.00 150.00 10.00 7.1%
Community Event Bin Service Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 70.00 70.00 - -

Hard and Green Waste Contract
Additional Bundled Branch option - Green and Hard Waste service (being trialled) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 75.00 75.00 - -

Garbage Rate Revenue
Commercial Waste service Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 356.80 - (356.80) (100.0%)
Commercial Garbage (1 x 120L garbage bin) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes - 266.00 266.00 100.0%
Commercial Recycling (1 x 240L recycling bin) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes - 112.00 112.00 100.0%
Residential Garbage (1 x 120L garbage bin and 1 recycling bin) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 326.80 348.60 21.80 6.7%
Residential Garbage (1 x 80L garbage bin and 1 recycling bin) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 296.80 318.60 21.80 7.3%
Additional Commercial Garbage Bin Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 280.00 280.00 - -
Additional Residential Garbage Bin (120 litre bin only) Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 230.00 230.00 - -
Additional Commercial Recycling Bin Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price Yes 112.00 112.00 - -
Additional Residential Recycling Service Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 90.00 90.00 - -

Green Waste
Green Waste Bin

Green Waste Service 240L Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 129.00 133.20 4.20 3.3%
Green Waste Service 120L Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 99.00 103.20 4.20 4.2%
Commercial Green Waste Service 240L Non Statutory Fee Full Cost Recovery Price No 150.00 153.20 3.20 2.1%

Operations
Parks and Gardens Operations
Dangerous Tree Removal

Arborist reports for private property planning applications Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes
 - for report and up to the first five trees 400.00 414.00 14.00 3.5%
 - for each additional tree over five trees 60.00 62.00 2.00 3.3%

Assessment of hazardous trees on private property Non Statutory Fee Subsidised Price Yes
 - for the first tree 200.00 207.00 7.00 3.5%
 - for each additional tree 87.00 90.00 3.00 3.4%
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6.2 Fees and charges schedule - Sports & Aquatics

3 50%

Including   
GST

Excluding 
GST

Including   
GST

Excluding 
GST

Including   
GST $

Including   
GST %

Cardinia Life
Aquatics (Casual)
Adult Rec Swim $7.60 $6.91 $7.90 $7.18 $0.30 3.9%
Child Rec Swim $6.30 $5.73 $6.50 $5.91 $0.20 3.2%
Concession Rec Swim $6.30 $5.73 $6.50 $5.91 $0.20 3.2%
Family Rec Swim $20.60 $18.55 $21.30 $19.36 $0.70 3.4%
Spectator $2.00 $1.82 $2.10 $1.91 $0.10 5.0%

Casual Health Club $17.90 $16.18 $18.50 $16.82 $0.60 3.4%
Casual Health Club (Concession) $17.90 $16.18 $18.50 $16.82 $0.60 3.4%

Group Fitness
Aqua Aerobics $16.80 $15.18 $17.40 $15.82 $0.60 3.6%
Aqua Aerobics (Concession) $13.50 $12.27 $14.00 $12.73 $0.50 3.7%

Group Fitness $16.80 $15.18 $17.40 $15.82 $0.60 3.6%
Group Fitness (Concession) $13.50 $12.27 $14.00 $12.73 $0.50 3.7%
Group Fitness Virtual $10.00 $9.09 $10.40 $9.45 $0.40 4.0%

Older Adults Programs
Aqua Movers $8.60 $7.82 $8.90 $8.09 $0.30 3.5%
Gentle Exercise $8.60 $7.82 $8.90 $8.09 $0.30 3.5%

Memberships
Health and Wellness Membership Fortnightly Fee $48.00 $43.36 $49.70 $45.18 $1.70 3.5%
Health and Wellness Membership Start-up Fee $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%
Health and Wellness Commitment Membership Start-up Fee $29.00 $26.36 $30.00 $27.27 $1.00 3.4%

Health and Wellness Membership (Concession) Fortnightly Fee $38.80 $35.00 $40.20 $36.55 $1.40 3.6%
Health and Wellness Membership (Concession) Start-up Fee $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%

Health and Wellness Membership (Concession/Restricted) Fortnightly $31.00 $28.00 $32.10 $29.18 $1.10 3.5%
Health and Wellness Membership (Concession/Restricted) Start-up $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%

Health and Wellness Membership (Family) Fortnightly Fee $38.80 $35.00 $40.20 $36.55 $1.40 3.6%
Health and Wellness Membership (Family) Start-up Fee $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%

Health and Wellness Membership (Concession / Family) Fortnightly $31.00 $28.00 $32.10 $29.18 $1.10 3.5%
Health and Wellness Membership (Concession / Family) Start-up Fee $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%

Aquatic Membership Fortnightly Fee $31.00 $28.00 $32.10 $29.18 $1.10 3.5%
Aquatic Membership Start-up Fee $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%
Aquatic Commitment Membership Start-up Fee $29.00 $26.36 $30.00 $27.27 $1.00 3.4%

Aquatic Membership Fortnightly Fee (Concession) $24.80 $22.36 $25.70 $23.36 $0.90 3.6%
Aquatic Membership Start-up Fee (Concession) $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%

Aquatic Membership Fortnightly Fee (Family) $24.80 $22.36 $25.70 $23.36 $0.90 3.6%
Aquatic Membership Start-up Fee (Family) $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%

Aquatic Membership Fortnightly Fee (Concession & Family) $19.80 $17.82 $20.50 $18.64 $0.70 3.5%
Aquatic Membership Start-up Fee (Concession & Family) $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%

Pryme Mover Membership (Restricted) Fortnightly Fee $31.00 $28.00 $32.10 $29.18 $1.10 3.5%
Pryme Mover Membership (Restricted) Start-up Fee $99.00 $90.00 $102.50 $93.18 $3.50 3.5%

Aquatic Education Membership Fortnightly Fee Month by Month  $44.80 $46.40 $1.60 3.6%
Aquatic Education Membership Fortnightly Fee Month by Month   
(School Age - Adult Sibling Discount)

$42.50 $44.00 $1.50 3.5%

Aquatic Education Membership UPFRONT TERM FEE (per class - $26.30 $27.20 $0.90 3.4%

Aquatic Education Membership Fortnightly Fee Month by Month  (Pre $40.20 $41.60 $1.40 3.5%
Aquatic Education Membership Fortnightly Fee Month by Month  (Pre 
School Age - Sibling Discount)

$38.20 $39.50 $1.30 3.4%

Aquatic Education Membership UPFRONT TERM FEE (per class - Pre $23.20 $24.00 $0.80 3.4%

Aquatic Education Membership Fortnightly Fee  month by  month (Pre $54.30 $56.20 $1.90 3.5%

Adopted Proposed 2022/23 to 2023/24

This schedule presents the fees and charges of a statutory/non-statutory nature which will be charged in respect to various goods and services 
during the financial year 2023/24.
Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in 
Council's policy or legislation.

2022/23 2023/24 Change
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6.2 Fees and charges schedule - Sports & Aquatics

3 50%

Including   
GST

Excluding 
GST

Including   
GST

Excluding 
GST

Including   
GST $

Including   
GST %

Adopted Proposed 2022/23 to 2023/24

This schedule presents the fees and charges of a statutory/non-statutory nature which will be charged in respect to various goods and services 
during the financial year 2023/24.
Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in 
Council's policy or legislation.

2022/23 2023/24 Change

Aquatic Education UPFRONT TERM FEE (per class - Pre Squad) $32.60 $33.70 $1.10 3.4%

Aquatic Education Membership Fortnightly Fee month by month $63.80 $66.00 $2.20 3.4%
Aquatic Education Membership UPFRONT TERM FEE (per class - $38.00 $39.30 $1.30 3.4%

Aquatic Education Membership Fortnightly Fee month by month  $81.20 $84.00 $2.80 3.4%
Aquatic Education Membership UPFRONT TERM FEE (per class - $44.70 $46.30 $1.60 3.6%

Aquatic Education Membership Fortnightly Fee month by month  
(Access & Inclusion)

$53.20 $55.10 $1.90 3.6%

Aquatic Education Membership UPFRONT TERM FEE (per class - 
Access & Inclusion)

$31.60 $32.70 $1.10 3.5%

Personal Training (Average Fee) - 1/2 hour session per fortnight $38.80 $35.00 $40.20 $36.55 $1.40 3.6%

Schools - Aquatic 
Aquatic Education (1:6) - Per Participant $9.20 $8.36 $9.50 $8.64 $0.30 3.3%
Aquatic Education (1:7) - Per Participant $8.90 $8.09 $9.20 $8.36 $0.30 3.4%
Aquatic Education (1:8) - Per Participant $8.60 $7.82 $8.90 $8.09 $0.30 3.5%
Aquatic Education (1:9) - Per Participant $8.30 $7.45 $8.60 $7.82 $0.30 3.6%
Aquatic Education (1:10) - Per Participant $8.00 $7.18 $8.30 $7.55 $0.30 3.8%
Kinder Group $14.30 $12.91 $14.80 $13.45 $0.50 3.5%
Homes School $16.00 $14.18 $16.60 $15.09 $0.60 3.8%
Carnival Hire $875.00 $789.27 $905.60 $823.27 $30.60 3.5%

Stadium
Door Entry 
Casual Stadium Participant $5.00 $4.27 $5.20 $4.73 $0.20 4.0%

Basketball - Junior Teamsheet $73.50 $66.18 $76.10 $69.18 $2.60 3.5%
Basketball - Senior Teamsheet $81.50 $73.64 $84.40 $76.73 $2.90 3.6%
Basketball - VBA Teamsheet
Basketball - Junior Registration $60.00 $52.18 $62.10 $56.45 $2.10 3.5%
Basketball - Senior Registration $88.00 $76.91 $91.10 $82.82 $3.10 3.5%
Late Registration Fee $25.00 $22.73 $25.90 $23.55 $0.90 3.6%

Average Referee Fee per game (Junior) $18.00 $16.82 $18.60 $16.91 $0.60 3.3%
Average Referee Fee per game (Senior) $20.50 $19.18 $21.20 $19.27 $0.70 3.4%
Average Referee Fee per game (VBA) $19.60 $18.27 $20.30 $18.45 $0.70 3.6%

Netball - Junior Teamsheet $73.50 $66.18 $76.10 $69.18 $2.60 3.5%
Netball - Senior Teamsheet $81.50 $73.64 $84.40 $76.73 $2.90 3.6%
Netball - Senior Teamsheet (Midweek Competition) $81.50 $73.64 $84.40 $76.73 $2.90 3.6%
Netball - Junior Registration $58.50 $52.18 $60.50 $55.00 $2.00 3.4%
Netball - Senior Registration $84.50 $76.00 $87.50 $79.55 $3.00 3.6%
Netball - Average Junior VNA payment $53.20 $48.00 $55.10 $50.09 $1.90 3.6%
Netball - Average Senior VNA payment $53.20 $48.00 $55.10 $50.09 $1.90 3.6%
Late Registration Fee $25.00 $23.36 $25.90 $23.55 $0.90 3.6%

Average Umpire Fee per game (Junior) $18.00 $16.82 $18.60 $16.91 $0.60 3.3%
Average Umpire Fee per game (Senior) $22.30 $20.82 $23.10 $21.00 $0.80 3.6%

Floorball / /Soccer / Volleyball - Teamsheet $79.00 $73.64 $81.80 $74.36 $2.80 3.5%
Floorball / Soccer / Volleyball Registration $81.50 $76.00 $84.40 $76.73 $2.90 3.6%

Average Floorball / Soccer / Volleyball Referee Fee per game $18.50 $17.27 $19.10 $17.36 $0.60 3.2%

Childcare - Members $10.65 $7.09 $11.00 $10.00 $0.35 3.3%
Childcare - Casuals $12.10 $8.09 $12.50 $11.36 $0.40 3.3%

$Childcare - Members (Occasional) $10.65 $7.09 $11.00 $10.00 $0.35 3.3%
Childcare - Casuals (Occasional) $14.70 $9.82 $15.20 $13.82 $0.50 3.4%

Children Birthday Parties (per participant) - Option A $30.80 $27.82 $31.90 $29.00 $1.10 3.6%
Children Birthday Parties (per participant) - Option B $31.80 $28.73 $32.90 $29.91 $1.10 3.5%
Children Birthday Parties (per participant) - Option C $33.00 $29.73 $34.20 $31.09 $1.20 3.6%
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6.2 Fees and charges schedule - Sports & Aquatics

3 50%

Including   
GST

Excluding 
GST

Including   
GST

Excluding 
GST

Including   
GST $

Including   
GST %

Adopted Proposed 2022/23 to 2023/24

This schedule presents the fees and charges of a statutory/non-statutory nature which will be charged in respect to various goods and services 
during the financial year 2023/24.
Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in 
Council's policy or legislation.

2022/23 2023/24 Change

Court Rental - Teams $43.50 $39.27 $45.00 $40.91 $1.50 3.4%
Court Rental - Badminton $23.60 $21.27 $24.40 $22.18 $0.80 3.4%
Court Rental - Regular $60.80 $54.91 $62.90 $57.18 $2.10 3.5%
Court Rental - Casual $67.00 $60.64 $69.30 $63.00 $2.30 3.4%

Facility Rental $59.00 $53.18 $61.10 $55.55 $2.10 3.6%
Lane Hire $40.80 $36.73 $42.20 $38.36 $1.40 3.4%

Officer Community Hub
Court Hire Casual
Regular $47.40 $42.73 $49.10 $44.64 $1.70 3.6%
Casual $58.90 $53.18 $61.00 $55.45 $2.10 3.6%

Function 
Room Community Rate / hr $47.40 $42.73 $49.10 $44.64 $1.70 3.6%

Pakenham Regional Tennis Centre
Court Hire Casual
M-F No Lights $23.70 $21.36 $24.50 $22.27 $0.80 3.4%
M-F Lights $29.70 $26.82 $30.70 $27.91 $1.00 3.4%
WE No Lights $29.70 $26.82 $30.70 $27.91 $1.00 3.4%
WE Lights $35.50 $32.00 $36.70 $33.36 $1.20 3.4%
Racquet $4.00 $3.64 $4.10 $3.73 $0.10 2.5%
Ball $3.00 $2.73 $3.10 $2.82 $0.10 3.3%

Court Hire Members
M-F No Lights $14.20 $12.82 $14.70 $13.36 $0.50 3.5%
M-F Lights $20.00 $18.00 $20.70 $18.82 $0.70 3.5%
WE No Lights $14.20 $12.91 $14.70 $13.36 $0.50 3.5%
WE Lights $20.00 $18.00 $20.70 $18.82 $0.70 3.5%
Club and School Court Hire (2 hours or less) $13.80 $12.55 $14.30 $13.00 $0.50 3.6%
Club and School Court Hire (2 - 4 hours) $21.70 $19.73 $22.50 $20.45 $0.80 3.7%
Tournament Court Hire (all day) $44.50 $40.18 $46.10 $41.91 $1.60 3.6%
Tournament Light Hire $13.30 $12.09 $13.80 $12.55 $0.50 3.8%
Racquet $3.80 $3.45 $3.90 $3.55 $0.10 2.6%
Ball $2.70 $2.45 $2.80 $2.55 $0.10 3.7%
Guest Fee $5.80 $5.27 $6.00 $5.45 $0.20 3.4%
Full Access Light Fee $9.50 $8.55 $9.80 $8.91 $0.30 3.2%
Full Access 12 Month Light Fee Per Year $111.00 $100.18 $114.90 $104.45 $3.90 3.5%

Equipment
Used Tennis Balls $5.80 $5.27 $6.00 $5.45 $0.20 3.4%

Membership
Family $472.00 $425.91 $488.50 $444.09 $16.50 3.5%
Single $213.00 $192.00 $220.50 $200.45 $7.50 3.5%
Concession $153.00 $138.45 $158.40 $144.00 $5.40 3.5%
Junior $119.00 $107.18 $123.20 $112.00 $4.20 3.5%

Program Costs
Tennis Hot Shots (Blue / Red) $11.60 $10.45 $12.00 $10.91 $0.40 3.4%
Tennis Hot Shots (Orange / Green) $13.60 $12.36 $14.10 $12.82 $0.50 3.7%
Hot Shot Match Play $11.60 $10.45 $12.00 $10.91 $0.40 3.4%
Hot Shots Squad $11.60 $10.45 $12.00 $10.91 $0.40 3.4%
BDTA Squad $11.60 $10.45 $12.00 $10.91 $0.40 3.4%
Youth Group Coaching $17.30 $15.73 $17.90 $16.27 $0.60 3.5%
Girls Squad $13.80 $12.55 $14.30 $13.00 $0.50 3.6%
Adult Beginners Coaching $17.30 $15.73 $17.90 $16.27 $0.60 3.5%
Holiday Program (Half Day) $34.40 $31.18 $35.60 $32.36 $1.20 3.5%
Holiday Program (Full Day) $57.00 $51.55 $59.00 $53.64 $2.00 3.5%
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6.2 Fees and charges schedule - Sports & Aquatics

3 50%
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GST

Including   
GST $
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Adopted Proposed 2022/23 to 2023/24

This schedule presents the fees and charges of a statutory/non-statutory nature which will be charged in respect to various goods and services 
during the financial year 2023/24.
Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in 
Council's policy or legislation.

2022/23 2023/24 Change

School Coaching Fee $57.00 $51.55 $59.00 $53.64 $2.00 3.5%
Wheelchair Tennis $11.60 $10.45 $12.00 $10.91 $0.40 3.4%
Cardio Tennis $13.80 $12.55 $14.30 $13.00 $0.50 3.6%
Outlook Coaching $6.00 $5.18 $6.50 $5.91 $0.50 8.3%
Schools Coaching (Coach per hour) $67.00 $60.64 $69.30 $63.00 $2.30 3.4%
Fast 4 Tennis $13.60 $12.36 $14.10 $12.82 $0.50 3.7%
Doubles $11.60 $10.45 $12.00 $10.91 $0.40 3.4%
Red Ball Comp $57.00 $51.55 $59.00 $53.64 $2.00 3.5%
Private 30 minutes $34.40 $31.18 $35.60 $32.36 $1.20 3.5%
Private 45 minutes $51.50 $46.64 $53.30 $48.45 $1.80 3.5%
Private 60 minutes $68.50 $62.00 $70.90 $64.45 $2.40 3.5%
Social $11.60 $10.45 $12.00 $10.91 $0.40 3.4%

Function Room Hire
5 hour base rate (includes 2 staff, security additional) $1,235.00 $1,113.55 $1,278.20 $1,162.00 $43.20 3.5%
Full Room Meeting Rate / h $86.30 $77.82 $89.30 $81.18 $3.00 3.5%
Half Room Meeting Rate / h $61.20 $55.45 $63.30 $57.55 $2.10 3.4%
Full Room Party Hire Rate / h $111.00 $100.18 $114.90 $104.45 $3.90 3.5%
Half Room Party Hire Rate / h $77.50 $69.91 $80.20 $72.91 $2.70 3.5%

Coaching
Average Fee $69.00 $62.45 $71.40 $64.91 $2.40 3.5%

Tournaments
Entry Fee $47.00 $42.64 $48.60 $44.18 $1.60 3.4%

Outdoor Pools
Aquatic Entry 
Adult Rec Swim $5.80 $5.27 $6.00 $5.45 $0.20 3.4%
Child Rec Swim $4.90 $4.45 $5.10 $4.64 $0.20 4.1%
Concession Rec Swim $4.90 $4.45 $5.10 $4.64 $0.20 4.1%
Family Rec Swim $18.00 $16.36 $18.60 $16.91 $0.60 3.3%
Spectator $2.00 $1.91 $2.10 $1.91 $0.10 5.0%

Season Passes
Adult $136.00 $123.00 $140.80 $128.00 $4.80 3.5%
Concession/Child $113.00 $102.18 $117.00 $106.36 $4.00 3.5%
Family $315.00 $283.27 $326.00 $296.36 $11.00 3.5%
25 Visit Pass - Adult $107.00 $96.45 $110.70 $100.64 $3.70 3.5%
25 Visit Pass - Child $85.90 $77.64 $88.90 $80.82 $3.00 3.5%

Facility Hire
Carnival Hire - Full Day $789.00 $712.91 $816.60 $742.36 $27.60 3.5%
Carnival Hire - Half Day $383.00 $346.64 $396.40 $360.36 $13.40 3.5%
Lane Hire (per hour) $35.50 $32.18 $36.70 $33.36 $1.20 3.4%
Lane Hire (paid individually, minimum 10 people) $9.00 $8.18 $9.30 $8.45 $0.30 3.3%
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Item # Project Description

 Y0 
FY 22/23
Forecast

(excl c/overs & 
deferrals) 

 22/23 
Proposed 

carryover to 
23/24 

 Y1 
FY 23/24 

 Y2 
FY 24/25 

 Y3 
FY 25/26 

 Y4
FY 26/27 

1
Lang Lang Recreation Facility - Soccer 
Infrastructure

-                    # -                # -                  233,972          3,649,959        

2 *
Lang Lang Recreation Facility - Soccer - 
Pavilion

-                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

3
New playgrounds and recreation facilities 
for young people 

50,000               # -                # -                  200,000          164,491          

4 Open Space Works - Vantage Drive Reserve -                    # -                # 30,000             -                 -                  

5 Open Space Works - Atkins Road 30,000               # -                # -                  -                 -                  

6 Public Toilets Renewals 160,000             # -                # -                  566,691          208,669          

7 Bunyip Community House -                    # -                # -                  -                 50,000            

8 PB Ronald Reserve - Masterplan 76,278               # 68,448             134,726         # -                  -                 -                  

9 Alma Treloar Masterplan implementation 643,262             # -                # -                  450,000          450,000          

10 Bunyip Stadium Stage 2 (feasability design) 235,261             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

11 Alma Trealor Car park Sealing 182,950             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

12
IYU Recreation Reserve Athletics facility - 
Track and Field construction

2,276,593          # -                  112,486         # -                  -                 -                  

13
IYU Recreation Reserve Athletics facility - 
Roundabout

16,941               # 393,702         # -                  -                 -                  

14
IYU Recreation Reserve Athletics facility - 
Pavilion 

-                    # -                # 1,700,000        5,700,000       -                  

15
IYU Recreation Reserve Athletics facility - 
Lighting Works

-                    # -                # -                  150,000          450,000          

16
Cardinia Views Recreation Reserve - 
Infrastructure

-                    # -                # -                  -                 112,486          

17 *
Cardinia Views Recreation Reserve - 
Pavilion/s

-                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

18 Cardinia Youth Facility - Building 2,731,960          # 2,500,000        -                # -                  -                 -                  

19 Living Learning Refresh (Multicultural Hub) -                    # -                # 500,000           -                 -                  

20 Upper Beaconsfield Reserve Masterplan -                    # 52,000             -                # -                  -                 -                  

21
Upper Beaconsfield Community Buildings 
masterplan

52,000               # -                # -                  -                 -                  

22
New plant program (Additional fleet 
vehicles not costed ) 

-                    # 400,000         # 324,730           165,612          168,924          

23 McGregor Road Duplication over Railway -                    # 200,000         # -                  2,600,000       800,000          

24 Pakenham Main Street Deviation -                    # -                # -                  -                 78,740            

25 Traffic management devices 280,908             # 297,138         # 313,905           331,224          349,110          

26
Pedestrian & Bicycle strategy - shared path 
linkages

308,160             # -                # 292,465           243,331          253,064          

27 Footpath Network Expansion 798,960             # 674,918         # 701,915           729,992          948,989          

28 Lang Lang Bypass -                    # 200,000         # -                  1,250,000       2,500,000        

29 Equestrian Trails strategy implementation 70,000               # 30,000           # 64,946             66,245            67,570            

30 Local Area Traffic Improvements 318,358             # -                  469,889         # 497,336           526,349          480,821          

31 Future Special Charge Scheme Provision -                    # -                # -                  212,914          221,431          

32 * Provision for Roads Program -                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

33 Ivory Drive, Pakenham -                    # -                # -                  -                 110,000          

34 Tree planting program 52,020               # 53,060           # 54,122             55,204            84,462            

35
Open Space Program (furniture & Misc 
renewal)

103,176             # 193,406         # 197,396           165,612          191,448          

36
Open Space renewal provision for future 
years

-                    # -                # -                  297,189          310,622          

37
Landscape renewal ( Horticultural, plants 
etc assets)

52,020               # 53,060           # 54,122             55,204            56,308            

38 Shade tree program 67,626               # 68,979           # 70,358             71,765            73,201            

Appendix A

Capital Works Program by Project 2023/24 to 2026/27 - Gross Expenditure $s
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Item # Project Description

 Y0 
FY 22/23
Forecast

(excl c/overs & 
deferrals) 

 22/23 
Proposed 

carryover to 
23/24 

 Y1 
FY 23/24 

 Y2 
FY 24/25 

 Y3 
FY 25/26 

 Y4
FY 26/27 

Capital Works Program by Project 2023/24 to 2026/27 - Gross Expenditure $s

39 Open space public lighting 114,444             # 127,345         # 140,716           154,571          157,663          

40
Energy and Water strategies 
implementation

132,928             # -                  300,000         # 300,000           350,000          350,000          

41 Purton Road Depot Development 240,000             # 83,000             500,000         # -                  -                 1,250,000        

42 Tree management at high risk sites 104,040             # 106,121         # 108,243           110,408          112,616          

43
Pakenham Tennis Club Relocation - Club 
Room Renovation

25,000               # 35,000             965,000         # -                  -                 -                  

44 SRV Minor Grants matching funding 52,020               # 53,060           # 64,946             66,245            78,831            

45 Emerald Lake Park Masterplan Design -                    # 462,000         # 500,000           -                 -                  

46 Emerald Lake Park Asset Renewal -                    # -                # 250,000           750,000          -                  

47 Beaconsfield Streetscape/Traffic upgrades 80,000               # 768,640           -                # -                  -                 -                  

48 Pakenham Main Street Revitalisation 200,000             # 1,399,891       # 760,408           500,000          -                  

49
Electronic Access Control and Master Key 
Systems

-                    # 60,000           # 130,740           190,740          190,740          

50 Cardinia Cultural Centre minor equipment 93,636               # 90,000           # 97,419             99,367            112,616          

51 *
Implementation of Arts and Culture 
Strategy

-                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

52 Public Art Program -                    # 90,000           # 5,000               97,000            5,500              

53 Bridge Renewal 400,000             # 269,500           771,700         # 1,041,250        771,700          771,700          

54 Buildings Renewal Program 1,819,211          # 1,050,000       # 2,307,402        2,371,325       2,482,082        

55 Furniture and Equipment 30,000               # 300,000         # 20,000             20,000            20,000            

56 Shade structures renewals -                    # 100,000         # -                  -                 -                  

128 ELP Lake bank stabilisation -                    # 100,000         # -                  -                 -                  

57
Toomuc Reserve south oval (junior) pavilion 
upgrade

192,904             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

58
Toomuc Reserve north oval (senior) pavilion 
upgrade - netball changerooms

334,898             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

59 Library facilities improvement works -                    # 42,448           # -                  -                 -                  

60 Disability Access Works 186,436             # 197,622         # 209,479           222,048          235,371          

61
Universal design (incl Recreation Pavilion 
Renewal)

150,000             # 900,000         # 300,000           1,200,000       230,000          

62
Officer Recreation Reserve Pavilion 
extension 

707,000             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

63 O'Neill Road Masterplan/implementation -                    # 200,000         # 120,000           1,200,000       -                  

64 Combined with item 63 - Taken out # -                # -                  -                 -                  

65 Carpark resurfacing 127,000             # 65,000           # 137,000           142,000          150,000          

66 Drainage replacement 300,000             # 655,000         # 542,667           554,667          512,000          

67
Water Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD) 
Assets  Renewal Program 

200,000             # 525,313         # 538,445           551,906          565,704          

68 Sealed pathway renewal 486,720             # 506,189         # 925,123           1,064,227       1,218,787        

69 Gravel pathway resheeting 172,000             # 107,000         # 95,100             95,100            95,100            

70 Equestrian Trails Maintenance works 52,020               # 53,060           # 64,946             55,204            56,308            

71 Netball/Tennis courts resurfacing 745,000             # -                # 665,000           665,000          257,369          

72 Cricket practice net renewal program 287,500             # 280,000         # 123,735           128,684          133,832          

73 BMX Facility Asset renewal 233,480             # -                # 120,000           -                 133,832          

74 Netball pavilion upgrades - Garfield 300,000             # 2,047,642        1,553,000       # -                  -                 -                  

75 Skatepark asset renewal 187,200             # -                # -                  -                 -                  
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 Y0 
FY 22/23
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deferrals) 
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FY 23/24 

 Y2 
FY 24/25 
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FY 25/26 

 Y4
FY 26/27 

Capital Works Program by Project 2023/24 to 2026/27 - Gross Expenditure $s

76 Plant replacement 2,675,000          # 2,500,000       # 2,714,614        2,685,164       2,604,566        

77 Associated playspace infrastructure renewal 84,872               # 262,400         # 230,400           224,000          212,000          

78 Playground renewals as per council plan 260,000             # 393,000         # 345,600           336,000          318,000          

79 Basketball court renewal -                    # -                # 24,336             26,322            -                  

80 Recreation reserve turf resurfacing 881,674             # 75,000           # 818,901           60,833            885,723          

81
Recreation Reserve lighting and power 
upgrade

659,848             # 300,000           1,200,000       # 224,973           -                 255,497          

82
Garfield North Cannibal Creek Reserve 
Building 

100,003             # 1,000,000        1,200,000       # -                  -                 -                  

83 Sealed Road Resurfacing (VGC) 2,945,450          # 3,339,887       # 3,692,353        3,796,988       3,909,612        

129 Koo Wee Rup Bowls & Community Facility 25,962               # 2,078,312        3,295,726       # -                  -                 -                  

84 Sealed Road Resurfacing Preparation 1,023,839          # -                  587,275         # 943,026           971,535          1,000,226        

85 Unsealed Road Resheeting 1,375,259          # 1,503,622       # 1,799,776        1,852,663       1,907,105        

86 Road Pavement Renewals -(RTR) 1,992,172          # 2,261,325       # 2,492,823        2,569,147       2,643,454        

87 Sealing the Hills 5,800,000          # 2,300,000        14,000,000     # 14,000,000      -                 -                  

88
Roads Sealing Program-Connect Cardinia 
Stage 2

3,000,000          # 3,000,000        7,000,000       # -                  -                 -                  

89 Swimming facilities - Plant & Equipment 179,040             # 66,121           # 119,068           121,449          135,139          

90 Cardinia Life extension 250,000             # 450,000         # -                  -                 4,700,000        

91 IT Strategy 787,200             # 530,604         # 541,216           552,040          563,081          

92 Salary capitalisation provision 500,000             # 500,000         # 500,000           900,000          900,000          

93 3 Year Old Kindergarten Works 80,000               # 50,000             45,000           # -                  -                 -                  

94 Land Acquisition 7,773,090          # 7,000,000       # 6,500,000        6,500,000       6,500,000        

95 Finance system 1,496,861          # -                # -                  -                 -                  

96
Worrell Reserve Masterplan Implementation 
(skate park)

50,000               # 100,000           1,157,000       # -                  -                 -                  

97
Duplicate Project - Taken out - Refer to 
Item 13

# -                # -                  -                 -                  

98
Pakenham Regional Tennis Court 
Resurfacing

125,000             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

99 Walnut Way Playground 73,320               # -                # -                  -                 -                  

100 PB Ronald Pool Plant Fencing Works 20,000               # -                # -                  -                 -                  

101 Puffing Billy park playground renewal -                    # 60,000           # -                  -                 -                  

102
DCP - Integrated Children's Facility - 
Thewlis Road Cardinia Rd DCP

150,000             # 150,000           3,855,511       # 5,450,000        -                 -                  

103
DCP -Officer District Park Masterplan 
implementation_Civil

500,000             # 3,001,099        486,901         # 3,242,278        -                 -                  

104
DCP -Integrated Children's Facility - 
Timbertop (double)

2,247,705          # -                # -                  -                 -                  

105
DCP -Princes Hwy Intersections-Tivendale & 
Bayview

7,000,000          # 9,000,000        8,896,552       # 3,700,000        -                 -                  

105A DCP - McMullen - Prices Hwy intersection  -                    # -                # -                  -                 5,408,424        

105B
DCP - Whiteside/Brunt Road - Prices Hwy 
intersection  

-                    # -                # 4,930,456        -                 

105C
DCP - Arena Parade - Prices Hwy 
intersection  

-                    # -                # -                  1,134,564       

106
DCP -McMullen Recreation Reserve - Sport 
and recreation reserve

-                    # -                # 54,080             -                 -                  

107 *
DCP -McMullen Recreation Reserve - 
Pavilion

-                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

108
DCP -Gin Gin Bin Recreation Reserve - 
Sports Fields

47,871               # -                # -                  -                 449,946          

109 *
DCP -'Gin Gin Bin Recreation Reserve - 
Sports Complex

-                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

110
DCP -  Integrated Children's Facility - Brunt 
Road Officer precinct (Triple)

1,500,000          # 1,767,945        5,232,055       # -                  -                 -                  
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FY 24/25 

 Y3 
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Capital Works Program by Project 2023/24 to 2026/27 - Gross Expenditure $s

111 * DCP - Officer Library -                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

112
DCP -Integrated Child and Family Centre - 
Starling Rd - Officer PSP

-                    # -                # -                  346,000          2,606,483        

113 DCP - Brunt Rd - Road Works 500,000             # 1,740,042       # -                  -                 -                  

114 DCP -Brunt Rd Roundabout 500,000             # 989,784         # -                  -                 -                  

115 DCP -Pioneer Way 500,000             # 878,820         # -                  -                 -                  

116 *
DCP - Integrated Child and Family Centre - 
Deep Creek - P.East PSP (Triple)

-                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

117 *
DCP DCP - Integrated Child and Family 
Centre - Hancocks Gulley - P.East PSP

-                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

118 *
DCP - Integrated Child and Family Centre - 
P.East PSP

-                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

119
Cardinia Youth Facility - Carpark ( James 
Street carpark )  

500,000             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

120
Alma Treloar Reserve– new public toilets - 
LRCI Round 3

350,000             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

121
DCP - Timbertop-Pinkhill Boulevard 
intersection

825,000             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

122
Streetlight upgrades - Mercury Vapour 
Lights to LED's 

900,000             # 720,000           -                # -                  -                 -                  

123 Cockatoo Cottages 501,470             # 150,000         # -                  -                 -                  

124 Deep Creek Reserve 175,000             # -                # -                  -                 -                  

125 Parman Avenue reserve playspace 62,278               # -                # -                  -                 -                  

126 PB Ronald Master plan Implementation -                    # -                # -                  492,000          492,000          

127 Officer District Master Plan Stage 2 -                    # -                # -                  -                 -                  

TOTAL CAPITAL WORKS 
(Excl Operating Initiatives)

        64,877,824      29,291,586     84,497,739       66,692,813     48,000,201      56,391,602 

* Project Expenditure commenses beyond FY26/27

OPERATING INITIATIVES

Item # Project Description
 Y0 

FY 22/23 

 22/23 
Proposed 

carryover to 
23/24 

 Y1 
FY 23/24 

 Y2 
FY 24/25 

 Y3 
FY 25/26 

 Y4
FY 26/27 

1 Significant Reserve Works 76,125               77,267           # 78,426             79,602            80,796            

2 Tynong Changing Rooms universal upgrade -                    -                # -                  300,000          850,000          

3 Bunyip Soccer Sports field Redevelopment 1,592,477          -                # -                  -                 -                  

4
Cora Lynn Reserve - Pavilion 
Design/Construct 

8,611                 -                  350,000         # 3,400,000        350,000          -                  

5 Upper Beaconsfield Recreation Reserve 50,000               50,000             1,350,000       # 5,200,000        850,000          -                  

6 Community Grants 652,000             400,000         # 400,000           400,000          400,000          

7 Playspace Program - Design 50,000               40,000             90,000           # 90,000             90,000            90,000            

8 Engineering Design Costs 90,000               90,000           # 90,000             90,000            90,000            

9
Concept and Design - Special Charge 
Scheme

-                    -                # 37,500             -                 -                  

10 Community Safety Initiative 100,000             -                # -                  -                 -                  

11 Heritage Review -                    100,000         # 70,000             -                 -                  

12 Climate Change Adaptation Strategy -                    150,000         # 150,000           300,000          300,000          

13 Section of Southern rail trail (Nyora to Lang -                    -                # -                  50,000            -                  

14 BioLinks Program -                    123,000         # 113,000           158,000          118,000          

15 Traffic Management Works 200,000             -                # -                  -                 -                  

16 Township Strategies (Garfield, Bunyip) -                    -                # -                  50,000            50,000            
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Item # Project Description

 Y0 
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Forecast
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 22/23 
Proposed 
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23/24 
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FY 23/24 

 Y2 
FY 24/25 

 Y3 
FY 25/26 

 Y4
FY 26/27 

Capital Works Program by Project 2023/24 to 2026/27 - Gross Expenditure $s

17 Active Cardinia Strategy 30,000               -                # -                  -                 -                  

18
Drainage Strategy- Stormwater (Garfield, 
Tynong, Nar Nar Goon)

-                    -                # 350,000           -                 -                  

19 Business improvement Program 500,000             500,000         # 500,000           500,000          500,000          

20 Cardinia Creek Pedestrian Bridge - Design 80,000           #

 TOTAL OPERATING INITIATIVES           3,349,213              90,000       3,310,267       10,478,926        3,217,602        2,478,796 

 TOTAL GROSS CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
(INCL NEW &  OP. INITIATIVES)  

        68,227,037      29,381,586     87,808,006       77,171,739     51,217,803      58,870,398 
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Item 
No.

Submitter Submitter comments: Outcome

1 Cora Lynn Football Club We would like the Shire of Cardinia to re-consider and include the change room building 
budget into the 2023/2024 budgetary cycle. This will still mean that, based on the fact that 
the project has progressed to the tender stage, the building would not be completed for 
another twelve months at the earliest. I would like to reiterate our previous correspondence 
regarding our agreement to proceed with the modular building as  long as it is similar to the 
design and layout that we observed at Heathmont.  This would bring us into the 2025/2026 
budgetary cycle with the difference that the building will have been completed and the 
project completed.

Council have brought this project forward to years 2 and 3 (2024 -
2026) of the long-term capital budget. Council agrees to manage 
the build, and have added an additional $400,000 to the project 
budget to cover these serivces. To fund this project, the McGregor 
Road duplication project has been delayed from year 2 (2024/25) 
to years 3 and 4 (2025-27)

2 Cora Lynn Recreation Reserve On behalf of the Cora Lynn Recreation Reserve Committee we support the plans for the new 
Change Rooms Project with the following recommendations.
 1. The Modular Build
2. We ask the project proceed on the basis of the Heathmont Club design 
3. Council Manage the Project Build
4. We ask this Project commence and be provided for forthwith, in particular considering the 
encumbrances encountered thus far and the dilapidated condition of the existing building 
which both have been well documented.

Council have brought this project forward to years 2 and 3 (2024 -
2026) of the long-term capital budget. Council agrees to manage 
the build, and have added an additional $400,000 to the project 
budget to cover these serivces. To fund this project, the McGregor 
Road duplication project has been delayed from year 2 (2024/25) 
to years 3 and 4 (2025-27)

3 Cora Lynn Public Hall And 
Recreation Reserve Committee 
of Managment 

As you well know, The new changeroom project at Cora Lynn has been a long drawn out 
process, with many hiccups and bumps along the way. The COM is well aware of cost and 
budget blow outs due to covid and high inflation rates . We therefore agree that the best way 
to move forward is to accept a new building of modular design as apparently it is a cheaper 
option with the same outcome, assuming that the original scope of the project remains the 
same as in the  same footprint or rooms sizes as a traditional build, a new storage shed and 
separate time keepers box. As with the original scope of the project, The COM insists that 
council also project manages the build and associated service upgrades.
The COM also wishes that the project is considered for inclusion in the 23/24 budget. I have 
lived in the local area for 50 odd years and been involved with the reserve for the past 30 
years of which new changerooms have always been on the agenda.
The COM is also very grateful that the council fund and build infostructure on DECCA owned 
land.

Council have brought this project forward to years 2 and 3 (2024 -
2026) of the long-term capital budget. Council agrees to manage 
the build, and have added an additional $400,000 to the project 
budget to cover these serivces. To fund this project, the McGregor 
Road duplication project has been delayed from year 2 (2024/25) 
to years 3 and 4 (2025-27)

4 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
Bunyip Football Club

Hello. I am the Bunyip Football Club President. We currently field four sides in the west 
Gippsland football netball competition and our oval and facilities are simply not up to scratch.  
 With our junior Football club playing every alternate weekend it means we have up to 10 
sides playing and training on an oval that has already turned into an un-usable mud pit. We 
desperately seek assistance and funding for an oval upgrade, not only to ensure our football 
club(s) can successfully compete and survive but also so the wider community can continue to 
use the oval and surrounding recreation reserve. After this weekends games we find ourselves 
in a situation where we are searching for an alternative oval to use this week and beyond, and 
the league have written advising that games may be cancelled if the oval is not fit for purpose.

Council recently conducted a full condition assessment and report 
on all ovals across the Shire, which now drives the prioritisation of 
the rolling sporting asset renewal program. As a result, works on 
Bunyip Oval will not be included within the 23/24 budget. Council 
officers will organise members of the Parks Services Team and 
Citywide to inspect the oval and provide maintenance 
recommendations to the committee, including providing a 
recommended annual maintenance schedule.                                        

5 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
Bunyip Football Ground

Bunyip football ground. We have the worst ground in Cardinia shire  it floods and we also 
have  the worst change rooms and ground in the west Gippsland football league
There has been talks.
We have had mould and asbestos removal done recently which is great
But we still have old lighting which chews up enormous amounts of power
Led would save money and help the environment
Please don’t forget our little town

Council recently conducted a full condition assessment and report 
on all ovals across the Shire, which now drives the prioritisation of 
the rolling sporting asset renewal program. As a result, works on 
Bunyip Oval will not be included within the 23/24 budget. Council 
officers will organise members of the Parks Services Team and 
Citywide to inspect the oval and provide maintenance 
recommendations to the committee, including providing a 
recommended annual maintenance schedule.                                        
                                         

6 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
Bunyip Football Ground

I am the President of the Bunyip Rec Reserve, and the Bunyip Rec Reserve oval is in desperate 
need of an upgrade. With 10 teams playing and training on this surface each week along with 
the continual wet weather the ground surface cannot put up with the amount of use.  I would 
like to see the Council assist with an upgrade of the current playing surface to bring it in line 
with other ovals in the Shire such as Garfield Nar Nar Goon, Pakenham, Officer and all other 
ovals within the Cardinia Shire that have football played on them. Not only is this oval used 
for football it also has the Bunyip Show annually, Bunyip Primary School activities and School 
Sports for both the State School and Columba Catholic School. This venue is used by everyone 
in the Community and is the center of sports in the town and needs to be upgraded to 
2023/24 standards. The GM Committee and Football Club have also received letters of 
concerns from the West Gippsland Football Netball League due to the state of the surface and 
the conditions for all players that attend games at the venue.

Council recently conducted a full condition assessment and report 
on all ovals across the Shire, which now drives the prioritisation of 
the rolling sporting asset renewal program. As a result, works on 
Bunyip Oval will not be included within the 23/24 budget. Council 
officers will organise members of the Parks Services Team and 
Citywide to inspect the oval and provide maintenance 
recommendations to the committee, including providing a 
recommended annual maintenance schedule.

7 Lang Lang soccer club Please accept this email as a written request to the Cardinia Shire Council to make funds 
available this financial year (2023 - 2024) to start the proposed Soccer Facilities & Fields in 
Stage 2 of the Lang Lang Community Recreation Reserve (LLCRR) in Caldermeade.
Finally, we would like council to consider the need for stage 2 to be completed without two 
extra football ovals. With the capacity of Lang Lang holding just under 3000 people, we feel 
that the current two ovals and cricket pitches would suffice along with the new soccer fields 
which would create enough variety in opportunities to reduce the costing of stage 2.

Following review of this project timeline, the design of the Lang 
Lang Reserve soccer facilities will remain programmed for 2025/26 
with construction planned to commence in 2026/27. Once the 
concept design of the new soccer facilities is prepared Council will 
need to apply for external funding in order to construct the 
developement.                                                                                     

8 For Hills Photographic Society The Hills Photographic Society, a club that meets twice monthly in the Hills Hub, has, over the 
last week conferred with many groups, ones that use the Hub’s facilities, and other 
community members about the under-utilisation of this would-be great asset.
These discussions have revealed universal dissatisfaction with the limited hours the Hub is 
accessible to the public and the inability of the current council staff to accommodate 
approaches from community members. This was especially apparent at the Expo that was 
held at the Hub on Sat last, 20th May. A petition to Council is the result o f these concerns.
I am enclosing two parts to the petition - a paper version and the results o f an on-line one. I 
have also enclosed a copy of the Hills Photographic Society’s submission re the current Draft 
Budget that was presented last week.

Council will continue to investigate extended public hours at the 
Hills Hub, along with extended volunteer support.

Draft Budget 2023/24 Community Submissions
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Item 
No.

Submitter Submitter comments: Outcome
Draft Budget 2023/24 Community Submissions

9 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
Drinking Water

Please can you allow for some funds to establish a drinking water fountain at The Garfield Rec 
Reserve oval. A "Choose Tap" fountain that includes a bubbler, bottle fill and dog bowl, would 
be ideal. For an image related story, please refer to this link: 
https://choosetap.com.au/stories-and-news/south-east-water-and-bayside-city-council-team-
up-on-tap-water

This project will be prioritised within existing budget allocations in 
23/24.

10 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
Alma Treloar Reserve Toilets

Thank you for the opportunity to make a submission on the draft Council Budget for 2023 – 
2024 and my submission is in relation to the current public toilets located at the Alma Treloar 
Reserve in Cockatoo. It is my understanding that it is the intention of the council to remove 
the public toilets located in McBride Street, adjacent to the bowls club carpark, below the Ash 
Wednesday Bushfire Education Centre.  I believe it would be a mistake to remove this toilet 
and request that the Councillors reconsider the removal of this facility and redirect the 
monies allocated to carry-out the removal, instead into repairs and refurbishment of the 
toilets.

Council will continue to follow the designs as endorsed in the 
Masterplan. Council will further consider the timing of the 
demolishment of the existing toilet block, noting it is not currently 
compliant with modern standards.    

11 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
Alma Treloar Reserve Toilets

The removal of the Toilet block at the northern end of the Alma Treloar reserve would be a 
terrible loss of an asset. As this toilet is located at the half way mark of the Eastern 
Dandenong Ranges Walking Trail it gets a considerable amount of use by the general public, 
council staff in large vehicles and tradies that comes through Cockatoo and the Cardinia Shire. 
The toilet has been in place for 40+ years, and could use a bit of a refurbish to make it more 
appealing. All the required infrastructure, plumbing  is already there, it just needs an update 
to the interior and fittings. More people use this toilet than use the 'off leash' dog park in 
Cockatoo.

Council will continue to follow the designs as endorsed in the 
Masterplan. Council will further consider the timing of the 
demolishment of the existing toilet block, noting it is not currently 
compliant with modern standards.    

12 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
Kooweerup Netball Club

This is feedback  from the  Kooweerup netball club President on behalf of the Kooweerup 
netball club and wider community and is in reference to increased investing in sporting 
facilities.
Our community is fast growing with population numbers increasing, our clubs vision is 
inclusion in sport and the opportunity for the wider community to participate with a focus on 
developing large numbers from a junior level to a senior level- we currently field teams with 
approx 90-100 players in total with our club participating in a league which hosts 11 other 
netball clubs on our courts
Recent audits have been undertaken within the Cardinia council,  along with input and 
suggestions from Netball Victoria that KWR netball courts are in urgent need of resurfacing 
and light upgrades for safety and to adhere to netball vic standard guidelines
The cracks is our courts are significant, with the court surface also lifting in certain areas and 
the current run off the the lights are not to standard. These issues pose great safety risks to 
the public.
With such a growing area we believe it vital that we offer safe sporting facilities to allow us to 
encourage sport and healthy lifestyle amongst our community members
Our request is that consideration for sporting investment is directed towards the urgent need 
of the court resurfacing and light upgrades at KWRNC to allow a safe environment to ensure 
the club can provide an appropriate facility to encourage the participation in sport for 
community members

Council recently conducted a full condition assessment and report 
on all netball courts across the Shire, which Council uses to 
prioritise the renewal of sporting assets as part of the Asset 
Renewal Program within our Capital Works Program. The netball 
courts at Koo Wee Rup Recreation Reserve were rated to be in 
poor condition and identified as a top priority. Urgent crack 
remediation was offered to the club, but these works were 
declined. As a result, funding to implement the lighting 
replacement and upgrade program is allocated in 2023/24 and a 
netball court upgrade is planned in the 2024/25 Financial Year.          

13 Creating Cardinia Platform - Lang 
Lang and District Business and 
Community Group

I write on behalf of the Lang Lang and District Business and Community Group to make a 
submission on the Draft 2023/24 Budget document.
Our Group is aware that Council has assigned the Rail Trail as a low priority project and that 
the Draft 2023/24 Budget document has the Nyora-Lang Lang Rail Trail $50,000 scoping and 
costing project as an item to not be funded until 2026-27.

As per our submission to the Open Space Strategy, we are requesting that the Rail Trail be a 
higher priority and completed ASAP.

Council considered this submission, however no changes were 
made to the 23/24 budget due to the current significant capital 
portfolio. This project will be considered in line with the outcomes 
of the Open Space Strategy. 

14 Creating Cardinia Platform - Pools 50 metre indoor swimming pool required due to current growth and projected growth of 
population in and around neighbouring areas. We require more lanes for Piranah Swim club, 
squad swimmers, as numbers are capped, kids are being turned away, which is really really 
sad. Also short lane makes kids in our district not as competitive to swim against bayside 
suburbs and MSAC division and up to National level. Diving blocks are urgently required, along 
with chairs for kids, being marshalled to race. I know council is working hard in our district, we 
would love to see this need addressed urgently. Thankyou for your consideration.

The future provision of a 50 metre indoor pool and associated 
facilities is being considered as part of the Cardinia Life 
Redevelopment Project and current Business Case preparation.

15 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
Open Space

The lack of open space in the built up areas of the Shire is an indicator of the political power 
of property developers which the Council can do nothing about but it can seek to maintain 
and protect what open space there is by considering carefully proposals to add infrastructure 
to parks and to resist the destruction of the Shire's tree cover.

Council is in the process of finalising it's Open Space Strategy, 
which will assess the provision of and access to open space for our 
community. It will also ensure enough public open space is 
available and protected into the future. An expected 
recommendation of the draft Open Space Strategy is for Council to 
prepare an urban forest strategy which will aim to increase tree 
canopy providing benefits to both people and the environment.

16 Creating Cardinia Platform - Bike 
Trails

Some resident have been trying to get a mountain bike park built im cockatoo, it would be 
great if council would get behind this, cardinia shire has no mountain bike trails we are getting 
left behind compared to other councils. There is a great spot for it in cockatoo,
Mountailn bike riders numbers have exploded from covid.
Its a great idea that has so many benifits

Through the development of the draft Open Space Strategy, 
community feedback identified that there is an increase in 
mountain bike activity, particularly after covid. The draft Open 
Space Strategy is expected to recommend to review Council's 
Skate and BMX Strategy and the opportunity to include mountain 
biking.

17 Creating Cardinia Platform - Park 
Masterplans

Hello, Just couldn't understand what's happening with Officer District Park Masterplan 
implementation? Do we have tentative completion date for stage 1? No funds allocated for 
stage 2?
Are you able to bring forward to construction of Integrated Child and Family Centre 
Community Facility - Starling Rd - Officer PSP ? Proposed 2027 is too way long according to 
new estates developing there.
Is the council really serious about Officer town center?
Thanks

The recent tender process was unsuccessful in securing a 
construction partner to deliver stage 1 of the project within budget 
paramaters given the current difficult market conditions. The 
scope of stage 1 of the project has been reviewed and we are 
currently seeking approval of the change from the state 
government.  Officer's are preparing to go out to tender for the 
revised stage 1 in June/July 2023, with construction to commence 
in late 2023. When the project is put out for tender, council's 
website will be updated and key stakeholders informed.
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Item 
No.

Submitter Submitter comments: Outcome
Draft Budget 2023/24 Community Submissions

18 Creating Cardinia Platform - Dog 
Parks

New dog park with fountains for dogs and some older teen adult parks to hang out w fam and 
friends we need places to hangout in cardinia

Council currently has 13 dog off leash areas which were gazetted in 
Feb 2020.  These areas have been developed or upgraded as 
funding has been made available. There are two remaining dog off 
leash area to be upgraded that are not currently funded. Once 
these sites have been upgraded, Council will go through a process 
of investigating if additional off leash areas are required, and 
identify suitable locations if necessary. Facilities for teens will be 
further considered in future projects as part of the imlementation 
of Council's new Open Space Strategy.  

19 Planning Committee of EVA - 
Dick Bartley

Submission included various comments on the draft budget 23/24. Themes include; phasing 
of 10-year capital works program, sustainable borrowing practices, Employee costs and staff 
development opportunities, VAGO indicators, Metrics for measuring success against Council 
Plan objectives, confirmation of projects based in Emerald.   

No changes have been made to the 23/24 budget as a result of 
considering this submission.

20 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
Community Spaces

Council facility charges are too high for community groups to afford Council has a range of spaces that can cater for community groups. 
Community groups can access subsidised rates where applicable.

21 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
General Theme

Aging Population Council’s Ageing Well Strategy 2019–25 includes a five-year plan to 
support senior residents to be healthy, active, stay socially 
connected and participate fully in the community. Having secured 
Commonwealth external funding Council is able to maintain its 
investment in Aged Services, including funding for 0.8FTE Access 
and Inclusion Officer, Ageing Well Newsletter, Seniors festival 
events, and Specialist advice to residents. 

22 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
General Theme

Social Support and Homelessness Officers will continue to implement the actions in the Social and 
Affordable Housing Strategy and Action Plan 2018−25 to respond 
to the lack of affordable housing in the Shire. Council has 
facilitated the delivery of 8 different social and affordable housing 
projects and 124 commitments to social and affordable housing. 
Council provides a financial contribution that supports the 
Salvation Army to actively respond to our community through food 
and financial relief. Council's Liveability Plan Partnership is 
inclusive of 18 agencies and 5 action teams that are coordinating 
efforts to address community social and health needs.  

23 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
General Theme

Multicultural Hub A Multicultural Hub Feasibility Study was completed and used to 
advocate for funding to the Federal and State Governments. 
Unfortunately funding was not secured. Council has a Multicultural 
Advisory Group that provides a voice for these communities and is 
regularly consulted on key Council projects and engagement 
opportunities. Council suports cultural events through the Diversity 
Action plan, Festival and Events and Community Wellbeing grants 
programs. By funding these activities, we aim to foster inclusivity, 
empower diverse communities, and address the unique needs of 
individuals from various backgrounds. Council officers work in 
partnership  with Living and Learning to deliver projects for the 
multicultural community. $500K is currently allocated for a refresh 
of Living and Learning in 24/25FY.

24 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
General Theme

Access, Inclusion & Disability Officers will continue to implement  Council’s Disability Action Plan 
2021–26 and to facilitating the Cardinia Shire Access and Inclusion 
Advisory Committee. $197,622 funding is included in the 23/24 FY 
to upgrade accessiblity of community infrastructure. Officers are 
developing a policy on delivery of Universal Design principles.

25 Creating Cardinia Platform - 
General Theme

Roads and Maintenance Over 50% of the capital budget is allocated to improving road 
infrastructure. This is in addition to our rouitine operational road 
service budgets. 

A full list of community submissions received via the Creating Cardinia Platform are avaliable below. 
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Survey Findings 
Report 

SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 26 JUNE 2023 ATTACHMENT 4.1.1.3

Special Council Meeting 26 June 2023 95



SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 26 JUNE 2023 ATTACHMENT 4.1.1.3

Special Council Meeting 26 June 2023 96



SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 26 JUNE 2023 ATTACHMENT 4.1.1.3

Special Council Meeting 26 June 2023 97



Contents
1 Introduction

1.1 Project background

1.2 Report purpose

1.3 Limitations

2 Who participated
3 Findings

3.1 Community infrastructure and facilities

3.2 Community services

3.3 Sports and recreation facilities
3.4 Roads

3.5 Cost of living, fees, rates and charges

3.6 Sentiment

3.7 Environment and green spaces
3.8 Planning

3.9 Other

3.10 Ineligible

4 Conclusion and next steps

SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 26 JUNE 2023 ATTACHMENT 4.1.1.3

Special Council Meeting 26 June 2023 98



1 Introduction
1.1 Project background

In October and November 2022, the Shire of  Cardinia (Council) engaged Capire Consulting Group (Capire) to 
complete the f irst round of  community engagement on the Cardinia Shire Council Budget for 2023–24. This 
engagement asked community members to name the service areas that they believed required more funding and 
areas where Council should reduce funding. The f indings f rom the f irst engagement phase can be found on the 
Creating Cardinia website at the following web address: https://creating.cardinia.vic.gov.au/help-us-shape-draf t-2324-
budget.

The Council considered the feedback f rom the community and other considerations that impact budget decisions and 
prepared the draf t 2023–24 budget. Between 5 May 2023 and 21 May 2023 Council made the draf t 2023-24 budget 
available for community feedback. Council invited community members to share their feedback via an online survey 
on the Creating Cardinia website. The survey respondents could share their feedback via an open-ended text f ield. A 
hard copy of  the budget was also available f rom Customer Support at the Civic Centre and the community were able 
to make written submissions.

Council promoted the survey by media release, notif ication to relevant council committees, social media advertising
and posts and Creating Cardinia content. Council also sent emails to various community stakeholders, including but 
not limited to, asset committees, sporting groups, township groups and residents ' associations, neighbourhood houses 
and general community groups such as Men's Sheds, Probus, Senior Citizen centres, and Rotary clubs. 

1.2 Report purpose

This report presents an analysis of and insight into the respondents' key themes and feedback.
Council designed the survey and collected the data f rom respondents. Council commissioned Capire to undertake the
data analysis and prepare this report.

1.3 Limitations 

Of the 103 survey participants, there were several duplicate IP entries – with 12 IP addresses completing 57 surveys. 
In particular, one IP address completed 16 surveys, and another IP address, 12 surveys. This means that some 
respondents may have provided feedback multiple times. On review of  the responses f rom multiple IP addresses, the 
feedback varied greatly.  

Comments f rom respondents have been included in a primary theme, in some cases respondents have commented 
on more than one theme. In these instances, the comment has not been repeated in other themes. 
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2 Who participated 

Council received 103 completed surveys. This section summarises the demographic information Council collected 
about respondents. 

Most of  the respondents were aged between 35 and 44 years (32 participants, 31%), followed by 45 to 54 years (22,
21%) and then 25 to 34 years (16, 15%). Figure 1 illustrates the breakdown by age group.

Of the 103 respondents, 49 (48%) identif ied as female, 42 (41%) identif ied as male, 7 (7%) self -identif ied, and 5 (5%) 
preferred not to identify their gender. Figure 2 illustrates the gender breakdown.

Most respondents lived in Pakenham (31, 30%) and Off icer (17, 17%). Other suburbs and townships included:
Cockatoo (8, 8%), Cardinia (7, 7%), Bunyip (6, 6%), Garf ield (6, 6%) and Beaconsf ield (4, 4%). Two participants (2%)
preferred not to say. Figure 3 illustrates the suburb or township of  respondents.

Figure 2: Gender of participants
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Figure 3: Location of participants (suburb/township)
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3 Findings
The respondents' feedback encompasses the following themes:

community inf rastructure and facilities (23 comments)

community services (22 comments)

sports and recreation facilities (16 comments)

roads (14 comments) 

cost of  living and fees, rates and charges (8 comments)

sentiment (7 comments)

environment and green spaces (3 comments)

planning (2 comments)

others (5 comments), and

ineligible (3 comments)

The following sections include a summary of  participant responses under each theme and the raw comments relating 
to that theme. Some comments cover more than one theme but are not repeated under each theme.

3.1 Community infrastructure and facilities 

There were 23 comments on community inf rastructure and facilities. Participants mentioned that they would like to see 
Council investment in the following areas:

public toilets (specif ically, not removing the toilet on McBride Street),

drinking water fountain at the Garf ield Recreation and Reserve Oval,

mountain bike park in Cockatoo, and cycling inf rastructure more broadly,

Nyora–Lang Lang Rail Trail receive priority funding,

leisure and shopping facilities,

accessibility and mobility,

footpaths,

community centre in Garf ield, and

community inf rastructure generally.

Respondent quotes:

Unhappy with this budget when here we need genuine community leisure.

I write on behalf of the Lang Lang and District Business and Community Group to make a 
submission on the Draft 2023/24 Budget document. Our Group is aware that Council has assigned 
the Rail Trail as a low priority project and that the Draft 2023/24 Budget document has the Nyora-
Lang Lang Rail Trail $50,000 scoping and costing project as an item to not be funded until 2026-27. 
As per our submission to the Open Space Strategy, we are requesting that the Rail Trail be a 
higher priority and completed asap for the following reasons. 1. It is a regional project that will 
ultimately connect the growing Melbourne outer fringe with the Cardinia Shire and the natural 
environment beginning on Lang Lang’s doorstep and then through to the adjoining scenic beauty of 
South Gippsland Shire. 2. It will help to retain the rural character of Lang Lang as its point of 
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differentiation from the burgeoning outer suburbs. 3. If our point of differentiation through a Rail 
Trail is maintained, many more people from the burgeoning outer suburbs will be enticed to enjoy a 
ride or a walk along the Trail and stop off and spend money in Lang Lang which will help local 
traders remain viable. 4. The Rail Trail being completed asap will ensure that this major asset is 
secured for Lang Lang as part of its long-term future and also secured as a major asset to others 
outside the area, including for people other than those wanting just to enjoy rides and walks along 
the Trail. 5. The Trail will form a major connection between several towns and given that it is a 
healthy alternative transport route this will contribute to fitness and social interaction for people 
wanting to use it to travel between towns and districts on the route. 6. It will contribute to safety, 
especially for young people, because they have an alternative transport option (bike) available to 
them away from local roads if they wish to travel to another town for activities not available in Lang 
Lang, e.g., to visit a friend, play sport, take a ride or walk along it or to use it in any circumstance 
when an adult is just not available to take them somewhere. (Local traffic is becoming increasingly 
dangerous for young people riding bikes given the escalation of the number of heavy vehicle 
movements along our roads in recent times, now in excess of 600 heavy vehicle movements along 
our local roadways per day). We thank you for taking this matter into consideration and ask for 
approval for members of our Group to appear before Council to put forward the Group's case as 
part of the 2023/24 Draft Budget consultation process. Yours Sincerely Peter Smith President Lang 
Lang and District Business and Community Group. 

I find it difficult to believe the general community want to see LESS spent on community support, 
when the rates of visible homelessness is noticeably increasing across every community, and most 
families you speak with are finding it very difficult to meet their financial needs. Cardinia does not 
have the same services as other areas, and families’ financial situations are deteriorating because 
they cannot access the same level of supports or services. This will start to impact on the local 
economy, small businesses, sporting clubs etc. when families are no longer able to participate. 
Council's budget seems to be the opposite to the sentiments we see in the Federal Budget, where 
cost of living relief and social support is at least mentioned considerably.

Thank you for the opportunity to make a submission on the draft Council Budget for 2023 – 2024 
and my submission is in relation to the current public toilets located at the Alma Treloar Reserve in 
Cockatoo. It is my understanding that it is the intention of the council to remove the public toilets 
located in McBride Street, adjacent to the bowls club carpark, below the Ash Wednesday Bus hfire 
Education Centre.  I believe it would be a mistake to remove this toilet and request that the 
Councillors reconsider the removal of this facility and redirect the monies allocated to carry -out the 
removal, instead into repairs and refurbishment of the toilets. This toilet block is well used by a 
variety of users, from residents walking their dogs, local school kids walking home from school, 
tradies and maintenance crews, (including Cardinia work crews), even police officers often stop to 
use these toilets. However, probably the biggest users of these toilets would be tourists.  Whether 
they are tourist driving through town towing a caravan, walkers/cyclist passing by whist using the 
Eastern Dandenong Trail or walking groups that use this off -road car park as their start and finish 
point when using the Eastern Dandenong Trail. The main road through Cockatoo is the Healesville 
to Koo Wee Rup Road which is used by many tourists travelling from northern Victoria through to 
Eastern Victoria.  Many of these travellers are towing caravans and they need to be able to access 
public toilets and facilities that are easily accessible and have the room to turn with a caravan.  This 
carpark area next to the toilets gives them this room. Since the extension of the Eastern 
Dandenong trail was completed in 2018 this toilet block has become an even more important asset 
for the town and district as it is the only toilet facility directly on the trail.  There is plenty of grassed 
area around the facility for cyclist to park their bike safely without blocking other pedestrians or 
users. It is increasingly common to see this car park almost full of cars belonging to members of 
walking groups.  These groups come from all over Melbourne and other areas to walk a section of 
the Eastern Dandenong Trail.  Being a large off-road car park with no time limits it is a perfect start 
and finish point for the trail.  At the recent opening of the Public Art piece in Cockatoo this car park 
was almost full of cars with the majority of those being a walking group. In the original Cardinia 
Shire Tourism Strategy which was adopted in 2013 it was noted that part of councils’ role in 
supporting tourism is to provide public facilities such as walking/cycling trails, playgrounds, picnic 
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areas and public toilets. To remove this toilet block would not be supporting tourism and it could 
potentially deter people from using the full trail as there are no other toilet as easily accessible 
directly on the trails. Whilst I acknowledge that the Alma Treloar Masterplan which was adopted in 
November 2018 does include the removal of the toilet block, both Cr's Wilmot and Owen clearly 
stated at the meeting that further consideration was needed prior to removing the toilets as they 
were well utilized.  I note also that a new toilet block is being installed alongside the Alan Bailey 
building, which is needed and will be utilized by those using the playground and BMX track areas, 
this is not actually what was adopted as part of the Masterplan, but it does demonstrate that the 
Masterplan can be changed when better options become available. These toilets are in no way the 
most attractive toilets.  They are old and could do with some much-needed maintenance.  The 
Cardinia Shire Council Public Toilet Strategy lists under the planning and budgeting section on 
page 22 the maintenance needed as being, the replacement of guttering in the first year at a cost of 
$1000 and withing the next 3 – 5 years further work including painting, sinks and cisterns as well as 
rust treatment at a cost of $12,000. I’m not sure if any of this work has been undertaken at this point 
but this strategy certainly doesn’t identify these toilets as needing major work, replacement, or 
removal. In summary I would like to request that council reconsiders the removal of this toilet facility 
and instead redirects the money allocated for the removal of the toilets, into repairs and refurbishing 
of the current facilities. I thank you for your time and consideration.

When will we have the Costco be built council? There’s not a lot of good places in Cardinia yet I 
have to go elsewhere.

Too much budget on the traffic and footpaths we need better retail, Thanks.

I would like to see all of the above considered along with more parks a Kmart cinemas and updated 
sporting centre.

Please can you allow for some funds to establish a drinking water fountain at The Garfield Rec 
Reserve oval. A "Choose Tap" fountain that includes a bubbler, bottle fill and dog bowl, would be 
ideal. For an image related story, please refer to this link: https://choosetap.com.au/stories-and-
news/south-east-water-and-bayside-city-council-team-up-on-tap-water

With Post COVID financial pressures, council should be partnering with trusted community 
organisations to wisely use resources for building infrastructure. This will reduce outlay of council 
funds, increase community engagement, allow for diversity and make space for additional 
community services. This is a creative solution as out laid in the council plan and will provide much 
needed infrastructure which is not keeping up with population growth.

Some residents have been trying to get a mountain bike park built in cockatoo, it would be great if 
council would get behind this, Cardinia shire has no mountain bike trails we are getting left behind 
compared to other councils. There is a great spot for it in cockatoo, mountain bike rider’s numbers
have exploded from covid. It’s a great idea that has so many benefits. 

Communities should be #1 why? Because it is only a Matter of time before all the construction 
companies SHUT DOWN.

Awaiting for a Community Centre finally created in Garfield someday, hopefully.

Terrible draft budget. how is spending on environment and community support service reduced, yet 
funding for roads is increased. what a joke. I believe more cycling infrastructure is paramount, we 
have great access to public transport by bicycle in Pakenham. and improving the safety will 
increase the accessibility for all people. especially with the huge uptake of E-bikes, bicycling 
infrastructure is a sure bet in the long run.

Hello when is council going to fix temple issue? we still want a auspicious temple near the east of 
Pakenham if possible, it is very exclusive we love all creation and are very grounded people. If 
noise a issue there can be arranged soundproof or further away from homes in future. Thanks
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Happy that Pakenham main street is on the list as we need better access for wheelchairs to get to 
the shops. it would be good to have more dollars to disability access as a lot of things here are old 
and people in wheelchairs can’t use things.

This is very asset heavy. What about the community development and support for vulnerable 
communities. The community need to experience what their community/environment has to offer, 
not just building it, activate it.

At a time of financial restraint 197,622 to improve access for people with disability is inadequate 
with aging infrastructure and will make it very difficult to support community expectations and state 
disability action plan and legislation to create a "barrier free Victoria" commitment. Spend less on 
new builds and more on renewals and upgrades.

The removal of the Toilet block at the northern end of the Alma Treloar reserve would be a terrible 
loss of an asset. As this toilet is located at the halfway mark of the Eastern Dandenong Ranges 
Walking Trail it gets a considerable amount of use by the general public, council staff in large 
vehicles and tradies that comes through Cockatoo and the Cardinia Shire. The toilet has been in 
place for 40+ years and could use a bit of a refurbish to make it more appealing. All the required 
infrastructure, plumbing is already there, it just needs an update to the interior and fittings. More 
people use this toilet than use the 'off leash' dog park in Cockatoo.

What’s happening with Priceline? Is that too being wasted on please put more towards our facilit ies 
needed.

Can you please fix the bin issues and lack if community care with litter in our streets I'd like to see 
theatres here in future also.

Hello just want to say. How can we get better places and retail spaces happening in Cardinia shire? 
Because this is what we need Main Street is a joke with nothing, but NDIS placed and agencies
Real estate Indian grocers Luxury stores Way too expensive. Old unused stores for Years
Restaurants everywhere that aren't any good Always Homeless people begging in Main Street And 
constant need for going elsewhere for the family such as Arena or Berwick...We Need Good Stores.

I would like to say more money towards new buildings and upgrades, however with the councils 
frivolous spending on “Art” at the pool, I deem this not good idea. So, maintaining roads it is. Less 
money towards Arts and Culture- only because this council does not have this community at heart, 
and more concerned with filling their own pockets.

New dog park with fountains for dogs and some older teen adult parks to hang out w fam and 
friends we need places to hangout in Cardinia.

3.2 Community services 

There were 22 comments on community services. Participants who commented on community services would like to 
see more investment in the following services:

multicultural services,

senior citizens,

childcare, maternal and family services,

young people, and 

homelessness.

Respondents also commonly highlighted the cost of  living and af fordability in their comments, calling on Council for 
support.
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Responses:

Multicultural and community support service areas should not be reduced in the budget . Cardinia 
council has so many residents from different cultures and it’s important to embrace this. One of the 
reasons why Cardinia council is admired is the dedication it has towards multiculturalism. Reducing 
this from the budget and prioritising sport facilities doesn't really make sense as the sustainability of 
a sports centre can end up relying on community sponsorship or government grants. Whereas 
creating cultural awareness is invaluable. Also, it seems we already have really good sports 
facilities in Cardinia. Honestly the issues at hand in this day and age are domestic violence, 
financial abuse, lack of access for disabled and disadvantaged groups. I strongly think the council 
needs to continue investing in these matters.

I strongly suggest you allocate a portion of your budget towards senior citizens. Funding to clubs 
that provide services to senior citizens, who have worked all their adult lives and paid taxes, some 
are really struggling to survive.  I understand you already subsidise these clubs but some 
government funding to these clubs has been deleted and therefore some venues have had to cut 
back on the services previously provided.  It would be greatly appreciated by many citizens if some 
consideration was given in this area.  Thanking you in advance.

Cheaper bills childcare, better decent shopping malls in down, different entertainment, easier 
therapy groups, places where people of all age can gather and enjoy time.

Community places for young people to go to is needed besides youth clubs which are too loud or 
overwhelming for people like me with anxiety. Would love more places like kemizo but different 
activities that are less noisy and more interactive and calming for the mind like arts or craft hobbies. 
Thank you!

More needs to be done to support the seniors of this council area. Homelessness needs to be 
addressed. Public housing needs to be built . we should not just say its state or commonwealth's 
job.

We need to have two new community facilities for the growing number of children and families 
moving into Bunyip/ Garfield/Nar Nar Goon area and also the Koo Wee Rup/Lang Lang area, so 
that these families can have access to supported  playgroups run by council staff and community 
organised playgroups. We need buildings that will promote community connections, where parents 
can meet other parents within the community and link into other services. We also need these 
buildings to be accessible for children, that have children's size tables and chairs for play and 
learning, that have an outdoor area for children and families to play outside together (i.e.; sand pit, 
tan bark area and shaded area) and that have a children's bathroom (children's size toilets) and 
family change room for parents to change infant nappies. Thanks.

Cost of living pressures and housing stress through cost of rent and increase in mortgage 
payments will see more people than ever before seeking support from community organisations.  
It's vital Council support them to be present and able to respond to the needs of community.  
Lowering spending on multicultural and community support service areas will reduce capacity for 
organisations to be in the Shire able to respond. 

I would love to see Council allocate more money/funding to provide our seniors in the c ommunity 
with more opportunities for activities to be made available for them to participate in. There is a lack 
of low cost/no cost activities and lack of transport for them to get to activities. Council needs to 
show our older family members and members of the community that they are valued and are 
providing more help and activities to get them more out in the community. We have an ageing 
population, and they need more support and services!

Greater investment in community services and programs for young people.

To whom it may concern. I disagree with the spend less on Community Support. The current 
housing crisis, cost of rents, groceries and bills more people need help to avoid homelessness. 
Council has a responsibility to support the community and services that provide these vita support 
to our community. Please prioritise this over more sports spending. Thank you.
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Hi, I was completely shocked to see Community support on spend less. There is visible homelessness in 
the community, and I work on the local op shop and I have never had so many conversations with people 
who need help for the first time. The cost of living is crushing people and we have no services to support 
us residents. Please prioritise community support this is front and centre for most people NOT more 
sports clubs that no one can afford to play in.

As a regular volunteer at the local op shop and sports club I would like to see less money spent on sports 
buildings and more on supporting the worse off in the community. We have so many people stressed 
about money their kids suffer marriages breakdown and they have no money to spend on the basics let 
alone support our local economy. If we don’t support the Community, we are forgetting this is the fabric 
that makes everything in community life enjoyable and it’s intertwined. Please do more to help people by 
helping the services that support them. In my township people have to travel so far to get support.

Lower spending in the multicultural and community support service areas - I do not agree, they need the 
most help.

In Victoria, the top three reasons for people seeking homelessness and housing assistance are financial 
difficulties, family and domestic violence, and the housing crisis. People with low income are less likely to 
find suitable and affordable housing, and more likely to experience homelessness. We have very limited 
services in Cardinia Shire to support people experiencing housing crisis, homelessness and financial 
difficulties. Cardinia needs to focus on the 'Housing First' approach and utilize budget for additional 
housing such as youth foyers, managed boarding houses, crisis and emergency accommodation. 
Cardinia Shire Council can continue to support residents experiencing housing stress and financial 
difficulties by taking a direct role in addressing these ongoing issues and prioritising more budget on 
services  that can assist such as halls for our volunteer groups to utilize to run weekly dinners to support 
individuals and families in food relief, offer areas in the community that have laundry and bathroom 
services for those sleeping rough, and additional financial and housing workers in the community that 
community can access free of charge.

Hi thanks for receiving feedback. I am concerned that the weight given to 173 peoples f eedback out of a 
population over 100,000 is relevant. It is disturbing that such huge budget decisions are being weighed
against this. I strongly disagree with Community services and multicultural support being on less money 
category. This is the glue that holds our community together. We don’t need more sports grounds we 
have and are getting more bit everyone plays sport.

Hi Councillors. Please read the room our community is facing a mortgage cliff and rising debt household 
stress and Community support is on the bottom of the pile. This is distressing as someone who has never 
needed a handout I have considered how I might balance my heating and food on the table. We also have 
no services in the local area that can help. I would hope that our local representatives can see the light 
and provide some visible and practical support for the residents in need. It’s only going to get worse.
Thanks for hopefully reading. Bill.

Can we build a community centre for free services and programs supporting community in the cost-of-
living crisis. There needs to be more services for locals.

Senior citizens is mentioned in the mayor and CEO introduction however there is no budget allocated to 
seniors in the report. There needs to be funding to support our growing population of seniors.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide feedback on the 22/23 budget. I question why Councillors and 
staff have accepted consultation where only 183 residents provided a response for the 118,000 residents 
who live in the Shire? Youth representation is just 6 respondents! As a key principle of community 
engagement as outlined in the Local Government Act. Participants in community engagement must be 
representative of the persons and groups affected by the matter that is the subject of the community 
engagement. Can Council provide evidence of how the engagement was tailored to properly engage 
young people, our multicultural community, persons living with a disability, Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islanders given the outcomes directly affect them? Should the engagement report include the 
demographics of the 183 such as place of birth, disability etc for greater accountability. If the decision to 
reduce funding to support multicultural communities is not made by those who are multicultural how can 
this be taken into account? In considering the results of the engagement how will Council ensure that 
more investment in community and sporting facilities will result in low carbon emissions, provide inclusive, 
flexible community spaces for all our community so that it is a win win for all? Many existing spaces 
including halls, senior’s facilities and sporting facilities (separate for tennis, football, soccer etc) sit empty
most of the time, how can a greater proportion of the community benefit from them? Designing flexible 
spaces for education, arts programs, to support multicultural community programs. How can we make 
them easily available to more communities to build community cohesion? While Climate Change was 
identified as one area for lower spending, I congratulate the Council for its commitment to the Biodiversity 
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Plan and the climate Change adaption strategy. Commitment to reducing emissions should be non-
negotiable for all Councils.

I’m struggling to understand the numbers you’ve provided. 10% of respondents wanted reduced spending 
in multicultural and community support and so you are going to reduce spending in that area? Based on 
horrible comments on Facebook - which you are not moderating - on the Welcome to Country event for 
National Reconciliation Week event it should be evident that we need more community and social support 
than less. Cardinia should be a safe space for all residents to feel welcome, supported and a sense of 
belonging. Further, the arts should be funded appropriately- they are important in bringing people together 
and helping create a sense of community. That you would even consider decreasing spending in 
environment and climate I truly don’t understand - and using figures of 12% feedback as justifying that 
choice seems a stretch. Further - your ‘close the loop’ summary doesn’t show the total number of 
respondents, compared with how many residents there are in Cardinia Shire. How confident are you that 
your survey actually represents the community. Decreasing spending on environment, climate, arts, 
culture and multicultural and community support does not represent what I value.

My Children; Their Future .. Their Employment Income, Educational Works Their Future is Way More 
Important Than The Unsettling Road Works or Sporting. That Is All I Have To Say.

Community supports are essential for so many people, please do not cut or reduce them. The MCHN 
program was the program that helped the most postnatally for me and many other new mums I know. 
While sport facilities are important many have private sponsoring potential that programs like libraries 
don’t get to have. Also, reducing the environmental and sustainability budget seems completely 
backwards… maybe integrate sustainability into any new building project the council is involved in .

3.3 Sports and recreation facilities 

There were 16 comments on sports and recreation facilities, 11 of  which supported further investment in facilities. Five
advocated for less funding in sports and recreation facilities and for Council to divert funding to other areas. 
Respondents advocating for more funding included representatives from the Bunyip Football Club, the Bunyip 
Recreational Reserve, and the Koo Wee Rup netball club, all advocating for facility upgrades. Respondents also 
mentioned they would like more investment in the swimming pool facilities.

Those advocating against funding for sports and recreation facilities expressed that there is enough money and 
facilities available, including f rom higher tiers of  government. Respondents would like funding redirected into roads 
and inf rastructure and community support such as multicultural and youth services.

Responses:

Hello. I am the Bunyip Football Club President. We currently field four sides in the west Gippsland football 
netball competition and our oval and facilities are simply not up to scratch.  With our junior Football club 
playing every alternate weekend it means we have up to 10 sides playing and training on an oval that has 
already turned into an un-usable mud pit. We desperately seek assistance and funding for an oval 
upgrade, not only to ensure our football club(s) can successfully compete and survive but also so the 
wider community can continue to use the oval and surrounding recreation reserve. After this weekends 
games we find ourselves in a situation where we are searching for an alternative oval to use this week 
and beyond, and the league have written advising that games may be cancelled if the oval is not fit for 
purpose.

This is feedback from the Kooweerup netball club President on behalf of the Kooweerup netball club and 
wider community and is in reference to increased investing in sporting facilities. Our community is fast 
growing with population numbers increasing, our club’s vision is inclusion in sport and the opportunity for 
the wider community to participate with a focus on developing large numbers from a junior level to a 
senior level- we currently field teams with approx. 90-100 players in total with our club participating in a 
league which hosts 11 other netball clubs on our courts. Recent audits have been undertaken within the 
Cardinia council, along with input and suggestions from Netball Victoria that KWR netball courts are in 
urgent need of resurfacing and light upgrades for safety and to adhere to netball Vic standard guidelines. 
The cracks is our courts are significant, with the court surface also lifting in certain areas and the current 
run off the lights are not to standard. These issues pose great safety risks to the public. With such a 
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growing area we believe it vital that we offer safe sporting facilities to allow us to encourage sport and 
healthy lifestyle amongst our community members. Our request is that consideration for sporting 
investment is directed towards the urgent need of the court resurfacing and light upgrades at KWRNC to 
allow a safe environment to ensure the club can provide an appropriate facility to encourage the 
participation in sport for community members. 

50 metre indoor swimming pool required due to current growth and projected growth of population in and 
around neighbouring areas. We require more lanes for Piranha Swim club, squad swimmers, as numbers 
are capped, kids are being turned away, which is really really sad. Also short lane makes k ids in our 
district not as competitive to swim against bayside suburbs and MSAC division and up to National level. 
Diving blocks are urgently required, along with chairs for kids, being marshalled to race. I know council is 
working hard in our district, we would love to see this need addressed urgently. Thank you for your 
consideration.

I am the President of the Bunyip Rec Reserve, and the Bunyip Rec Reserve oval is in desperate need of 
an upgrade. With 10 teams playing and training on this surface each week along with the continual wet 
weather the ground surface cannot put up with the amount of use.  I would like to see the Council assist 
with an upgrade of the current playing surface to bring it in line with other ovals in the Shire such as 
Garfield Nar Nar Goon, Pakenham, Officer and all other ovals within the Cardinia Shire that have football 
played on them. Not only is this oval used for football it also has the Bunyip Show annually, Bunyip 
Primary School activities and School Sports for both the State School and Columba Catholic School. This 
venue is used by everyone in the Community and is the centre of sports in the town and needs to be 
upgraded to 2023/24 standards. The GM Committee and Football Club have also received letters of 
concerns from the West Gippsland Football Netball League due to the state of the surface and the 
conditions for all players that attend games at the venue.

We need to preserve Land and Plantation for years to come. Houses, Local Farmers like us, Horses 
Animals and other Community’s need to Thrive here and they're falling apart. Disagree with the Sporting 
as recently the buildings were just replaced! There's Already so many plans ahead for our General 
Sporting which is great though besides the Potholes, there is no huge problem with our roads or bridges 
only further out bush if you wish to fix all of that which won't last long anyways though you can try. Then 
again, it is your call council, you will make the right choice.

NO MATE WHERE WAS OUR PROMISE C'MON WE NEED THOSE SHEDS AND SPORT ROOMS 
IMPROVED!! WE NEED TOIILETS WE NEED MEETING ROOMS FOR CLUBS WE NEED 
GATHERINGS WE NEED THE BUDGET WE NEED RESPECT WE DONT FEEL HONOURED NOR 
RESPECTED.

New shop Costco in officer sports for my two sons.

That’s a lot of concrete. add more to football and sports and upgrade places Thank you.

Bunyip football ground. We have the worst ground in Cardinia shire it floods and we also have  the worst 
change rooms and ground in the west Gippsland football league. There has been talks. We have had 
mould and asbestos removal done recently which is great. But we still have old lighting which chews up 
enormous amounts of power. Led would save money and help the environment. Please don’t forget our 
little town.

I contributed to the first consultation I can’t be the only one to have raised the need for more support for 
the community at this time particularly after COVID. I don't see this reflected, it saddens me and surprises 
me to see others don't want to support the community. I am concerned about the proportionately low 
spending across supports for the community. This includes community support, Children ’s services and 
Youth services which makes up less than 1.5% of expenditure. Most concerning is that out of that amount 
half (0.75%) is going specifically to Children and Young People. There are many other groups such as our 
seniors, people living with a disability and other groups that require additional support with the cost of 
living at the moment affecting family’s ability to live and pay bills, I think that just isn't enough. It was 
shocking to see how much was spent on swimming and recreation, this doesn't even include open space 
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parks/playgrounds from what I can tell.  I know my family do not access the swimming pools and sports 
reserves. I would like to see the breakdown of what money is spent on each element in that as almost $1 
in every $10 of council funds for that seems like too much. Move this to support the broader community 
not just a few, can we see usage numbers for all these sports and recreation activities? Also, I feel the 
Shire builds a lot that doesn't get used or used only by a small section of the community, again sports 
clubs seem to get a lot of new building that others can’t use, and we technically pay for, this would 
account for most of the community infrastructure cost I'm guessing as they are always happening. I don't 
see anything that benefits me, or my family being added to us to access.

I want more money spent on the library services! Pakenham and Emerald is not enough. You don’t hold 
enough children’s programs. And they only benefit non-working parents. We have dozens of sports fields 
that are brand new. But two libraries the whole council - it’s poor. In this cost-of-living crisis libraries are 
invaluable resource."

I see you are advocating for an airport but there is no mention of advocating/lobbying for aquatic facilities 
for the hills.  Ball sports are well catered for here, but we have no aquatic facilities. From babies to the 
elderly, our health and wellbeing would improve with access to aquatic facilities. With poor/no public 
transport to centres like Pakenham, we cannot use those facilities.

Given the measured low socio-economic status of Pakenham there is a need to increase funding for multi-
cultural and community support, and given the outlook for the Shire as the effects of global warming take 
hold there is a need to increase funding for adaptation to climate change and protecting the environment 
and for repairs to and maintenance of the Shire's infrastructure. The lack of open space in the built up 
areas of the Shire is an indicator of the political power of property developers which the Council can do 
nothing about but it can seek to maintain and protect what open space there is by considering carefully 
proposals to add infrastructure to parks and to resist the destruction of the Shire's tree cover. In a survey 
like this sporting clubs will always have a louder voice than people wishing to enjoy passive recreation like 
walking. The Covid experience showed just how important passive recreation is. So I would advocate for 
less funding to sports and more funding to passive recreation.

Sports then community climate, arts.

Upgrade Cardinia Life!!!  This space is sadly inadequate for the growing population of the area. Pool -
Upgrade the ridiculously inadequate wet change rooms, wet (swim school) staff change/facilities, 50m 
pool, teaching pool, toddler splash play, spa, sauna. Cafe - bigger, better seating. Dry change rooms -
upgrade desperately needed. Security upgrade for all areas.

Please stop spending money on sports clubs that only a small percentage of the community can access. 
Every year we see more millions go to buildings that are empty except on weekends. What a waste. 
Young people are crying out for activities and unless you do sport there is very little to offer. Wont this 
reduce crime and disengagement of young people if we invest in Community support or our migrant 
community - crazy that this was on the bottom of the list - please put this on the top of the list. Councillors 
need to listen to the people that pay you.

3.4 Roads 

There were 14 comments on roads. Most (nine) comments supported Council allocating funding to upgrades and 
maintenance. In particular, respondents would like to see roads sealed and potholes f ixed. Five respondents
advocated for less funding to be allocated to roads, and more to go towards community services and inf rastructure .

Responses

Thewlis Rd needs a complete road seal. It is dangerous driving up and down the hill competing with 
cyclists, horses and on coming cars.
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Really glad to hear we are having the potholes fixed though it would be great to see more arts and 
creative fields funded along with some charities in trouble.

Don't increase art/culture. Fix the roads, potholes, round about removal on roads now seeing increased 
traffic for traffic lights. Better planning of estates, as recently seen flooding from 'man made lakes' flooded 
new homes.

Fix ups and Roads needed in our area as well as community and TAFE, though urban areas will do better 
with small types of townhouses, shopping stores and bigger facilities. Looking forward.

You keep investing in roads over and over enough is enough I don't want anymore darn footpaths when 
they were completely fine. I want lower tax maybe easier groceries, new food markets and perhaps some 
better quality stuff over quantity.

Not a happy resident! Did not ask for more roads or pathways I got mine replaced FOUR TIMES The past 
2 years and for what? Shame I was looking forward to this now not so much....

I think it is always important to allocated funds to roads, footpaths and drains and equally as important to 
update sporting facilities as a lot of communities within the Cardinia shire provide a safe, healthy 
environment and connect people that play a vital part in social connection and mental health often 
sporting grounds are a central hub of small towns.

For the amount charged in rates we get nothing for it.  Only those who have young children or involved in 
sport or clubs get any benefit from council spending.  Our local community centre has been  unfriendly to 
working people since it opened 20yrs ago, with very little in way of interesting courses at night. I'd call it a 
very uninclusive centre. We need potholes in roads filled before I loose another tyre, 3 replacements 
costing $900.  Yet it happens over and over again do it properly the first time. Maintenance of footpaths 
separate lanes for bikes. Arts should be ensured that exhibitions etc are at least covering their own costs 
rather than using rate payers money.  I go to the city to visit the art centre and theatres. Maybe you could 
utilise their collections for future exhibitions in outer areas, to give those who are unable to travel to city or 
don't want to.

Please make more bridges then roads we need more bridges with wider roads rather then roads over 
done over and over for no reason. Thanks.

I voted for roads but Only for the bad potholes during the wet season. Though I'd rather see that 22% 
elsewhere long term.

Cut The Road Maintenance Please.

Bring back the seal the roads program.

There's enough roadworks here as it is give other shires more funds for that then here we need more 
entertaining places and study such as TAFE and Apprenticeships .

Please allocate more to, roads maintenance and construction; Environment and climate change; new 
upgraded facilities. Less on arts and culture; multicultural support.

3.5 Cost of living, fees, rates and charges 

There were eight comments on the cost of  living, fees, rates and charges. Nine comments referred to the cost of  living 
and requested Council doesn't raise fees, rates and charges.

Responses
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Less sports and kids stuff. Stop spending money on them and give normal people a break on rates. 
OR charge them a premium for using them.

If possible a lot of us younger people prefer to buy first homes cheaper but much more inviting 
looking houses you know? For example: Country or craftsmen style for a change in Cardinia’s town 
also in that new Ridgelea place I keep hearing of. Town houses make me and my older sister very 
uncomfortable only reason she lives in Narre is due to that, okay thanks for listening.

Agree, generally, with the draft budget and the changes except the increase arts and culture 
spending in the current tough cost of living crisis. Can more be spent on housing or employment 
opportunities?

Hi I would like the 2023 Budget to be towards Rates, Lower power bills, and Gardening with new 
beautiful parks.

Council facility charges are too high for community groups to afford

With the gas price movement shouldn't we just hardly fund that at all? Because honestly, in about 5 
years time, gas will literally be no more but only obsolete from Australia.

No increases to rates please. Families are already at their limits. Increase to rates may force people 
to chose between necessities.

When do we want it now better taxes wonderful new ovals thanks government for budget and jobseeker I
get my son help and Don is so happy life made better

3.6 Sentiment 

Seven comments shared general sentiment on the draf t budget. One respondent supported Council's budget 
allocation for 2023–24, and another participant commented that they are looking forward to the Cardinia Youth Centre 
being built.

Four comments were generally opposed to the budget allocation.

Responses:

Just don’t do it it's not any good thanks.

That is definitely a troll messing with our budget NO To ALL of that.

What? No this is an awful budget for the community when we need a budget most.. This is Not 
what we asked for. Roads and Pathways are Overly replaced now, we need more focus on our 
Environment as well as the Community buildings and Entertainments because Famil ies always 
have to resort to Fountain gate, there is sadly hardly anything special in Pakenham Officer or 
Cockatoo. Very sad budget.

What a waste of money very unhappy.

I agree with the above survey answers. The council should focus on the fundamentals and let 
people choose how to spend their money if they want to join artistic/ cultural etc pursuits. It is not 
the role of the council to get involved in these things. The council should provide basic 
infrastructure and collect rubbish and that is all. Let people keep more of the money they earn and 
they can choose to spend it on what they want.

Looking forward to the new Cardinia Youth Centre for our children.
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Good hopefully everyone gets a turn keep up the good works.

3.7 Environment and green spaces 

Three respondents commented on the environment and green spaces. Two comments sought more investment in the 
environment and climate change area, and one wanted more investment into parks and green spaces.

Responses:

Our environment is most important or else there may be no more agriculture species or resources. 
Please preserve the soil and land of my ancestors it is so important for generations to come this is 
a big warning and natural disturbances with the earth shall be more common we need to slow this 
for our children all of the ways of life, the scarcity and this planet. Thank you.

I'm excited about the new park you plan to do in Officer so incredibly much. My family and so many 
other families Will be so happy there's finally somewhere we can go nearby our town to spend our 
happy moments with the kids. Thank you.

Bit small on the environment and climate.

3.8 Planning 
There were two comments concerning planning. One respondent expressed dissatisfaction with the planning 
department and is included in section 3.10. The other respondent requested an update on the Off icer District Park 
Masterplan and the Integrated Child and Family Centre Community Facility on Starling Road in Off icer.

Responses

Hello, Just couldn't understand what's happening with Officer District Park Masterplan implementation? 
Do we have tentative completion date for stage 1? No funds allocated for stage 2? Are you able to bring 
forward to construction of Integrated Child and Family Centre Community Facility - Starling Rd - Officer 
PSP? Proposed 2027 is too way long according to new estates developing there. Is the council really 
serious about Officer town centre? Thanks

3.9 Other
There were f ive comments that did not align with the other categories. These included:

support for the business community through education,

request for artwork studios,

process (requesting that Council follows the majority of  opinions), and

lack of  transparency with Council's asset management plan.

Responses

Support of the business community by facilitating business owner education rather than business 
functional education

It's okay but put more to artwork studios and nicer places for people to visit
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I firmly believe we need more animal Management / Local laws officers. These keep the Amenity of the 
areas looking better and can be self funding through registration door knocks. Less money should be 
spent on climate change as this is not a inherent requirement of the Local Government Act. Less money 
should be spent on Multicultural activities as this is not in the local government act either. Can we please 
try to fund Councils core activities first please.

Hope you look at numbers and go with the majority not the minority as most councils and governments do

Council plans to commit over $318 million in capital infrastructure (excluding operating initiatives) over the 
next four years" - as a ratepayer, that figure could be anything. There is not data or evidence relating to 
your Asset Management Plan regarding renewals/upgrades or new facilities. It basically means 
communities are none the wiser and it is difficult to comment objectively and constructively. Any budget 
planning should provide details regarding your  Asset Management Plan as required by legislation, if you 
want constructive analysis and feedback. Why don't you have an Asset Management Plan which is 
publicly available and can be scrutinized?

3.10 Ineligible 
Three responses were ineligible, not relevant or inappropriate and have been excluded f rom the analysis.

Responses

Yeah I TOTALLY Want better drains for my children rather then better schools, heaps of ovals so they can 
eat their greens healthier and get big strong liddle fiddle bones so they can fight off the bullies, ooh maybe 
they can run across bridges and pretend they're Indiana jones while they're at it! Great budget, nice.

This budget is not quite to be treasured swap the less with more and more with less with community still 
remaining more, then it is of good value.

My mum is sad you made her very sad today.

Best feedback I can give is to sack your entire planning department, they do absolute Jack anyway so no 
real loss. Maybe put in some people who actually want to do.
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4 Conclusion and next steps
The feedback provided by survey respondents was diverse and varied, including various levels of  support and the 
topics. Respondents presented a variety of  opinions on dif ferent areas of  Council funding. 

Council will consider the community feedback along with other relevant factors that impact the 2023-24 Budget at the 
workshop on 5 June 2023. The 2023–24 Budget will be considered for adoption at the scheduled Council meeting on 
26 June 2023, as shown in Figure 4 below.

Figure 4: Timeline for the 2023–24 Cardinia Shire Council Budget

SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 26 JUNE 2023 ATTACHMENT 4.1.1.3

Special Council Meeting 26 June 2023 115



SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 26 JUNE 2023 ATTACHMENT 4.1.1.3

Special Council Meeting 26 June 2023 116


